
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
 
 

Date: Wednesday, 11 March 2020 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Council Antechamber, Level 2, Town Hall Extension 

 
Everyone is welcome to attend this Executive meeting. 

 

Access to the Council Antechamber 
 

Public access to the Antechamber is via the Council Chamber on Level 2 of the Town Hall 
Extension, using the lift or stairs in the lobby of the Mount Street entrance to the 
Extension. That lobby can also be reached from the St. Peter’s Square entrance and from 
Library Walk. There is no public access from the Lloyd Street entrances of the 
Extension. 
 

Filming and broadcast of the meeting 
 

Meetings of the Executive are ‘webcast’. These meetings are filmed and broadcast live on 
the Internet. If you attend this meeting you should be aware that you might be filmed and 
included in that transmission. 

 
 
 

Membership of the Executive 

Councillors  
Leese (Chair), Akbar, Bridges, Craig, N Murphy, S Murphy, Ollerhead, Rahman, Stogia 
and Richards 
 

Membership of the Consultative Panel 

Councillors  
Karney, Leech, M Sharif Mahamed, Sheikh, Midgley, Ilyas, Taylor and S Judge  
 
The Consultative Panel has a standing invitation to attend meetings of the Executive.  The 
Members of the Panel may speak at these meetings but cannot vote on the decision taken 
at the meetings. 

Public Document Pack



Executive 

 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Appeals 

To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow 
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items 
in the confidential part of the agenda. 
 

 
 

2.   Interests 
To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party 
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at 
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare 
that at the start of the item under consideration.  If Members also 
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must 
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item. 
 

 
 

3.   Minutes 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held 
on 12 February 2020. The minutes are to follow. 
 

 
 

4.   Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer is 
attached. 
 

All Wards 
5 - 78 

5.   Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2020-
25 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer is 
attached. 
 

All Wards 
79 - 134 

6.   Planning and Climate Change 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) is 
attached.  
 

All Wards 
135 - 144 

7.   Re-designation of Northenden Neighbourhood Forum 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) is 
attached. 
 

Northenden 
145 - 158 

8.   Wythenshawe Hospital Draft Strategic Regeneration 
Framework - To follow 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Neighbourhoods) 
is to follow. 
 

 
 

9.   Manchester Fort Draft Strategic Regeneration Framework - 
To follow 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Neighbourhoods) 
is to follow. 
 
 

 
 



Executive 

 

 

10.   The Strategy to further improve Children Social Care 
Services 
The report of the Strategic Director of Children and Education 
Services Directorate is attached. 
 

All Wards 
159 - 174 

11.   Capital Programme Update 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and the City Treasurer 
is attached. 
 

All Wards 
175 - 184 

12.   Our Town Hall Project - Decision on the Notice to Proceed 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and the City Treasurer 
is attached. 
 

Deansgate 
185 - 212 

13.   Establishment of new trading company as a vehicle for 
claiming exhibition tax relief at Manchester Art Gallery - To 
follow 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
Chief Executive and City Solicitor is to follow. 
 

All Wards 
 

14.   Exclusion of the Public 
The officers consider that the following item or items contains 
exempt information as provided for in the Local Government 
Access to Information Act and that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. The Executive is recommended to 
agree the necessary resolutions excluding the public from the 
meeting during consideration of these items. At the time this 
agenda is published no representations have been made that this 
part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
 

 
 

15.   Proposed Disposal of 16 - 18 Bennett Road, Crumpsall  
(Public Excluded) 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) is 
attached.  
 

Crumpsall 
213 - 220 



Executive 

 

 

 
Information about the Executive  

The Executive is made up of ten Councillors: the Leader and two Deputy Leaders of the 
Council and seven Executive Members with responsibility for: Children Services; Finance 
& Human Resources; Adult Services; Schools, Culture & Leisure; Neighbourhoods; 
Housing & Regeneration; and Environment, Planning & Transport. The Leader of the 
Council chairs the meetings of the Executive 
 
The Executive has full authority for implementing the Council’s Budgetary and Policy 
Framework, and this means that most of its decisions do not need approval by Council, 
although they may still be subject to detailed review through the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny procedures. 
 
It is the Council’s policy to consult people as fully as possible before making decisions that 
affect them. Members of the public do not have a right to speak at meetings but may do so 
if invited by the Chair. 
 
The Council is concerned to ensure that its meetings are as open as possible and 
confidential business is kept to a strict minimum. When confidential items are involved 
these are considered at the end of the meeting at which point members of the public and 
the press are asked to leave. 
 
Joanne Roney OBE 
Chief Executive 
Level 3, Town Hall Extension, 
Albert Square, 
Manchester, M60 2LA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further Information 

For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee Officer:  
 Donald Connolly 
 Tel: 0161 2343034 
 Email: d.connolly@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Tuesday, 3 March 2020 by the Governance and Scrutiny 
Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 3, Town Hall Extension (Lloyd Street 
Elevation), Manchester M60 2LA
 



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny Committee – 4 

March 2020 
 Executive - 11 March 2020 
 
Subject: Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25  
 
Report of:  Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
 

 
Summary 
 
In November 2018, the Council’s Executive agreed to establish a science-based 
carbon reduction target for Manchester, which required the city as a whole to adopt a 
carbon budget of 15 million tonnes of CO2 between 2018 and 2100.  This would 
require a year-on-year reduction of at least 13%, emissions to be halved within five 
years, and lead to the city becoming zero carbon by 2038 at the latest.  
In March 2019 the Council’s Executive endorsed the Manchester Zero Carbon 
Framework 2020-38, as the city’s outline approach to meeting its targets, as 
proposed by the Manchester Climate Change Partnership. 
 
In February 2020 the Climate Change Partnership published a final version of the 
Framework, the Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25. The Partnership 
has invited the Council to consider three proposals in relation to the document, as set 
out in the recommendations section of this report. 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that the Neighbourhoods and Environment Committee:  

 
1. Note and comment on the content of the Manchester Climate Change 

Framework 2020-25. 
 
It is recommended that Executive: 
 
1. Formally adopt the Manchester Climate Change Framework’s aim, vision, 

objectives and targets as the definition of what Manchester needs to achieve 
in order to ‘play its full part in limiting the impacts of climate change’; 

 
2. On behalf of the city, endorse the Manchester Climate Change Framework as 

Manchester’s high-level strategy for achieving the aim, vision, objectives and 
targets; and 

 
3. Deliver the Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan for the 

period 2020-25 in order to contribute towards the successful implementation of 
the citywide Framework. 

 

 

Page 5

Item 4



Wards Affected: All  
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this 
report on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

Developing a citywide climate change framework is fundamental to ensuring that 
everyone in the city plays their full part in addressing climate change. The Council is 
one of the key stakeholders who have committed to producing an action plan by March 
2020 which sets out the Council’s role in tackling our own emissions and influencing 
and supporting a reduction across the whole city. Delivering the 5 year plan will require 
a significant level of new revenue and capital investment to build on the existing 
resources which are already committed to improving the city’s environment. 

 

Manchester Strategy 
outcomes 

Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable 
city: supporting a diverse 
and distinctive economy that 
creates jobs and 
opportunities 

The transition to a zero carbon city will help the city’s 
economy become more sustainable and will generate 
jobs within the low carbon energy and goods sector. This 
will support the implementation of the Our Manchester 
Industrial Strategy. 

A highly skilled city: world 
class and home grown talent 
sustaining the city’s 
economic success 

Manchester is one a small number of UK cities that have 
agreed a science based target and is leading the way in 
transitioning to a zero carbon city. It is envisaged that 
this may give the city opportunities in the green 
technology and services sector. 

A progressive and equitable 
city: making a positive 
contribution by unlocking the 
potential of our communities 

Transitioning to a zero carbon city can help to tackle fuel 
poverty by reducing energy bills. Health outcomes will 
also be improved through the promotion of more 
sustainable modes of transport and improved air quality. 

A liveable and low carbon 
city: a destination of choice 
to live, visit, work 

Becoming a zero carbon city can help to make the city a 
more attractive place for people to live, work, visit and 
study. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and 
connectivity to drive growth 

A zero carbon transport system would create a world 
class business environment to drive sustainable 
economic growth. 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name: Jonny Sadler 
Position: Programme Director, Manchester Climate Change Agency 
Telephone: 07572 419150 
E-mail: jonny.sadler@manchesterclimate.com  
 
Name: David Houliston  
Position: Strategic Lead Policy and Partnerships  

Page 6

Item 4

mailto:jonny.sadler@manchesterclimate.com


Telephone: 0161 234 1541 
Email: d.houliston@manchester.gov.uk  
 
Name: Richard Elliott 
Position: Head of Planning and Critical Infrastructure 
Telephone: 0161 219 6494 
Email: r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report.  Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting.  If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
Playing Our Full Part: How Manchester’s Residents and Businesses can benefit from 
Ambitious Action on Climate Change 2018 
Manchester Climate Change Strategy 2017-50 
Manchester Climate Change Strategy Implementation Plan 2017-22 
Manchester: A Certain Future Annual Report 2018 
Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2016-20 
Manchester Zero Carbon 2038, Manchester City Council’s Commitment, March 2019  
 
 

Page 7

Item 4

mailto:d.houliston@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk


1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides the Committee and Executive with the final version of the 

Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25 which has been developed 
by the Manchester Climate Change Agency on behalf of the Manchester 
Climate Change Partnership. 

 
1.2 The document has been informed by the additional analysis undertaken by the 

Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. The draft findings of this work 
were presented and discussed at 23 January Climate Change Sub Group, 5 
February 2020 Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny Committee and 12 
February 2020 Executive. The final version of the Tyndall Centre research has 
been published on the Manchester Climate Change website at the following 
address: http://www.manchesterclimate.com/targets-2020 

 
The reports are Appendix 1 of the Manchester Climate Change Framework 
2020-25. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 In November 2018, following analysis by the Tyndall Centre for Climate 

Change Research, the Council adopted a science-based carbon budget of 15 
million tonnes of CO2 between 2018 and 2100, and committed the city to 
becoming zero carbon by 2038 at the latest. 

 
2.2 In March 2019, the Council endorsed the draft Manchester Zero Carbon 

Framework as the city’s overarching approach to meeting science-based 
targets on tackling climate change, as part of the wider Our Manchester 
Strategy.  This report included draft action plans from a range of organisations 
who are members of the Manchester Climate Change Partnership and are 
collectively responsible for approximately 20% of the city’s emissions. 

   
2.3 In July 2019, Manchester City Council declared a climate emergency.  This 

declaration recognised the need for the Council, and the city as a whole, to do 
more to reduce its carbon emissions and mitigate the negative impacts of 
climate change.  It also demonstrated the Council’s commitment to be at the 
forefront of the global response to climate change and to lead by example. 

 
3.0  Tyndall Centre Research 
 
3.1 The carbon budget for the city outlined in the Framework is based on 

recommendations from the Tyndall Centre for Climate Research at the 
University of Manchester. In order to ensure that Manchester plays its full part 
in helping to meet the objectives set out in the Paris Agreement the city has 
committed to limiting its direct CO2 emissions within a specific carbon budget.  

 
 3.2 There are three sources of CO2 emissions that Manchester is responsible for 

and have influence over. These are:  
 

Page 8

Item 4



● Direct emissions from homes, workplaces and ground transport within 
the city; 

● Aviation emissions from flights taken by Manchester residents and 
organizations, from Manchester to other UK airports; and  

● Indirect / consumption based emissions from things that we buy and 
dispose of for example food, clothes and electrical equipment.  
 

3.3 The budget for Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions from 2018 to 2100 is 15 
million tonnes CO2. At our current rate of carbon consumption (2.1 million 
tonnes per year in 2017) we will run out of budget in 2025. In order to remain 
within our budget we will need to reduce our direct emissions by at least 50% 
between 2020 and 2025. In line with this budget Manchester will need to emit:  

 
● A maximum of 6.9 million tonnes during 2018 to 2022; and 
● A maximum of 3.6 million tonnes between 2023 and 2027.  

 
4.0  Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25 and Partnership Action 

Plans  
 

4.1 The Manchester Climate Change Framework focuses on the period 2020-
2025 but is set within the context of a limited carbon budget for 2018-2100.  

 
4.2 During the production of the framework, the Manchester Climate Change 

Partnership and Agency have chosen to alter their approach from one single 
action and implementation plan to produce a suite of bespoke commitments 
and plans for every household, community, school and organisation. They 
believe that this is the most effective way to build a citywide movement of 
climate action. As such, the Framework is accompanied by a summary of the 
action plans from members of the Partnership. 

 
4.3  The Partnership is the city’s main mechanism for engaging and inspiring 

organisations and residents to act. The Partnership currently has 60 members, 
across 10 sectors, with responsibility for over 20% of Manchester’s direct CO2 
emissions. Its members also have ‘reach’ into the remaining 80% through their 
staff, students, customers, tenants, football fans, theatre-goers, worshippers, 
and others. By working with their supply chain members they are also starting 
to reduce the city’s consumption-based CO2 emissions. Partnership members 
have developed their own bespoke action plans, setting out how they will 
contribute towards the successful delivery of the Framework. A summary of 
the Partnership members’ action plans is provided as Appendix 2 to the 
Framework. 

 
4.4  The Framework also takes on board comments from CDP1 and their 

recommendation to include a new adaptation and resilience objective in order 
for the city to be in line with international best practice 

 

                                            
1 CDP work with investors, companies and cities to help them take action to build a truly sustainable economy by 
measuring and understanding their environmental impact; www.cdp.net 

 

Page 9

Item 4

http://www.cdp.net/
http://www.cdp.net/


4.5  The Framework is intended to provide the overarching structure for 
organisations to ‘plug-in’ their own bespoke plans, guided by the 15 actions 
listed below:  

 
1. Commit to zero carbon and taking urgent action now 
2. Measure and report your CO2 

3. Climate change education and Carbon Literacy 
4. Existing buildings 
5. New developments and construction    
6. Renewable energy 
7. Transport 
8. Flying 
9. Reduce, reuse and recycle our stuff  
10. Food 
11. Green space and gardens  
12. Water conservation 
13. Where you put your money 
14. Spread the word 
15. Ask politicians and decision-makers for help  

 
4.6 The delivery of organisations’ plans is to be supported and enabled by 

incentives, standards and infrastructure provided by the Manchester Climate 
Change Agency, Manchester City Council, Manchester’s strategic partners, 
the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, UK Government and their 
agencies.  

 
4.7 To realise the zero carbon vision for the city the Framework commits to 

achieve four headline objectives. These are:  
 

● Staying within the carbon budget for the city; 
● Climate adaptation and resilience; 
● Health and wellbeing; and  
● Inclusive, zero carbon and climate resilient economy. 

 
4.8  In addition to the four headline objectives, the Framework at sets out seven 

key areas where urgent action is required. These are:  
 

1. Buildings (new and existing); 
2. Renewable energy; 
3. Transport and flying  
4. Food 
5. The things we buy and throw away; 
6. Green infrastructure and nature-based solution; and  
7. Supporting and enabling residents and organisations to act.  

   
5.0 Recommendations 
 
5.1 The recommendations are summarised at the beginning of this report. 
 

Page 10

Item 4



1

MANCHESTER 
CLIMATE CHANGE 
FRAMEWORK  
2020-25

Our strategy towards making Manchester a 

thriving, zero carbon, climate resilient city.

Version 1.0
February 2020

Page 11

Item 4Appendix 1,



2 Page 12

Item 4Appendix 1,



3

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. INTRODUCTION FROM THE MANCHESTER CLIMATE 
CHANGE PARTNERSHIP

2. APPROACH TO DEVELOPING THIS FRAMEWORK

3. OUR AIM

4. OUR VISION FOR 2025

5. OUR OBJECTIVES AND TARGETS:

5.1 Staying within our carbon budgets 
5.2 Climate adaptation and resilience
5.3 Health and wellbeing
5.4 Inclusive, zero carbon and climate resilient economy

6. URGENT ACTIONS TO MEET OUR OBJECTIVES:

6.1  Headline areas for urgent action 
6.2  Urgent actions for every resident, school and 

organisation
6.3  Supporting and enabling: urgent actions for 

Manchester City Council, Manchester’s Strategic 
Partners, Greater Manchester Combined Authority, UK 
Government and their agencies

7. GOVERNANCE AND OUR PARTNERSHIP-BASED APPROACH

8. MEASURING AND REPORTING PROGRESS 

9. KEEPING OUR TARGETS AND FRAMEWORK UP TO DATE 

10. WORKING WITH OTHER CITIES

11. FURTHER INFORMATION AND GET INVOLVED

12. THANK YOU

APPENDICES:

1. Review of Manchester’s Climate Change Objectives and 
Targets by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research
a) Direct CO2 emissions
b) Aviation CO2 emissions
c) Indirect / consumption-based CO2 emissions
d) Target setting for Manchester organisations 

2. Manchester Climate Change Partnership Members’ Action 
Plans: summary.

Page 13

Item 4Appendix 1,



4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Our aim: 

“Manchester will play 
its full part in limiting 
the impacts of climate 
change and create a 
healthy, green, socially 
just city where everyone 
can thrive.”

Page 14

Item 4Appendix 1,



5

To help us get there, we have four objectives we need to 
meet by 2025.

Objective 1 – Staying within our carbon budgets

This involves taking action in three areas:
• Direct CO2 emissions: staying within our 15 million 

tonne carbon budget for 2018-2100, including 
reducing the CO2 emitted from our homes, workplaces 
and ground transport by at least 50% during 2020-25

• Aviation CO2 emissions: working with UK Government 
to ensure that all flights from Manchester Airport are 
in line with the Paris Agreement and a limited carbon 
budget for UK aviation emissions

• Indirect CO2 emissions: understanding and taking 
action on the things that we consume and which 
generate greenhouse gases through their production, 
transportation and disposal.

Objective 2 – Climate adaptation and resilience

Adapting the city’s buildings, infrastructure and natural 
environment to the changing climate and increasing the 
climate resilience of our residents and organisations.

Objective 3 – Health and wellbeing

Improving the health and wellbeing of everyone in 
Manchester through actions that also contribute to our 
objectives for CO2 reduction and adaption and resilience, 
with particular focus on those most in need.

Objective 4 – Inclusive, zero carbon and climate 
resilient economy

Ensuring that Manchester establishes an inclusive, zero 
carbon and climate resilient economy where everyone can 
benefit from playing an active role in decarbonising and 
adapting the city to the changing climate.

Six priority areas for action

To meet our objectives we need everyone in the city to 
take action on our six priority areas:

1. Buildings (existing and new)
2. Renewable energy
3. Transport and flying
4. Food
5. The things we buy and throw away
6. Green infrastructure and nature-based solutions

To enable this to happen we have established a devolved, 
partnership-based approach to climate action. It is built on 
two key components:

• Engaging and empowering Manchester residents and 
organisations to take action, using the Manchester 
Climate Change Partnership and its networks as our 
key engagement mechanism, and

• Joint working between Manchester City Council, 
Manchester’s strategic partners, Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority, UK Government, and their 
agencies to provide the support, incentives, standards 
and infrastructure Manchester’s residents and 
organisations need

Manchester Climate Change Partnership is made up of 
60 members, across ten sectors, with responsibility for 
20% of Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions. Its members 
also have reach into the remaining 80% through their staff, 
students, customers, tenants, football fans, theatre-goers, 
worshippers, and others. 

Manchester City Council is a member of the Partnership. 
This enables the Council to understand the areas where 
it can use its existing powers and funding to provide the 
support, incentives, standards and infrastructure that are 
needed to enable action. Where these powers or funding 
don’t exist at the local level, the City Council will work 
with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority and 
Government to secure them, extending our partnership-
based approach beyond the city’s boundaries.

To ensure we are on-track to meet our objectives we will 
establish independent groups to monitor progress and will 
publish our performance in our annual report. 

This Framework is our high-level strategy for meeting our 
commitment to ‘play our full part’ on climate change. It 
will need to develop over the next five years, in line with 
changes in policy, climate science, our rate of progress 
and other factors. We will do this in collaboration with 
other cities, to ensure that we can replicate tried-and-
tested solutions here, at the same time as sharing our 
experience from working to become one of the first zero 
carbon, climate resilient cities in the world.

Page 15

Item 4Appendix 1,



6

1. INTRODUCTION FROM THE MANCHESTER 
CLIMATE CHANGE PARTNERSHIP

A green city with walkable neighbourhoods, 

clean air, good jobs in successful businesses, 

warm homes and affordable energy, safe cycling 

routes and a public transport system that works 

for everyone. This is the city we are working to 

create. As a Partnership, we’ve been part of this 

work since 2018. As a city we’ve been doing it 

for well over 10 years. Working together to create 

the green and healthy city that we all want.

Our work is partly about ensuring Manchester plays its full 
part in limiting the impacts of climate change, ensuring 
that we help to keep global heating to well below 2oC. But 
it’s also about ensuring our communities can thrive, our 
businesses can prosper, and we continue to draw people 
and businesses to the city to share in our success.

Since 2018 the members of the Manchester Climate Change 
Partnership have been forging ahead to make this vision a 
reality. Our work builds on the progress the city has been 
making since the launch of Manchester’s first ever climate 
change strategy, in 2009. At the time Manchester committed 
to contributing towards the UK Climate Change Act, by 
reducing our CO2 emissions by 41% by 2020. We’re on track 
to achieve that goal. However, the goalposts have shifted 
significantly over the last decade.

We know that a traditional approach to growth and 
development won’t create the city – or the world – we all 
want. We know that success in the 21st century won’t be 
defined by our traditional economic metrics alone. We know 
that we need to urgently wean ourselves off our reliance 
on fossil fuels and our unsustainable consumption habits. 
We need to help tackle the global climate and ecological 
emergency.

As we look forward to this new decade we know that we 
need to part of something bigger, more exciting and more 
challenging than anything we’ve achieved globally for 
many years, if ever. We need to be part of a journey to an 
environmentally, socially and economically sustainable 
future. A future that is defined by the United Nations and 
their 17 Sustainable Development Goals. 

So, what is Manchester’s role on this journey? What role for 
the city where carbon-fuelled growth and development was 
born? A city that still contributes 2.1 million tonnes of CO2 to 
the global mix every year, 5,700 tonnes every day, 4 tonnes 
since you started reading this.

In some ways we are about to take on a radically different 
role to our current one. However, in many ways it is also 
a role we have been playing for many decades – a role 
focused on continually improving the city for the benefit of 
our residents and businesses, built on solutions that we will 
share with cities around the world.

As with our past transformations, our zero carbon journey 
will be powered by the passion and ingenuity of Manchester 
people and organisations. It will lead us to an exciting future 
where our politicians, universities, businesses, communities 
and citizens create solutions that work for us here and which 
can be adopted by cities across the UK and around the 
globe. It’s a future where Manchester and our commitment 
to create a better world means that we will break the mould 
and set the standard for other cities to follow. 

Page 16

Item 4Appendix 1,



7

How do we know that? We know that because it’s 
already happening.

Manchester was one of the first cities in the world to set 
climate change targets in line with the Paris Agreement, 
in November 2018. We are now working to influence the 
biggest climate change network of cities in the world, the 
Covenant of Mayors, to roll out this approach globally, 
through the Manchester-led Zero Carbon Cities project.

Our universities are undertaking pioneering research to 
create batteries from Graphene, to enable renewable energy 
to be stored and used on demand.

We are delivering the GrowGreen and IGNITION projects 
to find new ways to increase urban green infrastructure by 
10% by 2038, innovation projects funded by the EU so that 
solutions we find here can be shared across Europe. 

We are moving in the right direction. But not yet fast enough 
to meet the commitments we’ve set. Getting on track will 
require us to begin with the solutions we already know work: 
helping our residents, schools and organisations to install 
solar panels, to travel sustainably, to buy less and buy better, 
to improve diets, all at the same time as saving money over 
the long run, improving health and wellbeing, and creating 
good jobs.

However, to get on track we also need to bring about 
fundamental changes in the way that our economy and 
society work. Working as part of a global economic system 
means that we are currently pulling in two directions, one 
towards emitting less carbon, the other towards emitting 
more. Manchester is not alone, we are, after-all, playing 
by the same economic, consumption-based rules that, in 
all cities, are driving climate change. However, we need to 
have the bravery to be honest about this and to work with 
other cities, businesses, international organisations, Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and UK Government 
to address the systemic and structural barriers that are 
currently holding back Manchester’s and the world’s journey 
to zero carbon. Otherwise, we will not meet our targets.

The long-term context for this work is to 2100, ensuring 
that Manchester plays its full part in limiting the global 
temperature rise to well below 2oC and pursuing efforts 
to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5oC. To 
do this we know we need to focus on urgent action in the 
next five years. The science tells us this the period where 
we need to see the most profound changes: deep and 
unprecedented carbon reduction during 2020-25, at the 
same time as planning for further cuts from 2026, down to 
zero CO2 emissions by 2038, at the latest. 

This document sets out our approach to making it happen, 
ensuring that in every household, every community, every 
classroom, every boardroom, every town hall meeting 
room we are all playing our full part to take urgent action 
on climate change. Our challenge is great, but so is the 
opportunity, to make Manchester one of the first zero 
carbon, climate resilient cities in the world.

Manchester Climate Change Partnership
February 2020 

Page 17

Item 4Appendix 1,



8

2. APPROACH TO DEVELOPING 
THIS FRAMEWORK

This Framework is Manchester’s high-level 

strategy for meeting the commitment in the Our 

Manchester Strategy 2016-251 to ‘play our full 

part in limiting the impacts of climate change’. 

For readers familiar with the EU Covenant of 

Mayors2, this is also our ‘Sustainable Energy and 

Climate Action Plan’. 

Manchester Climate Change Partnership and Agency

This Framework has been produced by the Manchester 
Climate Change Agency (the Agency), on behalf of the 
Manchester Climate Change Partnership (the Partnership). 
The Partnership and Agency have been working together 
since February 2018 to champion climate change action in 
the city. 

In Manchester we achieve more by working together. By 
bringing together our public, private, community, faith and 
education partners, the city has built itself a reputation as the 
place that makes things happen, that raises the bar, and that 
others want to follow. The Partnership has been established 
in this same mould.

The Partnership is currently made up of 60 organisations 
from across 10 sectors, with shared responsibility for 20% 
of Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions. It is a forum where 
our partners constructively challenge and support each 
other, built on the principle that our collective impact is more 
than the sum of our parts. 

Our partners all have something positive to bring to the 
table: past successes for others to replicate, new ideas and 
opportunities, and a passion for making Manchester the city 
we all want it to be. The Partnership and the Agency have 
helped Manchester partners to secure over £10m for the city 
and the city-region, to make things happen on the ground 
and to bring even more people and organisations into the 
city’s climate journey.

As well as challenging and supporting each other, the 
Partnership is also able to challenge and support the city to 
do even more. Thanks to the Partnership, our wider partners, 
and Manchester City Council’s open, devolved approach 
to policy-making, Manchester agreed some of the most 
ambitious climate change targets in the world, in 2018. This 
Framework includes an even more challenging set still, well-
beyond those being made in most other cities.

At the time of writing the Partnership is two years old. In this 
time, we have been able to help the city to achieve things 
that otherwise may not have been possible. It’s an approach 
that works for Manchester and which we believe can work 
for other cities who are also committed to ambitious climate 
action (see Section 10 for more information on our work with 
other cities).

We have made a good start since 2018 but we know the real 
work starts now. It’s a challenge we’re passionate about, a 
passion we see right across the city, to make Manchester 
one of the most exciting places in the world for action on 
climate change.

Building on the Draft Manchester Zero Carbon 
Framework 2020-38

This Framework builds on the Draft Manchester Zero Carbon 
Framework 2020-383, which was published in February 2019 
and Manchester City Council’s declaration of a climate 
emergency in July 20194. The document has been shaped 
by experts in climate change to ensure it is in line with the 
latest science and the Paris Agreement (including a review 
of targets in late 2019/early-2020; see Section 5.1). It has 
also been informed by Greater Manchester and national 
commitments, to ensure that Manchester contributes to and 
can benefit from working as part of wider city-region and 
national programmes.

It’s important to note that this document sets out what 
the science tells us we need to achieve to make our full 
contribution to the Paris Agreement and our high-level 
strategy for getting there. There are many areas where 
further details and support from Government are required. 
However, we’ve chosen not to wait until we have all the 
details or the support we need to get started. Rather we 
want to use this Framework as an urgent call for action 
based on what we already know we need to do, with further 
details to follow in a future version.

1 www.manchester.gov.uk/mcrstrategy 
2 www.covenantofmayors.eu
3 http://www.manchesterclimate.com/framework-2020-2038
4 https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/news/article/8194/manchester_city_council_

debate_climate_emergency_motion Page 18

Item 4Appendix 1,



9

A key difference between this final version of the Framework 
and the earlier draft is the shift from 2020-38 to a focus on 
2020-25, but still set within the context of limited carbon 
budgets for 2018-2100. The Partnership and Agency have 
made this change in response to evidence from the scientific 
community, including the recommendations from the Tyndall 
Centre for Climate Change Research, which has set out the 
need for immediate and deep cuts in emissions, beyond 
those being achieved on our current trajectory. 

This version also differs from the earlier draft in terms of the 
action plans that accompany it. At the time of publishing 
the draft Framework it was envisaged that a single citywide 
action plan for 2020-22 would sit alongside the final 
Framework. The Partnership and Agency have chosen 
to alter this approach and instead believe that a suite of 
bespoke commitments and plans for every household, 
community, school and organisation will be the most 
effective way to build a citywide movement of climate action. 
As part of this approach, the Framework is accompanied by 
action plans from members of the Partnership (Appendix 2).

Finally, this document also takes on board comments from 
CDP5 and their recommendation to include a new adaptation 
and resilience objective, to be in line with international best 
practice (see Section 5.2).

Why a framework?

This document is Manchester’s high-level strategy for 
meeting our climate change commitments. 

It is different to the approach that most other cities have 
adopted, typically in the form of a Council-led strategy and a 
single implementation plan. 

We have established a devolved, partnership-based 
approach to climate change action in Manchester, one which 
requires every single resident, school and organisation to be 
actively involved – the ‘Our Manchester approach’. 

It has been designed to enable more and more people and 
organisations to join our efforts on climate change, with a 
view to ultimately having everyone with us on this exciting 
journey.

On that basis the Framework is intended to provide the 
overarching structure for everyone to ‘plug-in’ their own 
bespoke plans, guided by the 15 actions in Section 6.2. 
And for the delivery of those plans to be enabled by 
support, incentives, standards and infrastructure provided 
by Manchester City Council, Manchester’s strategic 
partners, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, UK 
Government and their agencies. The governance structure 
for making this approach work is set out in Section 7.

Key Principles

This Framework is built on eight key principles. You will see 
them embedded throughout this document. 

1. Setting our objectives and targets in line with the latest 
science and the Paris Agreement

2. Contributing to Manchester’s social, environmental and 
economic goals

3. Ensuring that social justice is at the heart of our 
approach

4. The need for urgent action by everyone who lives, works 
and studies in Manchester, from our young people to our 
older people

5. Everyone who lives, works and studies in Manchester 
enabled to act through support, incentives, standards 
and infrastructure provided by Manchester City Council, 
Manchester’s strategic partners, Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority, UK Government and their agencies

6. Advice, guidance and progress monitoring from 
independent experts

7. Contributing to Greater Manchester, UK and international 
commitments

8. The need for Manchester’s growth and development to 
be zero carbon and resilient to the changing climate

 

5 CDP work with investors, companies and cities to 
help them take action to build a truly sustainable 
economy by measuring and understanding their 
environmental impact; www.cdp.net Page 19

Item 4Appendix 1,



10

3. OUR AIM

“Manchester will play 
its full part in limiting 
the impacts of climate 
change and create a 
healthy, green, socially 
just city where everyone 
can thrive.”
 

Page 20

Item 4Appendix 1,



11

4. OUR VISION FOR 2025

By 2025 Manchester will be playing its full 

part in limiting the impacts of climate change, 

with everyone who lives, works and studies 

here benefiting from the health, wellbeing and 

economic benefits that will come as a result.

By 2025 Manchester will be on track to stay within our 
15 million tonne carbon budget for 2018-2100, for the 
emissions from our homes, workplaces and ground 
transport. During 2020-25 we will reduce our direct CO2 
emissions by at least 50%.

By 2025 Manchester will be working with Government to 
ensure that all flights from Manchester Airport are part of 
a UK aviation strategy that is fully aligned with the Paris 
Agreement. 

By 2025 Manchester will have a good understanding of our 
indirect CO2 emissions and be taking action to reduce them.

By 2025 we will be adapting the city to the changing climate 
and increasing the climate resilience of our residents and 
businesses to cope with increases in extreme weather 
events such as floods and heat waves. We will have 
increased the quality and quantity of our existing green 
spaces, on track to achieve a 10% increase in urban green 
space by 2038, from 2018 levels.

By 2025 Manchester residents will have cleaner air, be 
walking and cycling more, be living in more energy efficient 
homes, have access to high quality green spaces in their 
neighbourhoods, and be securing good, well-paid jobs 
in socially and environmentally responsible Manchester 
businesses.

By 2025 Manchester will be a key player in the global zero 
carbon economy, recognised as one of the best places in 
the world to innovate, invest and roll-out new solutions to 
climate change. Manchester businesses will be rewarded 
for their commitment to climate action by saving money, 
attracting talented workers and exporting their products and 
expertise across the UK and internationally.

By 2025 Manchester will be a carbon literate city, with our 
schools, colleges, universities and organisations embedding 
learning on climate change throughout their teaching and 
training, equipping all our students and workers with the 
skills and knowledge they need to drive positive change.

Using COP26 in November 2020 as our springboard, by 
2025 Manchester will be working in even closer partnership 
with Greater Manchester, UK Government and other UK 
cities to establish the UK as a leading nation for our action 
on climate change.

By 2025 the Manchester Climate Change Partnership 
will have helped the city to achieve the objectives in this 
Framework. We will have grown our membership to reach an 
even greater proportion of the city’s CO2 emissions and be 
taking action to reduce them to zero. And we’ll be standing 
on the international stage, telling the story of how the world’s 
first industrial city is now playing a leading role in the new 
zero carbon revolution.

 

Page 21

Item 4Appendix 1,



12

5. OUR OBJECTIVES

To realise our vision we have committed to 

achieve four headline objectives. We recognise 

that they are interlinked but we’ve separated 

them here to make it clear what we’re aiming 

to achieve and to enable clear reporting on 

our progress.

• Staying within our carbon budgets 
• Climate adaptation and resilience
• Health and wellbeing
• Inclusive, zero carbon and climate resilient economy

Each objective is set out on the following pages.

5.1 Staying Within Our Carbon Budgets

Our carbon budgets objective and its sub-objectives are 
based on recommendations by the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Change Research at the University of Manchester, 
developed with support from the Manchester Zero Carbon 
Advisory Group6. The Tyndall Centre’s full analysis and 
recommendations are available in Appendix 1.

Headline objective:

To ensure that Manchester plays its full 
part in helping to meet the Paris Agreement 
objectives by keeping our direct CO2 
emissions within a limited carbon budget, 
taking commensurate action on aviation 
CO2 emissions and addressing our indirect / 
consumption-based carbon emissions. 

Why is this important?

In order to meet the Paris Agreement objective to keep 
global temperature increases to well below 2oC, pursuing 
efforts for 1.5oC, there is a limited amount of CO2 we can 
emit globally. Climate change scientists refer to this as the 
global ‘carbon budget’. 

A carbon budget can be thought of like a financial budget, 
it tells us how much we’re allowed to ‘spend’. For example, 
the budget for Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions during 
2018-2100 is 15 million tonnes CO2. Given we currently 
‘spend’ approximately 2.1 million tonnes every year, we are 
projected to run out in 2025, rather than making our budget 
last until 2100. 

This carbon budget-based approach to setting targets is the 
one recommended by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research and we believe is the right one to ensure we set 
clear commitments in line with the Paris Agreement.

6 http://www.manchesterclimate.com/zero-carbon-
advisory-group Page 22

Item 4Appendix 1,



13

Where do our emissions come from?

There are three main sources of CO2 emissions that 
Manchester is responsible for or which we have influence 
over:

• Direct (energy-related)7 CO2 emissions: from homes, 
workplaces and ground transport activities inside the city. 

• Aviation CO2 emissions: from flights taken by Manchester 
residents and organisations, from Manchester and 
other UK airports. Also recognising that we have a 
responsibility to work with UK Government, UK airports 
and others to ensure that emissions from all flights from 
Manchester Airport are in line with the Paris Agreement.

• Indirect / consumption-based CO2 emissions: from the 
things that we buy and ultimately dispose of, for 
example, food, clothes, phones, electrical equipment, 
furniture, construction materials, many of which are 
produced outside of the city.

The following graph and table provide a high-level 
summary of the annual emissions from each of these three 
areas, plus the emissions from flights from Manchester 
Airport that are taken by non-Manchester residents and 
organisations. It’s important to note that the figures are 
calculated in different ways for each emissions source so 
can’t be directly compared.
 

7 Direct energy related emissions in this framework refer to fuel use CO2 emissions on a direct (Scope 1) basis and electricity use CO2 on a consumption (Scope 2) basis.
8 UK Government; https://data.gov.uk/dataset/723c243d-2f1a-4d27-8b61-cdb93e5b10ff/emissions-of-carbon-dioxide-for-local-authority-areas
9 Aviation Sector Emissions and the Manchester Climate Change Framework, Tyndall Centre, February 2020; www.manchesterclimate.com/targets-2020
10 Consumption-based Emissions Accounting for Manchester, Tyndall Centre, February 2020; www.manchesterclimate.com/targets-2020

Figure 1: Manchester CO2 emissions in 2017

Source of Emissions Emissions in 2017 (Mt CO2)

Direct CO2
8 2.1

Aviation CO2
9

Flights taken by Manchester residents from Manchester 
and other UK airports 0.2

Flights from Manchester Airport by non-Manchester 
residents and organisations 3.4

Estimated CO2 on a consumption basis10 3.4

Table 1: Manchester CO2 emissions in 2017

Sub-objectives for each of these areas are set out on the following pages.

4

3.5

3

2.5

2

1.5

1

0,5

0

M
tC

O
2

Direct CO2 
Emissions

Aviation emissions

**

*

Sources of emissions

Estimated indirect / 
consumption based 

CO2 emissions

** Flights from 
Manchester Airport taken 
by non-Manchester 
residents and 
organisations

* Flights taken by 
Manchester residents 
from Manchester and 
other UK airports

Page 23

Item 4Appendix 1,



14

Direct CO2 emissions sub-objective:
To emit a maximum of 15 million tonnes 
CO2 from our homes, workplaces and 
ground transport from 2018. We will 
reduce our direct CO2 emissions by at 
least 50% between 2020-25. In line with 
this budget we will emit:

• A maximum of 6.9 million tonnes 
during 2018-22, and 

• A maximum of 3.6 million tonnes 
during 2023-2711. 

Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions 
come from our homes, workplaces and 
ground transport. In 2017 our direct 
emissions were 2.1 million tonnes12. 

11 The periods 2018-22 and 2023-27 are aligned 
with the UK carbon budget periods, as set by UK 
Government.

12 Manchester’s direct CO2 data is provided by UK 
Government two years in arrears. Data for 2018 and 
2019 will be available in June 2020 and June 2021 
respectively. It will be included in the Manchester 
Climate Change Annual Reports for 2020 and 2021.

38%

32%

30%

Figure 2: Manchester CO2 emissions in 2017 Non-domestic

Domestic

Transport

Page 24

Item 4Appendix 1,



15

The following graph sets out our CO2 emissions trajectory from 2018 to stay within our 15 million tonne carbon budget, 
including year-on-year reductions of 13% per annum.

Figure 3: Carbon emissions projection 2018 to 2050 based on the 15 MtCO2 Manchester carbon budget

The following graph and table set out the breakdown of the city’s 15 million tonne carbon budget into five-year budgets to 
2047, and the remaining budget for 2048-2100.

Figure 4: Emissions projections consistent with the 15 MtCO2 budget – 
starting from common year (2017)

4

3

3

2

2

1

1

0

E
m

is
si

on
s 

(M
tC

O
2)

Historic Carbon Budget Projection

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

20
44

20
45

20
46

20
47

20
48

20
49

20
50

 Time Period CO2 budget (MtCO2)

2018-22 6.93

2023-27 3.59

2028-32 1.95

2033-37 1.10

2038-42 0.64

2043-47 0.38

2048-2100 0.59

Total 15.17

Table 2: Manchester’s 15 MtCO2 budget by time period

8.00

7.00

6.00

5.00

4.00

3.00

2.00

1.00

0.00

E
m

is
si

o
n

s 
(M

tC
O

2
)

2018-22 2023-27 2028-32 2033-37 2038-42 2043-47 2048-21
00

Page 25

Item 4Appendix 1,



16

What happens if we don’t achieve this objective during 2020-25?

The key parameter is that the city stays within a 15 million 
tonne carbon budget from 2018. This total budget is broken 
down into five-year budgets to help ensure we are on track 
over the short, medium and long-term.

If we overspend our budget at any point, that means we will 
have less CO2 remaining for future years. In order to address 
this we would need deeper cuts than the 13% year-on-year 
reductions that are currently required (50% during 2020-25). 

The below graph shows the impact of continuing our average 
rate of carbon reduction (7% during 2010-17), the resulting 
overspending of our budget, and the deeper reductions that 
would be needed to ensure we get back on track to stay 
within our 15 million tonne carbon budget:

Figure 5: Emissions projections consistent with the 15 MtCO2 budget – 
starting from common year (2017) 

Action delayed until 2022: 18% year-on-year reductions 
required to stay within the 15 million tonne carbon budget.

Action delayed until 2025: 31% year-on-year reductions 
required to stay within the 15 million tonne carbon budget.

4

2

2

1

1

0

M
tC

O
2

20
17

20
20

20
23

20
26

20
29

20
32

20
35

20
38

20
41

20
44

20
47

20
50

Carbon Budget Projection (13% per year from 2018)
Delay to 2022 (18% per year from 2022)
Delay to 2025 (31% per year from 2025)

Page 26

Item 4Appendix 1,



17

Aviation sub-objective:
We want the emissions from all flights from Manchester Airport 
to be fully aligned with the Paris Agreement. We believe this 
means operating within a limited carbon budget for UK aviation, 
as part of a wider international budget. 

We recognise the UK aviation budget that has been 
proposed by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research, 1,200 million tonnes CO2 for the period 2020 
to 2100, calculated in line with the methodology for 
establishing Manchester’s carbon budget for our direct 
emissions. We recognise the interrelationship between these 
two budgets; if one is exceeded, the other has to reduce to 
compensate for it.

We also recognise that the Tyndall Centre’s proposed UK 
aviation budget is 37% of the total UK carbon budget, a 
much larger allocation than for other sectors of the economy.

With no global city yet having reconciled its climate change 
responsibilities with having a major international airport 
within its boundaries, we believe we have the opportunity to 
establish Manchester Airport and the city as a national and 
international leader in sustainable aviation. 

As part of playing our full part on climate change we 
recognise now is the time to tackle this fundamental 
challenge, whilst also taking into account the significant 
employment, business, cultural and tourism benefits 
Manchester Airport provides to the city. To do this we need:

• Manchester Airport Group and Manchester City Council 
to work UK Government to help develop a UK aviation 
strategy which is in line with the Paris Agreement and 
the approach used by the Tyndall Centre for calculating 
carbon budgets

• Manchester Airport Group and Manchester City Council 
to work with UK Government and other UK airports to 
ensure that any proposed development at Manchester 
Airport is consistent with a Paris Agreement-aligned UK 
aviation carbon budget, taking into account the 1,200 
million tonne carbon budget proposed by the Tyndall 
Centre, and the city’s 15 million tonne carbon budget for 
direct emissions

• Social justice to be at the heart of Manchester’s work 
with Government on a national aviation strategy, to 
ensure that everyone in the city has the potential to enjoy 
their fair share of the benefits of having an international 
airport in the city

• To establish ways to empower Manchester residents to 
make informed choices about their travel behaviours, 
including an understanding of the climate impacts of 
flying and the options they have to minimise or avoid 
them entirely. This should take into account the fact that 
data on the impact of Manchester residents’ flights is 
already available: 0.2 million tonnes CO2 emitted per 
year (2017 levels), from all UK airports. And that if the 
city chose to develop a carbon budget-based approach 
to help manage these emissions, following the Tyndall 
Centre’s methodology, it would give Manchester residents 
a carbon budget of 6.6 million tonnes from 2020.

• To establish ways to empower Manchester organisations 
to make informed choices about their travel behaviours, 
including an understanding of the climate impacts of 
flying and the options they have to minimise or avoid 
them entirely. This should take into account the fact 
that data on the impact of Manchester organisations’ 
flights is not currently available. And that, if such data 
was gathered, the city could choose to develop a 
carbon budget-based approach to help manage these 
emissions.

Page 27

Item 4Appendix 1,



18

Indirect / consumption-based CO2 emissions sub-objective:
To better understand the broader climate change impact of the 
city’s consumption of goods and services and take action to 
develop more sustainable consumption practices for the city’s 
residents and organisations.
 

Greenhouse gas emissions from goods and services 
consumed in Manchester from the rest of the country and 
worldwide also contribute to the city’s overall climate impact.
 
Based on the average for C40 cities (a network of ambitious 
global cities)13, Manchester’s emissions on a consumption 
basis may be 60% greater than they are for our direct CO2 
emissions. 

Consumption based emissions are more difficult to assess 
accurately than our direct CO2 emissions, particularly at a 
city scale. This means that target-setting and monitoring 
is not yet possible in the same way as for the direct 
emissions carbon budget. A consumption-based account 
of Manchester’s greenhouse gas emissions can however 
provide an indicative picture of the city’s wider contribution 
to climate change. This in turn can be used to direct action 
on sustainable consumption practices.

We will develop a more detailed understanding of our 
consumption-based emissions to enable us to target 
action and monitor progress. In parallel we will also start to 
take action based on known key contributors to the city’s 
consumption-based impacts. 

13  www.c40.org/consumption Page 28

Item 4Appendix 1,



19

Key Points

1. How Manchester’s carbon budgets are calculated:

The Tyndall Centre have calculated a carbon budget for 
the UK that is aligned with the Paris Agreement14. This UK 
budget is then broken down into separate budgets for the 
UK’s three main sources of emissions:

UK direct/
energy only

UK 
Aviation

UK 
Shipping

(55%) (37%) (8%)

Manchester’s direct carbon budget: the UK direct / energy 
only budget is apportioned to Manchester to give us a figure 
of 15 million tonnes of CO2

15.

2. The relationship between the different types of emissions: 

If one sector emits more than its budget this needs to be 
compensated for through reductions in the other sectors. 
For example, if UK aviation emits more than its 37% of 
the UK budget, this will need to be compensated for with 
reductions in the direct and/or shipping sectors.

This is why the Framework covers both direct and aviation 
emissions.

3. Data quality: 

It should be noted that the data for Manchester’s CO2 
emissions are more robust in some areas (direct CO2 
emissions), estimated in some (indirect CO2 emissions), 
and require additional data to give a complete picture in 
others (data on the flights taken by Manchester residents are 
currently available but not for organisations’ flights). 

There is also some overlap between the three types of 
emissions so it is not possible to add together the three 
figures to give an accurate figure for Manchester’s total CO2 
emissions. However, the data in this section gives us a good 
sense of the scale of our responsibilities in order to focus 
our efforts over the next five years.

4. Playing our full part – our ambitious scope:

Manchester has chosen to take responsibility for a much 
wider scope of CO2 emissions than the majority of other 
cities. Currently, most cities typically take responsibility 
and commit to action on their direct CO2 emissions only. 
However, in line with our commitment to ‘play our full part 
in limiting the impacts of climate change’, we believe it is 
important to be as ambitious and transparent about our 
responsibilities as the global climate emergency demands 
is necessary, including where we need to work with UK 
Government, and others.
 

14 https://www.research.manchester.ac.uk/portal/
files/83000155/Tyndall_Quantifying_Paris_for_
Manchester_Report_FINAL_PUBLISHED_rev1.pdf

15 Appendix 2 at http://www.manchesterclimate.com/
targets-2018 Page 29

Item 4Appendix 1,



20

5.2 Climate Adaptation 
and Resilience Objective

This objective has been developed in-part based on the 
recommendations of CDP16 who identified this theme as 
an area missing from the previous draft of this Framework. 
It has been developed with support from climate change 
adaptation and resilience experts at the University of 
Manchester. 

Headline objective:
To adapt the city’s buildings, infrastructure and natural 
environment to the changing climate and to increase the climate 
resilience of our residents and organisations.

Why is this important?

Manchester’s climate is changing17. Responses to adapt 
and build resilience to changing patterns of extreme 
weather events are required, focusing particularly on 
hazards such as floods which the evidence shows are a 
particular threat to Manchester.

Event 1945-1969
Events

1970 – 1993
Events

1994 – 2017
Events

Flood (all forms) 36 (44%) 24 (36%) 109 (52%)

Storm 18 (22%) 24 (36%) 44 (21%)

Cold 17 (21%) 11 (16%) 27 (13%)

Fog 8 (10%) 2 (3%) 15 (7%)

Heat 2 (2%) 4 (6%) 10 (5%)

Drought (water 
shortages)

1 (1%) 2 (3%) 5 (2%)

TOTAL EVENTS 82 67 210 

Table 3: Past occurrence of extreme weather and climate change hazard 
events across Greater Manchester. 

Climate change projections point towards Manchester 
experiencing warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier 
summers, and more periods of extreme heat and heavy 
rainfall. Winter rainfall could increase by around 30% across 
Greater Manchester (GM) by 2050, and the warmest 
summer day could rise by 6°C by this point18. 

These changes will have a major effect on Manchester’s 
people, environments, buildings and infrastructure. Recent 
research has identified climate change risks to GM’s critical 
infrastructure, which is central to people’s livelihoods 
and quality of life. Floods and storms account for the 
highest risks19, and these events stand out as priorities for 
adaptation and resilience planning and action.

16 https://www.cdp.net/en/responses
17 Carter. J.G., Connelly, A., Handley., J and Ellis, 

M. 2018. Climate Change Risk Assessment of 
Greater Manchesters Critical Infrastructure. RESIN 
Project. Available at: https://resin-cities.eu/fileadmin/
user_upload/Resources/City_report_GM/GMCCRA_
report_final.pdf

18 Cavan, G. 2011. Climate Change Projections for 
Greater Manchester. EcoCities Project, University of 
Manchester. 

19 Carter. J.G., Connelly, A., Handley., J and Ellis, 
M. 2018. Climate Change Risk Assessment of 
Greater Manchesters Critical Infrastructure. RESIN 
Project. Available at: https://resin-cities.eu/fileadmin/
user_upload/Resources/City_report_GM/GMCCRA_
report_final.pdf. 

Page 30

Item 4Appendix 1,



21

During 2020-25:

Further work is needed to better understand the level of risk 
and vulnerability faced by our residents and businesses 
so that we can more effectively focus our efforts on the key 
risks and locations most in need. However, alongside this 
ongoing research and planning work, there is also much we 
can do to support and undertake practical action.

Action: 

1) Act on the existing evidence and research on climate 
change impacts and risks to target available adaptation 
and resilience effort and resources. This means focusing 
on infrastructure, communities and businesses at risk 
from flooding in particular. 

2) Increase the amount of urban green infrastructure cover, 
aiming for a 10% increase by 2038 from 2018 levels, in 
line with the Greater Manchester aim20. 

Educate and prepare: 

3) Educate and prepare our residents, our businesses, 
and our public sector to encourage changes in their 
behaviours, operations and services that can support 
adaptation and resilience to climate change. 

Research and planning:

4) Continue to develop a clear and up-to-date 
understanding of how the climate is projected to change 
and the associated risks that we could experience 
over the short, medium and long-term. To include a 
developing understanding of our heat stress risks, as 
well as those for flooding.

5) Respond to these risks by incorporating adaptation and 
resilience within our plans and strategies, and acting to 
make necessary changes to our buildings, infrastructure 
and our natural environment. 

6) Utilise the European Climate Risk Typology21 to identify 
and then learn from cities and urban areas that have a 
similar climate risk profile as Manchester. 

 
20 This target comes from the IGNITION project, which 

is creating a green infrastructure baseline that we 
will use to support activity in Manchester - https://
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/
environment/ignition/

21 http://european-crt.org/index.html

Page 31

Item 4Appendix 1,



22

5.3 Health and Wellbeing

This objective has been developed jointly with 
representatives from the Manchester Health and Wellbeing 
Board to help ensure that the city’s climate action also 
contributes to the successful delivery of the Manchester 
Population Health Plan 2018-2722.

Headline objective:
To improve the health and wellbeing of everyone in Manchester 
through actions that also contribute to our objectives for CO2 
reduction and adaption and resilience, with particular focus on 
those most in need.

Why is this important?

The actions we need to take to reduce CO2 and adapt 
the city also have the potential to simultaneously improve 
our residents’ health and wellbeing. Walking and cycling 
to get residents moving, aiming for 75% to be active or 
fairly active as part of the Greater Manchester-wide GM 
Moving programme23. Shifting away from petrol and diesel 
vehicles to help address our air quality crisis, which currently 
contributes to Manchester having the highest rate of 
emergency hospital admissions for asthma in the country 
and is linked to 181 deaths per year in Manchester24. 

Increased rainfall and flooding, increased heat waves 
and increased incidences of extreme weather all have 
the potential to negatively affect the physical and mental 
wellbeing of Manchester’s residents. This is why we need to 
adapt the city’s built and natural environment and prepare 
our residents to become more resilient to these changes. 
Increasing the amount and quality of green space to enable 
residents to benefit from the improved physical and mental 
health that will come as a result25. 

Improving the energy efficiency of the city’s homes 
and providing access to affordable, secure supplies of 
renewable energy are essential help get 38,000 Manchester 
households out of fuel poverty. 

During 2020-25:

As well as Manchester residents taking action for themselves 
over the next five years, we will also need new strategic 
initiatives to help accelerate what people are already doing, 
and to address any barriers that are preventing or limiting 
further action. 

When these initiatives are developed we need to focus them 
on the people and communities where climate action has 
the most potential to improve health and wellbeing, those 
that are expected to be most impacted by the changing 
climate, and those who would most benefit from additional 
support. Often these people will also have made less of a 
contribution to changing the climate than residents in other 
parts of the city. 

As well as ensuring that climate action has positive health 
and wellbeing outcomes, this approach will also ensure that 
our commitment to social justice remains at the heart of 
what we do. 

More information on the approach to developing new 
strategic initiatives is provided in Section 6.3. 

 

 

22 https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/
download/6898/manchester_population_health_
plan_2018-2027

23 https://www.greatersport.co.uk/media/2679/gm-
moving-v2-july-2018.pdf 

24 https://cleanairgm.com/air-pollution#your-health 
25 http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/display.

aspx?DocID=33167 Page 32

Item 4Appendix 1,



23

5.4 Inclusive, Zero Carbon 
and Climate Resilient Economy

This objective has been developed jointly with 
representatives from the Manchester Work and Skills 
Board to help ensure that the city’s climate action also 
contributes to achieving Manchester’s aim to establish a 
more inclusive economy, as set out in the Our Manchester 
Industrial Strategy26.

Headline objective:
To ensure that Manchester establishes an inclusive, zero carbon 
and climate resilient economy where everyone can benefit from 
playing an active role in decarbonising and adapting the city to 
the changing climate.
 

Why is this important?

Greater Manchester companies in the low carbon and 
environmental goods and services sector currently employ 
over 45,000 people. Based on performance in recent 
years, these numbers are set to continue to grow, including 
graduates from our local universities27. The Office for 
National Statistics found that the average gross annual pay 
for graduates with environmental degrees working in the 
sector is the 4th highest compared to every other subject, 
amounting to £38,012, and that the employment rate for 
graduates in the sector is 87%28.

The city’s businesses in non-environmental sectors 
also have an important part to play in our zero carbon 
transition. Many are already engaged and benefiting from 
reduced energy bills, improved reputation, increased 
competitiveness, the ability to attract skilled workers looking 
for meaningful work with a socially responsible employer, 
and readiness for new carbon reduction policies and 
legislation in the coming years.

During 2020-25:

Our list of strategic actions will develop as we continue to 
grow our understanding of the city’s needs. Section 6.3 
sets out our approach to developing and delivering these 
actions. The following list is a starting point, based on work 
during 2019-20 with organisations and groups involved in 
education and training in the city, including Manchester’s 
Work and Skills Board and the Manchester Careers, 
Education, Information, Advice and Guidance Group.

1) Ensure that climate change remains one of the key 
objectives in the implementation of the Our Manchester 
Industrial Strategy, with a view to expanding the 
strategy’s aim from the current ‘develop a more 
inclusive economy’ to ‘develop a more inclusive, zero 
carbon and climate resilient economy’.

2) Embed climate change throughout the city’s education 
and training system to help Manchester become a 
Carbon Literate city.

3) As we invest in infrastructure to become a zero carbon 
city, we need a proportionate investment in the skills 
sector to ensure that our education and training 
providers can respond. In particular, we need to develop 
the ‘green skills’ the city needs to deliver the projects 
and programmes planned for 2020-25 and to prepare for 
further initiatives from 2026.

4) Support existing and new businesses in the low carbon 
and environmental goods and services sector to provide 
the expertise and products the city needs to act on 
climate change.

5) Support ‘non-environmental’ organisations to act on 
climate change, including those currently in fossil fuel-
heavy industries where major changes to business 
activities will be needed and where workers may need 
support to transition into new jobs where they can deploy 
their skills.

 

26 https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/
download/7156/our_manchester_industrial_strategy

27 https://www.businessgrowthhub.com/
media/1063153/gm_lowcarbon_sector_report_new.
pdf 

28 https://www.ons.gov.uk/
employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/
employmentandemployeetypes/articles/
graduatesintheuklabourmarket/2017 Page 33

Item 4Appendix 1,



24

6.1 Headline Areas for Urgent Action

At a city-level we need to take action in seven 

key areas to meet our carbon reduction and 

climate adaptation and resilience objectives:

1. Buildings (existing and new)
2. Renewable energy
3. Transport and flying
4. Food
5. The things we buy and throw away
6. Green infrastructure and nature-based solutions
7. Supporting and enabling residents and organisations to 

act – see Section 6.3

At this stage we have a good high-level understanding of 
what needs to be achieved, however, we don’t have full 
details for every area of activity. For example, we know we 
need 100% of our energy to be from renewable sources as 
soon as possible, but we don’t know what percentage we 
should reach by 2025. 

To start to develop our detailed understanding we have 
taken some of the headlines from the Greater Manchester 
Environment Plan for 2019-24 and applied them to 
Manchester. We will develop further details as part of a future 
refresh of this Framework.

However, we don’t need to wait for further research 
and planning work before we start our next phase of 
urgent citywide action. We already have a good enough 
understanding of what we need to do. The priority over the 
next five years is to focus our efforts on urgently reducing 
CO2 emissions and adapting the city, and planning for 
further progress from 2026. 

 

1) Buildings

Existing buildings

An estimated 80% of the buildings that will exist in the UK 
in 2050 have already been built. They were built at a time 
when climate change and energy considerations were much 
less of a priority than today, including the 226,640 homes 
we already have in Manchester. The current levels of energy 
performance of our homes, schools and workplaces are 
much lower than we need in order to meet our targets. 

There are currently extremely low levels of domestic 
and non-domestic retrofitting taking place in the city, the 
exceptions being registered housing providers and a handful 
of proactive private homeowners. This is a result of lack of 
knowledge and demand for retrofitting, very low access 
to funding (including low-cost loans), lack of skills and 
local supply chain, and a lack of financial incentives and 
business models to make investment in retrofit stack up for 
homeowners, public and private landlords.

Addressing this requires significant new interventions. This 
challenge is faced by all UK local authorities and lends itself 
particularly to a national programme where Manchester 
could work in partnership with UK Government. The aim 
being to get our existing buildings as close to zero carbon 
as possible by significantly increasing their energy efficiency 
and generating renewable energy on-site.

Based on the GM Environment Plan 2019-24: over 11,500 of 
Manchester’s 226,640 homes retrofitted per year.29/30

New buildings

We need to ensure that new developments in the city don’t 
eat into our limited carbon budgets and add to the already 
significant retrofit challenge. This means that we need them 
to be built and operated to zero carbon standards as soon 
as possible. 

The ideal way to do this is through UK Government 
establishing a national zero carbon definition and 
methodology for its implementation, and for Manchester City 
Council to implement this standard as quickly as possible 
through the local planning system. 

This should include applying zero carbon standards to all 
developments where the Council has additional influence, for 
example as a client / end-user, landowner or development 
partner, with a view to all new development needing to 
be zero carbon from 2023 at the latest, when the new 
Manchester Local Plan is expected to become operational31. 

6. URGENT ACTIONS TO 
MEET OUR COMMITMENTS

29 18.9% of the 61,000 that need to be retrofitted 
across Greater Manchester; Manchester homes 
make up 226,640 (18.9%) of the 1.2 million homes 
in Greater Manchester

30 https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/info/200088/
statistics_and_intelligence/2024/housing

31 www.manchester.gov.uk/localplan Page 34

Item 4Appendix 1,



25

2) Renewable Energy 

100% Renewable Electricity

We need a combination of two, possibly three, sources of 
renewable electricity:

• Our own renewable energy generated inside the city: this 
includes significant increases in the amount generated 
from solar photovoltaic (PV) panels. In 2019, only 1% 
of Manchester’s electricity demand was met by local 
renewable generation.

• Decarbonised National Grid: driven by UK Government, 
the National Grid has been decarbonising in recent 
years; we need this to continue but at an accelerated 
rate, with a view to being fully decarbonised as soon as 
possible.

• Our own renewable energy generated outside the city: 
this could include through ‘power purchase agreements’ 
with renewable energy generators, and/or investing 
in our own renewable energy generation through, for 
example, wind warms, solar farms, and others. This 
option is particularly important if the National Grid 
doesn’t decarbonise at the rate we need it to.

We will also become more compatible with intermittent 
generation by developing smart grids and dynamic demand 
within Manchester.

Based on the GM Environment Plan 2019-24: at least 50% 
of all homes should have the equivalent of 16m2 of solar PV 
panels by 2024.

Gas

The UK has two main options for natural gas use in the UK: 
stop using it (except in a small number of instances where 
viable alternatives don’t exist, such as in some industrial 
processes) and move to electric heating, heat pumps 
and zero carbon district heating instead, or; replace it with 
biogas and/or hydrogen. 

At the time of writing UK Government are in the early stages 
of developing a national strategy. However, we can’t wait for 
this to emerge before we start to take action. There are four 
things we need to do:

• Improve the energy efficiency of our buildings as far as 
possible to reduce our demand for gas (as in the above 
‘buildings’ section).

• Replace our natural gas-based heating systems with 
renewable energy-based heating technologies as soon 
as possible.

• Work with Government to ensure that moving to 
electricity-based heating systems is affordable and 
doesn’t push even more people into fuel poverty 
(electricity is currently more expensive than natural gas).

• Work with Greater Manchester Combined Authority and 
Government to help establish a clear UK strategy for gas 
(the Netherlands, for example, have committed to be 
natural gas-free by 2030).

Based on the GM Environment Plan 2019-24: over 13,600 
(6%) of Manchester’s 226,640 homes connected to a low 
carbon heating source every year. 

 

Page 35

Item 4Appendix 1,



26

3) Transport and flying

Many of these actions will need to be taken as part of wider 
Greater Manchester programmes, including work with 
Transport for Greater Manchester and Manchester Airport.

There are five headline actions we need to take:

Increase walking and cycling: through a combination of 
significantly more safe, well-designed routes and changes in 
travel behaviours

Increase public transport use: again, this is partly about 
changes in behaviours, but will only work if enabled by 
significant improvements in the capacity, frequency, 
reliability, affordability and accessibility of our buses, trams 
and trains. Our current system falls well short of these 
essential characteristics.

Based on the GM Environment Plan 2019-24: significant 
increases in sustainable modes of transport.

Private vehicles: where travel by private vehicle is necessary, 
we need these to be electric vehicles, supported by easily 
accessible charging points, and with the right incentives 
to accelerate their uptake. Simple 13 amp outdoor plugs 
will meet most drivers’ needs, with more expensive super-
fast chargers only required for a minority of vehicle-users. 
However, we need to keep in mind that the shift to electric 
vehicles won’t address our problems with congestion. The 
manufacturing of vehicles (in cities outside of Manchester) 
also generates significant CO2 emissions, contributing to our 
consumption-based CO2 emissions. 

Based on the GM Environment Plan 2019-24: 100% of 
Manchester’s cars and buses need to be zero emissions 
(tailpipe) by 2035.

Rail connections to other cities within the UK and Europe (and 
beyond): we need to shift our travel to other cities away from 
the use of private cars and planes and onto trains, as far 
as possible. Doing this will require reliable, affordable and 
efficient connections to the rest of the UK and Europe, to 
enable a shift in the behaviours of our residents and workers. 

Flying: work with UK Government to ensure that flights 
from Manchester Airport and all UK airports are fully in 
line with the Paris Agreement. Manchester residents and 
organisations to look at their own travel behaviours and 
minimise the number and length of flights through taking 
holidays closer to home, taking trains, and replacing 
meetings with video and teleconferencing. 

4) Food

Manchester is part of a complex global system whose 
climate and environmental impacts are vast. Consider 
both the direct production of crops and livestock, and the 
associated land clearing. Fossil fuels power the machinery, 
fishing vessels, transport, packaging and processing of our 
food. Chemical fertilisers and over 60 billion land animals 
contribute significantly to the emission of greenhouse gases.

However, the capacity exists for the food system to transform 
from a carbon source into a sink; capturing carbon as a 
means to increase fertility, soil health, water availability and 
ultimately, food security. Changes to agricultural production, 
food preparation, consumption and waste are needed at a 
global level, combined with positive action at an individual, 
family, community and city-level. We need to grow, buy/sell, 
cook and eat in a way that supports our local economy, in a 
healthy and environmentally sustainable way. 

This includes: 
• Waste less food, both individually and commercially
• Buy seasonal, local produce; ideally organic, from more 

sustainable farms, or at least buy British supporting UK 
agriculture. 

• Support local, independent food outlets. 
• Avoid processed food, buying fresh or minimally 

processed food. 
• Adopt a plant-rich diet and reduce overall meat 

consumption 
• If choosing meat or other animal products, buy better 

quality. Organic, free range, Freedom or pasture- reared 
are all signs that your animal products are coming from 
a more sustainable source, and will be higher quality and 
healthier.

• If choosing fish, buy it from more sustainable sources i.e. 
not on the ‘fish to avoid’ list32. 

• Grow your own, use an allotment, help at a community 
growing project or get growing at our workplace. 

• Buy only what we need and plan our meals. 
• Buy Fairtrade coffee and tea. 
• Drink tap water, avoid bottled water. 
• Buy/sell food which has minimal packaging which avoids 

single-use plastics.
• Ask your shop/supplier about where your food has come 

from.

32 https://www.mcsuk.org/goodfishguide/searchPage 36

Item 4Appendix 1,



27

5) The things we buy and throw away

Whilst they might be produced and disposed of outside 
of Manchester’s boundary, we have a responsibility for the 
carbon footprint of the things that we buy and throw away. 
Research by the C4033 estimates that these emissions, 
also known as ‘consumption-based’ or ‘indirect’ emissions 
can be as much as 60% higher than a city’s direct CO2 
emissions. For Manchester that would mean an estimated 
3.4 million tonnes CO2 per year for our consumption-based 
emissions, compared to 2.1 million tonnes for our direct 
emissions.

There are five headline actions we need to take:

• Buy less: before we buy things, as citizens and as 
organisations, we need to ask ourselves ‘do I really need 
this?’ 

• Buy better: where a new product, material or service is 
needed, we need to select those that have the lowest 
carbon footprint and other positive environmental and 
social attributes. This may mean reusing or repurposing 
previously used goods or hiring rather than buying what 
we need. 

• Local businesses: as well as growing the demand for 
greener products, we also need to grow the supply. 
This means supporting the growth of local businesses 
that can offer reusable, reused, repurposed and for-hire 
products and materials.

• Repair: extending the life of products and supporting 
repair cafes and upcycling workshops.

• Recycle: when a product or material finally reaches the 
end of its current life we need to ensure it is recycled.

 

6) Green infrastructure and nature-based solutions

Our parks, gardens, woodlands, street trees and other 
elements of the city’s green infrastructure have an essential 
role to play in helping Manchester to meet its climate change 
objectives. This is in terms of both adapting Manchester to 
the changing climate (by helping to manage flood risk and 
heat stress) and helping to reduce our CO2 emissions (to 
stay within our carbon budget we need our land to become 
a net remover of carbon). And at the same time also 
delivering myriad other benefits such as improved health, 
increased biodiversity, supporting jobs, creating attractive 
neighbourhoods, and many others.

A term increasingly being used to describe the use of 
green infrastructure that can address climate (and other) 
challenges is ‘nature-based solutions’. At the time of writing 
Manchester is delivering an EU-funded project in West 
Gorton to demonstrate how we can integrate nature-based 
solutions into the city’s communities to manage flood risk, 
increase biodiversity and improve health and wellbeing. 
This project provides us with an exciting model to replicate 
in other parts of the city. And in doing so building on many 
years of action on the city’s natural environment, driven 
by strategies for green and blue infrastructure, trees and 
biodiversity.

The Manchester Green and Blue Infrastructure to 202534 
is being refreshed during 2020. Rather than duplicate 
the details here, our headline action is to ensure that the 
city’s climate change objectives are fully embedded in the 
development and implementation of the refreshed strategy. 

Based on the GM IGNITION project: increase urban green 
infrastructure by 10% by 2038, from 2018 levels35. 

 

33 https://www.c40.org/consumption
34 https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/info/500002/

council_policies_and_strategies/7061/green_and_
blue_infrastructure

35 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/environment/ignition/ Page 37

Item 4Appendix 1,



28

6.2 Urgent Actions for Every Resident, 
School and Organisation

To realise our potential to become a leading city for action 
on climate change we need every resident, school and 
organisation in the city to take urgent and sustained action.

Right now, thousands of people and organisations across 
Manchester are already on board. 

Our residents and communities

From our young people to the city’s older generation, and 
everyone in between, more residents by the day are joining 
our citywide movement of committed climate actors. 

The Fallowfield Secret Gardens Residents Group was 
established by local residents to help people learn how to 
grow their own food and live more sustainably. The group is 
helping Fallowfield residents to become more self-sufficient 
and reduce their emissions by relying less on imported 
produce. 
 
The Barlow Road Community Orchard has been created 
by Levenshulme residents to plant more trees in their 
neighbourhood. With support from a Manchester City 
Council grant to purchase apple, cobnut and plum trees, a 
piece of land previously used by fly-tippers is now on its way 
to becoming a flourishing area for the local community.

Our schools

Parrs Wood High School are a leading school when it comes 
to solar energy – they have one of the largest solar energy 
systems at any school in the UK with almost 1,000 solar 
panels on its main roof, generating more than 200,000 
kWh of renewable power per year. This project makes a 
saving of 119 tonnes CO2 annually, whilst also being a huge 
educational benefit to the pupils of the school. 

Pupils at MEA Central have been planting trees, eliminating 
single use plastic water bottles from their school and running 
Meat Free Mondays – putting them on track to move from 
their current bronze Eco-Schools badge up to silver. 

Our organisations

Organisations are also playing their part. The University 
of Manchester has completed three LED lighting projects 
across their campus buildings, saving 116 tonnes of CO2 
per year, on track for lifetime savings of 2,300 tonnes CO2. 

Manchester City Football Club have completed a similar 
project – switching to LED lightings across the stadium has 
reduced consumption by just over 1 million kWh. 

For those in the early stages of their zero carbon journey, 
inspiration isn’t far away. The Manchester Climate website 
has a growing number of examples of the actions the city’s 
residents, schools and organisations are taking36. 

 

 

36 www.manchesterclimate.com/case-studies Page 38

Item 4Appendix 1,



29

15 Actions

To help residents, schools and organisations to play their 
part we are promoting 15 actions. This list is likely to develop 
over the next five years so we haven’t included the full details 
here. For a copy of the most up-to-date list visit:

www.
manchesterclimate.
com/15-actions

Manchester Climate Change Partnership

The Partnership is the city’s main mechanism for engaging 
and inspiring organisations and residents to act. The 
Partnership currently has 60 members, across 10 sectors, 
with responsibility for over 20% of Manchester’s direct CO2 
emissions. Its members also have reach into the remaining 
80% through their staff, students, customers, tenants, 
football fans, theatre-goers, worshippers, and others. By 
working with their supply chains members are also starting 
to take a chunk out of the city’s consumption-based CO2 
emissions.
 
Partnership members have developed their own bespoke 
action plans, setting out how they will contribute towards the 
successful delivery of this Framework. A summary of their 
action plans is available in Appendix 2.

A methodology is currently in development to support 
organisations and sectors to set carbon reduction 
targets, in line with the city-level targets in this document. 
The Tyndall Centre have developed recommendations 
to support the development of this methodology. See 
Appendix 1 for further information.

Figure 6: Direct CO2 emissions from MCCP members’ buildings

The Partnership will continue to grow throughout the life 
of this Framework and beyond, aiming to ultimately 
engage and inspire every community and organisation 
in the city to get involved in the city’s collective action. 
Further information on the Partnership is available from: 
www.manchesterclimate.com/MCCP

GETTING STARTED
1. Commit to zero carbon and taking urgent action 

now
2. Measure and report your CO2

3. Climate change education and Carbon Literacy
 
TAKING ACTION 
4. Existing buildings
5. New developments and construction 
6. Renewable energy
7. Transport
8. Flying
9. Reduce, reuse, recycle our stuff 
10. Food
11. Green space and gardens 
12. Water conservation 

INSPIRING AND INFLUENCING OTHERS
13. Where you put your money
14. Spread the word

ASK FOR HELP
15. Ask politicians and decision-makers for help 

Bruntwood 0.6% 
ENW <1%
MAST <1%
Faith <1%
MCC 1.6%
MCFC 0.3%
MMU 0.5%
NHS   3.5%  
UoM 2.4%
Schools 
& Colleges 1.1%

Transport

32%

MHPP

9%
Other domestic

21%

Other 
non-domestic

28%

Page 39

Item 4Appendix 1,



30

6.3 Supporting and enabling residents and 
organisations to act: urgent actions for 
Manchester City Council, Manchester’s 
Strategic Partners, Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority, UK Government and 
their agencies.

At the time of publishing this Framework, we know that 
Manchester is not currently on track to meet its climate 
change objectives, despite the many actions being delivered 
across the city.

To address this, in combination with the engagement work 
of the Manchester Climate Change Partnership, we need 
our public authorities and strategic partners to provide the 
necessary support, incentives, standards and infrastructure. 

We know from survey work undertaken in 2019 that 75% 
of Manchester residents are worried about climate change 
(15% extremely worried, 21% very worried, 39% somewhat 
worried). 

Large numbers of Manchester residents are already taking 
some level of action (minimising food waste and reusing 
plastic bags) but stated that they would be willing to do even 
more (retrofitting their home, switching to an electric vehicle 
or eating more seasonal food) if they had more information. 

There is a clear need for further information to be provided: 
respondents believe the Council and partners could 
increase awareness of climate change (44% of respondents) 
and help residents to understand how to reduce the impact 
of it (42%).

The most common activity identified as a priority for 
Manchester City Council and partners was for better public 
transport (47%). Financial incentives were also identified as 
having a role to play in helping residents to take action (26% 
of respondents).

There are examples from other UK and international cities 
where local, regional and national government have worked 
together, often with the involvement of local partners, to 
address a city’s climate change needs. These precedents 
provide us with valuable inspiration and learning so that we 
can replicate the solutions that we know already work. 

Doing so will require our public authorities and strategic 
partners to deploy the powers and resources they have 
available to them. Some of which we already have at the 
local level, some of which we will need to secure through 
working in partnership with the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority and UK Government.

Research by the Coalition for Urban Transitions37 estimates 
that for cities around the world to realise their climate 
ambitions the powers and responsibilities for action are:

• 14% with the city
• 67% with the national government
• 19% through working together

when decarbonisation of the electricity supply is included.

• 28% with the city
• 35% with the national government
• 37% through working together

when decarbonisation of the electricity supply is not 
included.

This makes it clear that we need our partnership-based 
approach to extend beyond the city’s boundaries, to build 
a strong collaboration between Manchester City Council, 
the city’s strategic partners, Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority, UK Government and their agencies. Further 
information on each of these organisations and their existing 
commitments to support residents and organisations are 
provided here.

 

37 https://urbantransitions.global/en/publication/
climate-emergency-urban-opportunity/ Page 40

Item 4Appendix 1,



31

Manchester City Council

Manchester City Council (MCC) is a member of the 
Manchester Climate Change Partnership. The Council is 
expectd to publish its own climate change action plan for the 
period 2020-2538 in March 2020. As well as setting out how 
the Council will reduce its own operational emissions, the 
plan will commit the Council to supporting and enabling the 
city’s residents and organisations to reduce their CO2 and 
adapt to the changing climate.

The Council has good examples to build on from the last 
10 years: 

Supporting and enabling residents and communities

• Metrolink Expansion - MCC has worked with Transport 
for Greater Manchester and has supported the recent 
Greater Manchester five-year plan to expand the 
Metrolink tram network, connecting more people across 
the city-region.

• Cycling Infrastructure - MCC has worked with partners 
to improve the city’s cycling infrastructure including 
the Oxford Road and Wilmslow Road ‘Dutch Style’ 
cycling lanes. Most of the route between Didsbury 
and Manchester City Centre provides cyclists with 
a dedicated cycle lane, separated from the traffic 
by special new kerbs. Passing through Withington, 
Fallowfield, Rusholme, and the university district, there 
are special lanes to navigate cyclists round bus stops 
and parked cars. Traffic signals are also timed to give 
cyclists a head start from junctions too.

• GrowGreen - is a project looking at how implementing 
Nature Based Solutions (NBS) in cities can help them 
adapt to climate change. It is addressing issues of 
flooding and rising temperatures via solutions including 
tree planting, green roofs, green walls, permeable 
paving and sustainable urban drainage systems. In 
West Gorton, MCC are building a community park that 
demonstrates how solutions can manage water and 
flood risk – ‘a park that drinks water’. 

• The Nature of Hulme - In 2017 MCC’s Central 
Neighbourhood Team commissioned the Westcountry 
Rivers Trust (WRT) to undertake a community-based 
environmental appraisal and visioning exercise in the 
Ward of Hulme in Manchester. The ‘Nature of Hulme’ 
Project was designed to include a comprehensive, local 

and collaborative ‘natural capital’ benefits assessment 
and needs/opportunity mapping exercise for the ward. 
This approach incorporated refined and improved Green 
Infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
opportunity mapping methods.

Supporting and enabling schools

• Protecting Playgrounds - Funded by MCC and Transport 
for Greater Manchester, and working with Groundwork 
and Lancaster University, a new pilot scheme ‘Protecting 
Playgrounds’ is underway. The aim is to boost air quality 
in school playgrounds located next to major roads 
(Abbott Community Primary (Collyhurst) - Rochdale 
Road, Manchester Communication Academy Primary 
(Harpurhey) - Rochdale Road, Saint Ambrose RC 
Primary (Chorlton) - Princess Parkway, and Medlock 
Primary (Ardwick)- A6). It involves greening to provide 
natural filters to absorb pollution from passing traffic, as 
well as training pupils to monitor air pollution and devise 
cleaner routes. 

• Youth Climate Summits in July 2019 and January 2020 - The 
summit in January 2020 provided young people with a 
platform to express their concerns about climate change, 
question politicians and other agencies about what they 
are doing to address this issue and influence action 
for change. The summit was attended by 49 schools 
and youth groups including, 14 secondary schools, 
33 primary schools and two youth groups (250 young 
people and 50 staff attended the event). 

Supporting and enabling businesses and organisations

• Civic Quarter Heat Network (CQHN) - MCC are working in 
partnership with Vital Energi to create the Manchester 
Civic Quarter Heat Network. The network will provide 
a highly efficient heat and power solution for some of 
Manchester’s most iconic buildings (Including the Town 
Hall, Central Library, The Midland Hotel and Manchester 
Central), making significant carbon reductions.

• C-Change - Funding has been secured by MCC to deliver 
a project working in collaboration with Manchester Arts 
and Sustainability Team (MAST) to enable the group to 
develop a zero carbon roadmap aligned to Manchester’s 
zero carbon priorities, to further engage with residents 
and secure funding for key measures to support 
leadership capacity both within MAST and across the 
broader culture sector in the city. 

38 www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon Page 41

Item 4Appendix 1,



32

Manchester’s Strategic Partners

The Our Manchester Forum structure is made-up of a range 
of key strategic partners and groups. These include the 
Manchester Health and Wellbeing Board, the Manchester 
Work and Skills Board, the Age Friendly Manchester Older 
People’s Board, Manchester Youth Council, and others. 

Each of them will have their own unique potential, powers 
and resources they can contribute to the city’s climate 
change commitments. For example, ensuring that we 
respond to the health and wellbeing risks and opportunities 
associated with climate change. Ensuring that the city’s 
education organisations are helping our residents to 
develop the green skills they need to secure jobs in the 
city’s zero carbon economy. And ensuring that we tap into 
the passion, energy and experience of Manchester’s older 
people and younger residents.

Each of these strategic partners and groups will need 
to develop their own bespoke plans, alongside those 
developed by members of the Manchester Climate Change 
Partnership.
 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority

The Greater Manchester Environment Plan for 2019-2439 
sets out the Combined Authority’s commitments to climate 
change. Many of the actions in this Framework will be best 
delivered by working in partnership with GMCA and the other 
nine Greater Manchester districts. 

As with Manchester City Council, we have examples of 
where the Combined Authority is already responding 
positively to the needs of residents and organisations, 
to enable them to shift to lower carbon lifestyles and 
operations.

UK Government

Government also has its own plans40, to realise the 
commitment in the 2019 manifesto for the UK to ‘Reach 
Net Zero by 2050 with investment in clean energy solutions 
and green infrastructure to reduce carbon emissions and 
pollution41. 

Manchester and Greater Manchester need to build a strong 
partnership with Government to enable us to help meet the 
city, the city-region, and the UK’s commitments. COP26 in 
November 2020 provides a vital opportunity for us to this.

39 www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/
environment/ 

40 www.gov.uk/environment/climate-change-energy 
41 https://vote.conservatives.com/our-plan Page 42

Item 4Appendix 1,



33

New actions

The above plans will get us some way towards providing 
the support, incentives, standards and infrastructure that 
Manchester’s residents and organisations need. However, 
it is likely that there will be gaps. To fill them we need two 
things to work in tandem:

• Proactive joint-action by Manchester City Council, 
Manchester’s strategic partners, Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority and UK Government to deploy 
the powers and funding they have available, including 
instances where devolving Government powers and 
funding to the local level will enable us to move even 
quicker, and

• Proactive residents and organisations setting out the 
help they need and the action they’ll be able to take as 
a result. 

It’s in Manchester’s DNA for our residents and organisations 
to develop their own ideas to help make the city the best 
place it can be. Here are some points that might be useful 
when developing your ideas:

• Can you include examples of where your idea has been 
successfully delivered in other cities?

• Can you set out the potential health, wellbeing, 
employment, and other benefits to the city? 

• Can you describe what you’ll be able to do differently 
if the proposal is implemented. ‘Dear politician, if you 
do X, I’ll be able to do Y…’ can help create a powerful 
argument for our politicians to act.

Manchester City Council, Greater Manchester and UK 
Government politicians can be contacted at:

www.writetothem.
com/
 

Page 43

Item 4Appendix 1,



34

7. GOVERNANCE AND OUR 
PARTNERSHIP-BASED APPROACH

We have established a devolved, partnership-

based approach to meet our climate change 

commitments. It is built on two key components:

• Engaging and empowering Manchester residents and 
organisations to take action, using the Manchester 
Climate Change Partnership and its networks as our key 
engagement mechanism, and

• Joint working between Manchester City Council, 
Manchester’s strategic partners, Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority, UK Government, and their agencies 
to provide the support, incentives, standards and 
infrastructure residents and organisations need

This structure forms part of the city’s wider partnership-
based structure of key groups and strategic partners.

Our Manchester Forum and Manchester’s Strategic Partners

The Our Manchester Forum sits at the heart of the 
city’s partnership-based governance structure. It has 
responsibility for overseeing and championing the delivery 
of the Our Manchester Strategy. The Forum’s membership 
includes representatives from the Manchester Health 
and Wellbeing Board, the Manchester Work and Skills 
Board, the Strategic Education Partnership Board, the Age 
Friendly Manchester Older People’s Board, Manchester 
Youth Council, and others.

The Chair of the Manchester Climate Change Partnership 
is a member of the Forum. This enables the Partnership 
and Agency to work with strategic partners to help embed 
climate change as part of their core activities. 

Page 44

Item 4Appendix 1,



35

Manchester Climate Change Partnership and Agency

The Partnership and Agency are responsible for 
championing, coordinating and facilitating the 
implementation of this Framework. Their activities 
are focused on working with partners on the following 
headline objectives:
 
1) Helping our city to set the right objectives and targets, in 

line with the Paris Agreement and the latest science
2) Helping our city to establish the strategy, governance 

and partnerships needed to meet the targets
3) Helping our city to take action
4) Helping our city to understand its progress

The Partnership and Agency will develop their own action 
plan to set out further details on how they will deliver 
their objectives during 2020-25. It is envisaged this will 
be published in time for the Manchester Climate Change 
Annual Conference 2020 in July 2020.

Further information on the Partnership and Agency is 
available from: 

www.
manchesterclimate.
com/involved.

Working with Manchester City Council

Manchester City Council is a member of the Manchester 
Climate Change Partnership. This enables the other 
Partnership members to set out the barriers that are 
preventing them and their wider networks from fully 
delivering their climate change commitments. Where 
Manchester City Council has the powers and/or the 
resources to respond to these barriers, they will work 
collaboratively with the rest of the Partnership to deliver 
on them. Where they don’t they, will work to secure the 
necessary support from the relevant body, including Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and/or Government. 

Working with Greater Manchester Combined Authority

Many of the projects and programmes and the work we 
need to do with Government will be best delivered in 
partnership with Greater Manchester. The relationship 
between Manchester City Council, the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority and the other nine local authorities will 
be key to enable this to happen. 

Working with UK Government 

There will be activities which require additional powers and/
or funding from Government to enable them to be delivered. 
For example, changes in Government legislation to enable 
the Mayor of Greater Manchester to re-regulate the buses 
and deliver the planned improvements to bus services.

In these instances we need to build on the existing 
relationship between the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority and Government. 

The preparations for COP 26 provide us with a vital 
opportunity to cement an ambitious programme and 
partnership between Manchester, Greater Manchester 
and Government, ready to showcase to the world in 
November 2020.
 

Page 45

Item 4Appendix 1,



36

8. MEASURING AND 
REPORTING PROGRESS 

We will produce an annual report setting out the 

city’s progress at:

www.
manchesterclimate.
com/progress

These reports will describe progress against the city’s four 
climate change objectives, supported by monitoring and 
analysis by four independent advisory groups:

• Staying within our carbon budgets objective: 
 supported by the Manchester Zero Carbon Advisory 

Group42 

• Adaptation and resilience objective: 
 supported by the Manchester Adaptation and Resilience 

Advisory Group, to be set up in 2020
 
• Health and wellbeing objective: 
 group to be set up, in partnership with Manchester 

Health and Wellbeing Board

• Inclusive and zero carbon economy: 
 group to be set up, in partnership with the Manchester 

Work and Skills Board

We will also report progress as part of Manchester’s 
membership of the Global Covenant of Mayors, through the 
CDP-ICLEI Unified Reporting System. Copies of our reports 
will be available from www.cdp.net/en/responses, including our 
first submission from 2019. 

Ongoing news stories will be available from: 
www.manchesterclimate.com/news.

We will establish a system to enable Manchester 
organisations and sectors to measure and report their 
performance according to a consistent methodology.

42 http://www.manchesterclimate.com/zero-carbon-
advisory-group Page 46

Item 4Appendix 1,



37

9. KEEPING OUR TARGETS 
AND FRAMEWORK UP TO DATE

Action on climate change is a fast-moving 

agenda. It is likely there will be developments 

over the life of this Framework that will require it 

to be updated. 

Developments could include a new scientific report, in 
particular from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change, such as their Special Report on 1.5oC in 2018, 
which led to our review of targets in late 2019/early 2020 
(see Section 5.1). 

They could include recommendations from the independent 
advisory groups that we are setting up to monitor progress 
against the city’s objectives (see Section 8). CDP, who 
support cities around the world, will also continue to provide 
important input, building on their recommendation for us 
to add a new adaptation and resilience objective to this 
document (see Section 5.2).

Significant changes in local, national or international policy 
will likely require us to update our approach. Including 
those resulting in projects such as High Speed 2, Northern 
Powerhouse Rail, which will have a significant impact on 
the city.

The UK’s departure from the European Union will also likely 
have an impact on the content and implementation of this 
Framework, including changes in the accessibility of EU 
funding to UK organisations.

As set out in Section 5, we know this Framework would 
benefit from further details on what needs to be achieved 
and by when. It is intended these details will be developed 
as part of a refreshed version of this Framework. The 
timescales for this refresh are to be determined but are 
currently envisioned to be by 2023, balanced with the need 
to focus our limited resources on ensuring practical action 
happens as quickly and widely as possible.

Learning and best practice from other cities will also inform 
the development of this Framework. This will include through 
participating in the networks and projects referenced in 
Section 10.

 

Page 47

Item 4Appendix 1,



38

10. WORKING WITH OTHER CITIES

We want Manchester to be a leading city for 

action on climate change. Part of that leadership 

will come from testing and proving new solutions 

here that can be rolled out to other cities. 

However, it will also mean taking tried-and-tested 

solutions from elsewhere and using them to 

accelerate our rate of progress. 

Will we continue to compete with other cities? Absolutely. But 
built on a principle that has served Manchester so well in our 
previous endeavours: local solutions that we’ll share to help 
address this most urgent of global challenges.

Greater Manchester

As set out above, working with the other nine districts and 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority is key to delivering 
programmes at the rate and scale we need, including where 
we need to secure support from Government. 

UK Cities and the Core Cities Network

In the UK, the Core Cities network43 provides a group of 
key peers for Manchester to share with and learn from. It 
also provides a critically important vehicle for developing 
proposals to Government, including the October 2019 
climate emergency declaration44.

European and International Cities and Networks

Manchester will continue to benefit from the opportunities 
that we’ve already realised from participating in European 
and international networks and projects. These include the 
EU Covenant of Mayors45, Global Covenant of Mayors46, 
Eurocities47 and the many EU-funded projects that have 
enabled the city to accelerate its action on climate change, 
at the same time as sharing with others to support them. 

We will continue this work during 2020-25, include through 
the GrowGreen project to use nature-based solutions to help 
Manchester and our five partner cities adapt to the changing 
climate48. The C-Change project to support the arts and 
culture sectors in Manchester and five other cities to act49. 
We will build on the platform established by the Triangulum 
project and look to establish the Corridor as a zero carbon 
innovation district50. 

The Zero Carbon Cities project will support the development 
of a refreshed version of this Framework and help our six 
partners cities to develop Paris Agreement-aligned targets 
and plans, and the governance needed to deliver them51. 
We will also work with the University of Manchester and 
five EU cities to share and support the further development 
of Manchester’s partnership-based approach to climate 
action52. 

43 www.corecities.comn
44 www.corecities.com/cities/agenda/environment/

core-cities-uk-climate-emergency-declaration
45 www.covenantofmayors.eu/en/
46 www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/
47 www.eurocities.eu
48 http://growgreenproject.eu/
49 https://urbact.eu/c-change
50 https://www.triangulum-project.eu/
51 https://urbact.eu/zero-carbon-cities
52 ‘Polycentric pioneers? Explaining variations in 

governance models and their impacts on local 
climate change policy’; https://www.research.
manchester.ac.uk/portal/paul.tobin.html Page 48

Item 4Appendix 1,



39

11. FURTHER INFORMATION 
AND GET INVOLVED

Further Information

For further information you can contact the Manchester Climate Change Agency at:

info@manchesterclimate.com
@McrClimate
www.manchesterclimate.com

Get Involved

Get involved right now! Visit our list of 15 Actions to get started or to add a new action to your existing commitments:

www.manchesterclimate.com/15-actions
 

Page 49

Item 4Appendix 1,



40

12. THANK YOU

This Framework is built on the need for collective, 

citywide action by everyone in Manchester. This 

isn’t a new thing for the city, we’ve been doing it 

for over 10 years now.

So, to all of those who have been on this journey, whether for 
10 years, or for 10 days, thank you. 

To the youth strikers and the campaigners, thank you; keep 
up your passionate proposals to help make Manchester the 
city we all want it to be. 

Thank you to Manchester City Council for the opportunity 
to develop this Framework. Through opening up the policy-
making process we believe this creates the platform for the 
structural and systemic changes we all need, through both 
local policy and working with Government on the national 
policies and funding we need.

Thank you to those who have taken time to support the 
development of this Framework, including the Tyndall Centre 
for Climate Research at the University of Manchester, CDP, 
the University of Manchester, Anthesis and other partners. 
We look forward to continuing our work with you.

And finally, if this document has inspired you to get involved 
in climate change action for the first time, thank you for 
joining us!

Manchester Climate Change Partnership
February 2020

Page 50

Item 4Appendix 1,



41Page 51

Item 4Appendix 1,



42

Published by Manchester Climate Change Partnership and Agency
February 2020

Page 52

Item 4Appendix 1,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

Appendix 2: 

Manchester Climate Change Partnership 

Members’ Action Plans – summary

Manchester Climate Change 

Framework 2020-25

P
age 53

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

Introduction

Sector/organisation
Page 

Number

1. Bruntwood 3

2. Electricity North West (ENW) 5

3. MAST (Manchester Arts Sustainability Team) 7

4. Manchester City Council (MCC) 10

5. Manchester City Football Club (MCFC) 12

6. Manchester Housing Providers Partnership (MHPP) 14

7. Manchester Metropolitan University (MMU) 16

8. NHS Manchester 18

9. Our Faith, Our Plant (faith network) 21

10. University of Manchester (UoM) 22

Non-
domestic

38%

Domestic
30%

Transport
32%

City of Manchester Emissions 
2017*

This document is a summary of the actions planned to be taken by the Manchester Climate Change Partnership

(MCCP) members during 2020-25. Each member’s profile includes their latest buildings and transport CO2

emissions. The members' buildings emissions are shown in the pie chart as a percentage of the city's total

emissions. A breakdown of transport emissions is displayed in a table. This was done as we are confident that

buildings emissions are within the Manchester boundary whereas for transport, the boundary is harder to establish

(i.e. journeys may start outside Manchester). In some cases estimations have been made which are explained in the

footnotes. In cases where primary data is not available estimates have been provided, to be used as the basis of

improvements in future reports.

Some organisations have reported their emissions in CO2e (which includes non-CO2 greenhouse gases) while

others have reported just CO2 emissions. However, given non-CO2 greenhouse gases make up a very small

percentage of the city’s total emissions it does not make a significant difference to the figures in this document.

*BEIS city level emissions dataset for 2017 (Published in June 2019) 

P
age 54

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

1. Bruntwood

3

Profile: 

• Bruntwood own, let and manage buildings, workspace, and science facilities.

• They work with over 3,000 businesses and own over 100 landmark properties (nationally).

• Bruntwood were the first UK commercial property company to sign the World Green Building Council’s

Advancing Net Zero commitment

• Two parts of the business are relevant to Manchester:

1. Sci-Tech (property portfolio dedicated to driving the growth of the science and technology sector)

2. Works (office space leasing to other businesses).

Bruntwood 
Buildings 

0.63%
Other non-
domestic 

37%

Domestic
30%

Transport 
32%

Bruntwood buildings1 emissions 
contribution

Buildings (Including 

customer energy 

consumption)2

13,076 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel4 80

Staff commuting -

Visitor travel
-

Buildings (Directly 

owned & 

controlled)3

5,385 tCO2

1The 0.63% figure includes emissions from Bruntwood’s offices and communal spaces as well as customer energy consumption.
2Customer/tenant energy consumption calculated based on estimates of where they get their energy supply from
3Emissions from Bruntwood offices and areas where Bruntwood has operational control.
4 Manchester only travel figure estimated to be 1/3rd of Bruntwood’s total business travel.

P
age 55

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

4

1. Bruntwood

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

1. Invested in a solar deployment strategy across a number of our buildings.

2. Utilising sensor technology – we introduced a number of sensors in our MCR city centre and Trafford offices to monitor CO2, humidity and temperature. Using the data 

from these sensors, we have introduced green infrastructure to reduce CO2 levels and manage temperatures.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

1. The solar strategy mentioned above will directly impact our customers / stakeholders.

2. Stakeholder engagement programme – including colleagues, customers and communities.

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

Reduce carbon intensity (kgCO2e/m2) by 100% by 2030 compared to a 2017/18 baseline. 

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

1. Develop Science Based Targets for Scope 3 emissions

2. Procure 100% renewable electricity for all of our estate 

3. Consumption from onsite renewables

4. Reduce energy intensity (kWh/m2)

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

1. Work with our customers to educate on how best to use the spaces they occupy in the most efficient.

2. Work together with MCC, GMCA, MCCP in support of their zero carbon plans

3. Encourage other property businesses to create their own sustainability strategies with targets for CO2 emissions

The following is a summary of Bruntwood’s Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. 

P
age 56

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

2. Electricity North West (ENW)

5

Profile

• Electricity North West is the electricity distribution 

network operator (‘DNO’), responsible for the 

administration and maintenance of the network, that 

distributes electricity throughout the North West of 

England. 

• ENW launched their Leading the North West to 

Zero Carbon plan in 2019

ENW’s total emissions for FY2019 were 20,416.71 tCO2e. An estimate by population (Manchester is 7% of  the North 

West population) can be made to establish a Manchester proportion of the total emissions (0.02%). This is a broad 

estimate to get an idea of ENW’s contribution to the city’s emissions. In the absence of accurate  “Manchester only” 

emissions data, it is useful to mention that when it comes to reporting, ensuring that a company’s emissions are being 

measured, reported and used to drive CO2 reduction actions is a priority and as long as tangible actions are being 

taken, the absence of Manchester only data is less problematic.

P
age 57

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

2. Electricity North West (ENW)

6

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

We launched our Leading the North West to Zero Carbon Plan, which will see us spending £63.5m to decarbonise our own operations and help businesses, colleagues and 

customers to do the same in the next three years.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

We commissioned research with the Tyndall Centre into what the top five things that SMEs should do now to decarbonise.  We’re now feeding that information into SMEs.  

We increased our business to business engagement to help business users and local authorities.

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

10% reductions year on year for our own operations, two carbon neutral depots, roll out our Smart Street technology, which optimises the voltage on the electricity network, 

making domestic appliances run more efficiently and potentially saving customers up to £60 per a year on their electricity bill.

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

Help to increase the amount of renewable generation connected to the network and invest to ensure that there’s capacity required to support the mass adoption of low 

carbon technologies.

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

Provide trusted impartial advice and support to stakeholders to enable them to make least regrets investment decisions in low carbon technologies.  

The following is a summary of ENW’s Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan can be found: https://www.enwl.co.uk/globalassets/zero-

carbon/documents/leading-the-north-west-to-zero--carbon.pdf

P
age 58

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

https://www.enwl.co.uk/globalassets/zero-carbon/documents/leading-the-north-west-to-zero--carbon.pdf


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

3. Manchester Arts Sustainability Team (MAST)

7

Profile: 

• The Manchester Arts Sustainability Team (MAST) is a cross-sector network of 

cultural and arts organisations committed to working together to reduce their 

environmental impacts 

• MAST has over 30 members1: 7 arts centres, 2 theatres, 3 museums, 3 galleries, 

2 festivals, 2 broadcasters1,  1 music venue, 1 concert hall, 1 production 

company, 1 digital innovation company, 1 recycling company, 1 university1, 1 

college, 1 city council1.

• Key opportunity to influence member and attendee behaviours in addition to their 

own buildings and transport.  

MAST Buildings 
0.4%

Other non-
domestic 

38%

Transport
30%

Transport
32%

MAST Buildings Emissions Contribution Buildings (Directly2

Owned & Controlled)

8,124 tCO2e

Transport tCO2e

Business travel -

Staff commuting -

Visitor travel -

1The City Council and University of Manchester (UoM) are reported separately. Broadcasters (BBC & ITV) and the Lowry are outside of the City

boundary, however, will be represented in the action plans. Note that data is based on the 2011-2016 report: “5 years of cultural collaboration for a

more sustainable Manchester” (which uses data reported via Julie’s Bicycle). Since the publishing of this report, some organisations are no longer a

part of MAST and new organisations have joined. However in the absence of a formal report or listing of those organisations and their emissions data,

the 2011-2016 report has been used until more recent information becomes available.

2The buildings emissions figure represents 22 organisations, 13 of which reported in the 2011-2016 report and estimates were made for the remaining

9, using an average of 13 that did (12 excluding the Lowry due to it being out of boundary in Salford).

P
age 59

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

https://www.juliesbicycle.com/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=1253a736-5303-48fd-b61e-92cc51e1042b


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

8

3. Manchester Arts Sustainability Team (MAST)

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

During 2019-20 two specific funded projects have been active to help us imagine a zero carbon culture sector in our city and region. C-Change is an URBACT transfer network 

being led by MCC and MAST and sees us share our collaborative model with five other EU cities. For MAST and Manchester this has been focused on creating better pathways 

between the sector and the municipality, looking at areas for policy development, formalising a relationship between MAST and the city’s cultural leaders as well as 

expanding the network and its reach into the Combined Authority.

MAST has also been part of Arts Council England – Accelerator Programme exploring our roadmap to zero carbon where we have explored ambition and challenge. Three 

MAST member organisations are participating in ACE’s Spotlight Programme focusing on science-based targets and zero carbon pathways for buildings.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

We have as part of C-Change matched the funding to create climate change themed cultural activities acknowledging that our sector has great opportunity around engaging 

with citizens. MAST has also continued working closely with the GM Business Growth Hub to explore sustainable procurement and what our zero carbon sector may look like 

and the journey to get there. MAST is evolving a new vision and mission to better support and motivate the sector to deliver the city’s zero carbon target.

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

To reduce our carbon footprint by 50% from 18-19 levels based on energy as well as working to achieve quantifiable reductions in our impacts relating to water, waste and 

business travel. 

Position - MAST will help the sector to better report its carbon in line with the developing methodology for the city. We will also work to ensure that this is compatible with 

other reporting that the funded part of the sector currently submits. Areas which need focus included business travel including aviation and a better understanding of our 

staff and the impact of audience travel.

Place - Cultural spaces both permanent and temporary must have less impact going forward. We must focus on energy efficiency, water conservation, green procurement, 

reduction in waste and single use materials. We acknowledge that we must support biodiversity wherever possible. In line with ACE capital policy future investment in cultural 

places should prioritise refurbishment to help achieve less impact and using what we already have, over new build and new construction.

Practice - Our city and region are culturally rich with much creativity and innovation. The way we make our work, present and move it must evolve as must our collaboration 

and sharing of resource. Key areas for improvement include reducing the impact of materials we use through circular economy models and reduction of carbon through our 

investments such as banking, pensions and sponsorship we receive. 

The following is a summary of MAST’s Draft Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025 on behalf of the culture sector. The full plan is in 

consultation and will be published in April 2020 

P
age 60

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

9

3. Manchester Arts Sustainability Team (MAST)

People  - We recognise our sector’s strength with advocacy and that we can help engage residents and communities in taking climate actions. We commit to making and 

delivering creative output to help promote greater understanding. We will help reduce the impact of consumption when we bring people together. We enjoy a large creative 

community and will continue to skill and educate in low carbon best practice. We will continue to openly share our sector specific version of Carbon Literacy and other 

learning. We commit to seeking deeper collaboration and collective action within our sector regionally, nationally and internationally and to share our practice and learn 

from others.

Policy  - In order to advocate for change we will lobby to empower and enable our sector to deliver our targets. We will recommend that individual organisations share policy 

and targets with each other and the communities we serve. We will focus particularly on funding to enable our places to reduce their impact as well as improving access to 

culture by low and zero carbon means. We will lobby for all cultural funding to recognise the impact of climate change and enable positive action through funding to enable 

retrofit to remove reliance on fossil fuels.

Planning  - We commit to continuing to plan for our collective future and recognise that some of our ambition may not be possible within the next 5 years and more likely to 

be achieved in a subsequent period. We will use this to prioritise the most effective methods of carbon reduction that can be achieved during this action plan. We 

acknowledge that MAST must now evolve and change to better support the sector and will seek partners to enable this.

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

We will develop specific projects to enable urgent action in the following areas:

• Energy management, efficiency and green procurement.

• Business, staff and audience travel.

• Joint action with our landlords and tenants.

• The recognition that sustainability is a priority within cultural organisations and must be appropriately resourced in future business planning.

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

We commit to:

• Consistently present climate related cultural work that will engage with citizens.

• Mobilise the creative community through education and support.

• Deeper collaboration, knowledge and resource sharing at all levels.

• Evolve our network to better deliver support to our sector.

• Invest and explore more effective climate leadership for our sector.

P
age 61

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

4. Manchester City Council (MCC)

10

Profile: 

• Manchester City Council’s (MCC) direct emissions 2018/19 were split into Buildings and Other.

• “Other” includes traffic signaling1 and streetlights.

• Business Travel includes MCC Fleet, MCC Grey Fleet, MCC Taxis, MCC Train, MCC Air Travel, MCC Car 

Club, Waste Collection Fleet

MCC 
Buildings

1.2%

Other non-
domestic 

37%

Domestic 
30%

Transport 
32%

MCC Other
0.3%

MCC Buildings Emissions Contribution
Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

25,789 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel 4,621

Staff commuting -

Visitor travel -

1In the following years traffic signals are expected be accounted for at a Greater Manchester level and will therefore not be included in 

MCC emissions

P
age 62

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

11

4. Manchester City Council (MCC)

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 to 

reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

•Established a Zero Carbon Coordination Group and associated programme management to embed zero carbon into all Council decision making.

•Civic Quarter Heat Network construction at a cost of £26 million which will save 1,600 tonnes of CO2 per annum.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

•Held two Youth Climate Summits in July 2019 and January 2020 to engage young people and schools in support of the climate emergency.

•Trialled an additional 10% environmental social value weighting on tenders to increase the total social value weighting to 30%. 

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

At least a 50% reduction in the Councils direct CO2 emissions by 2025.

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

•Roll out a programme of energy efficiency and energy generation investment across Council operated buildings.

•Agree a business case and funding to replacement half of the Biffa Waste Lorry fleet with Electric Vehicles.

•Develop a feasibility study and business case for a large scale energy generation site.

•Roll out the Our Climate, Our City Carbon Literacy training across the organisation.

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

•Embed the additional 10% social value weighting for the environment into all tenders.

•Arrange events with the city’s schools to support them to improve energy efficiency and develop energy generation across their buildings.

•Deliver a citywide communications campaign to support behaviour change in residents, workers and businesses.

•Deliver bespoke information sessions to businesses and organisations in the city.

•Develop a new Local Plan (citywide planning document) by 2023.

The following is a summary of Manchester City Council’s Climate Change Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan can be found: 

www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon

P
age 63

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

about:blank


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

12

Profile: 

• Over 30 football1 & concert events held by Manchester City Football Club over the year.

• Each event attended by c.50,000 people per event.

• Estate comprises of the main Etihad stadium plus a number of offices and training buildings and facilities.

1 All competitions

5. Manchester City Football Club (MCFC)

MCFC 
Buildings 

0.3%

Other Non-
domestic

38%

Domestic 
30%

Transport 
32%

MCFC Buildings Emissions Contribution
Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

5,756 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel 5,630

Staff commuting 2,664

Visitor travel 1,990

P
age 64

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

13

5. Manchester City Football Club (MCFC)

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 to 

reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

- Completed the change of light fittings (Stadium) to LED, reducing consumption by just over 1million kw/h

- Begun an active programme of energy use behaviours to reduce consumption and energy waste across the organisation – going well

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

- We are working with partners and stakeholders across the Etihad Campus to share information and benefits – resulting in Campus framework

- Reduced packaging (inward and outward) and with partners/stakeholders removed all single-use plastic from match/event days and have on trial an 

anaerobic digester for both food and grass waste where source reduction isn’t possible 

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

- Significant change in energy consumption behaviours - 1,000,000 Kw/h of energy via change to LED

- Removal of all consumable plastics, packaging across the business - 88,000 single use plastic cups per match/concert (x23) = reduction of 2.2million/annum

- A practical and credible travel and transport plan that is working and in place – with emphasis on active travel – for fans, staff, visitors - Authorised travel 

reduction of 5% and fan travel by 2.3% (estimated)

- The further development of our biodiversity and ecology – with year-on-year growth in habitat, wildlife and active engagement

- The development of estate and property in line with the UN Sustainable Development Goals

- Realisation of triple bottom line across the business demonstrating the protection of the business and its growth with authentic results in social value and 

environmental impact (reduction)

- A fully engaged, knowledgeable and innovative workforce and supported base that champions best practice and challenges actions and impact.

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

- Transport and travel - we have put in place a new travel plan and authorisation for staff/authorised travel that seeks both financial and CO2 calculations to 

ensure reduction and awareness of both – the aim is to achieve a reduction in travel of circa 10% annum and uplifted use of desk-desk conference calling

- Energy consumption – managing heat/cooling loss; reduction by 1.5% in heating and cooling temps – review of BMS and PIR holding times

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

- Transport - working with stakeholders and partners to promote best use of walking routes, cycling and public transport over the five years, existing action 

plan that will aim to see a move to sustainable and/or active travel of up to 30%

- Energy - sharing aims and information about consumption behaviours and changes in a range of actions that include stand-by; materials/fabric first; and 

promoting best practice and opportunities by way of profile, best practice sharing, incentives

- Waste, packaging, plastics - working with suppliers, contractors, partners etc to ensure that inward and outward packaging is reduced/eradicated; that 

materials used are sustainably sourced and that there is inclusive action to identify credible options to plastic

The following is a summary of Manchester City’s Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan will be available from March 2020

P
age 65

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

6. Manchester Housing Providers 

Partnership (MHPP)

14

Profile:

• The Manchester Housing Providers Partnership (MHPP) brings together Manchester’s registered housing 

providers.

• There are 17 registered housing providers that are all members with stock holdings across Manchester.  

Non-
domestic 

38%

MHPP 
Buildings

9%

Other 
Domestic

21%

Transport 
32%

MHPP Buildings1 Emissions Contribution Buildings 187,800 tCO2

Transport tCO2e

Business travel
-

Staff commuting -

Visitor travel -

12017 BEIS local emissions data (domestic total) apportioned based on the Manchester proportion of social housing (30%, 

Manchester Housing Strategy 2016 - 2025). 

P
age 66

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

15

6. Manchester Housing Providers 

Partnership (MHPP)

The following is a summary of Manchester Housing Provider Partnership Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan can be found: 

https://www.mhpp.info

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

• Agreed to develop investment plans to quantify the cost of making all assets zero carbon by 2025.

• Agreed to move to fully electrified fleet by 2025.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Agreed to become a fully Carbon Literate by 2025.

• Agreed to  develop a communications strategy to be delivered through all available channels and action plan for targeted engagement.

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

• Targets to be developed

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

• All business decisions must demonstrate carbon reduction has been a key consideration through an environmental impact assessment.

• Assess current infrastructure and lease arrangements and move to a fully electrified fleet.

• Ensure all electrical energy procurement is through suppliers of renewable electricity.

• Consider renewable heating for all developments projects before gas boilers.

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Develop procurement policy to ensure all contractors are assessed based on their own environmental policies.

• Develop a communications strategy to be delivered through all available channels and action plan for targeted engagement.

P
age 67

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

https://www.mhpp.info/


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

7. Manchester Metropolitan 

University (MMU)

16

Profile

• Manchester Metropolitan University is the sixth-largest university in the United Kingdom by enrollment 

(33,010 total students) 

• Manchester Metropolitan University is the UK’s second greenest university according to the People and 

Planet League 2019.

MMU 
Buildings 

0.5%

Other Non-
domestic 

37%

Domestic
30%

Transport 
32%

MMU Buildings Emissions Contribution
Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

11,342 tCO2e

Transport tCO2e

Business travel 1,621

Staff commuting 2,085

Visitor travel (student 

commuting)
11,030

P
age 68

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

17

7. Manchester Metropolitan University 

(MMU)
The following is a summary of Manchester Metropolitan University’s Zero Carbon Plans. The University’s full 2030 plan will be available in  

January 2021 . The current 2020/21 plan is available at the following link https://view.publitas.com/p222-7553/manchester-metropolitan-

university-environmental-sustainability-strategy-2014-2020/page/1

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

• Completed an Estate Infrastructure Masterplan (2020-2030) which will establish three energy centres on campus. This has provided a pathway for the development 

of the Manchester Met Zero Carbon Management Plan, completed by July 2020. This will be re drafted every 6 years, to ensure the University is on a pathway to 

zero carbon by 2038 (Scope 1 and 2 emissions). The University has also reduced scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 48.2% (up to July 2019) from a 2005-06 baseline. 

• Developed a new leadership and governance structure to steer the environment/climate agenda, chaired by the University’s Provost and Deputy Vice-Chancellor.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 

2020 to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Achieved level four (five is the highest) in the Sustainable Procurement Flexible Framework to ensure sustainability (including carbon reduction) is embedded into 

the University’s tendering process. 

• The University’s Waste to Resource Innovation Network based within the Faculty of Science and Engineering secured £9.6m of European Regional Development 

funding to be part of new project called TRANSFORM-CE. In collaboration with 36 other Universities, government bodies and  businesses across four countries, the 

project will aim to turn plastic waste into new products through additive manufacturing (3D printing) and injection moulding and supporting business to adopt 

circular economy models.

• Continued to deliver our Carbon Literacy training programme to our students with 320 students achieving certification in 2018/19.  

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

• Development and delivery of the Manchester Met’s 2026 Carbon Management Plan developing  a pathway to zero carbon by 2038, by July 2020.

• Development and delivery of a new Manchester Met 2030 Environmental Sustainability Strategy. This will include a number of objectives and targets that will work 

towards reducing scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions. It will include educating our staff and students, developing environmentally aware future leaders and conducting 

impactful world leading research to address climate change.   Full Plan will be published in ~ January 2021

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the 

CO2 emissions directly under its control?

• Development and delivery of the Manchester Met 2026 Carbon Management Plan developing a pathway to zero carbon by 2038.

• Delivery of a student led Carbon Literacy programme to the University’s Leadership Forum (~ 100 leaders across the University). 

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Development and delivery of a new 2030 Manchester Met Environmental Sustainability Strategy. This will include a number of objectives that will work towards 

reducing carbon scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions. It will include educating staff and students, developing environmentally aware future leaders and conducting impactful 

world leading research to address climate change.   

P
age 69

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

about:blank


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

8. NHS Manchester

18

Profile: 

• There are numerous healthcare facilities across the city, in addition to NHS-owned and controlled fleet and 

transport emissions associated with patients, visitors and supply chains. 

• In Manchester there are 9 hospitals plus GP surgeries, walk-in clinics and community healthcare facilities.

• The Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) collate and report NHS emission data. 

• The current low-carbon investment strategy is looking at CHP, LED lighting, BMS optimisation and 

renewables. 

• The NHS’s footprint is directly impacted by other city sectors such as transport (air quality) and housing 

(social care/fuel poverty)

Health 
Buildings

3%

Other non-
domestic 

35%

Domestic
30%

Transport
32%

NHS Manchester Emissions Contribution Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

73,248 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel 568

Staff commuting 8,100

Visitor travel 12,643

*The buildings and transport data was scaled up from Manchester Foundation Trust’s (MFT) 2017/18 data which shows MFT to be 82% of the NHS Manchester 
footprint. These numbers therefore provide an estimate that will be refined when more representative primary data becomes available.

P
age 70

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

19

8. NHS Manchester

The following is a summary of Manchester University’s NHS Foundation Trust’s Sustainable Development Management Plan 2018-2023. Zero 

Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan can be found: https://mft.nhs.uk/app/uploads/2020/01/SDMP_Refresh2020_FINAL.pdf

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 to 

reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

We have continued with a programme of building energy upgrades. For example over 9,000 LED light fittings have been installed, saving 1,300,000kWh of electricity this year. 

Other schemes have included building management system upgrades and replacement of heating infrastructure.

Anaesthesia accounts for 4% of our carbon footprint. Anaesthetists are leading on a programme to implement measures to reduce this, including the elimination of the use of 

desflurane (unless medically indicated) across most hospitals and the removal of nitrous oxide back up cylinders.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 

to influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

Throughout 2019/20 we have been working closely with the Integrated Care System (ICS) – the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership to collaborate with 

other GM healthcare organisations on a regional sustainability work programme. In November 2019, MFT publicly declared a climate emergency, committing to deliver the GM 

net zero carbon by 2038 target and fast tracking the delivery of our SDMP. This was widely communicated across our stakeholders and we will be building on this in 2020/21, by 

targeting areas of significant carbon hotspots. The National Greener NHS Campaign was launched in January 2020, and we contributed one of 3 NHS case studies for the launch 

materials, sharing our work on sustainable and active travel.

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

We set targets in line with our SDMP, the current version of which runs until 2023. Our headline goal on carbon reduction is to reduce our core carbon emissions by 33% by 

2023/24 against the 2017/18 baseline, working within our carbon budget for the period of this plan, and influence reductions in carbon emissions from our supply chain and 

community. Our publicly available plan shows the annual carbon budgets and trajectory, and we report on progress in our annual sustainability report.

P
age 71

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

https://mft.nhs.uk/app/uploads/2020/01/SDMP_Refresh2020_FINAL.pdf


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

20

8. NHS Manchester

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

Our SDMP contains details of all our objectives that we will take to reduce the CO2 emissions directly under our control. Some examples include;

- Adopt the GMCA zero carbon buildings by 2028 target for all new Trust developments. This includes the redevelopment of two major hospital campuses.

- Monitor utility consumption across the Estates and deliver a programme of targeted energy and water efficiency schemes to manage and drive down use.

- Increase on-site energy generation capacity from renewable sources

- Pilot the redesign of selected care pathways to drive out any unnecessary stages

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

Our SDMP contains details of all our objectives that will influence or support stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions. Some examples include;

- Include travel and transport sustainability criteria within key contracts

- Embrace new and existing digital technologies to reduce the environmental impact of care, prevent ill health and management long-term health conditions

- Adopt a whole life cycle approach to purchasing

- Weight social value outcomes when procuring new services in the design and building of a new space, for example, use of local suppliers and SMEs.

P
age 72

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

9. Our Faith, Our Planet (faith network)

21

Profile: 

• The ‘Our Faith Our Planet’ group was established in 2017 to enable Manchester’s faith sector to develop its 

response to climate change

• The Our Faith, Our Planet Group works with the Greater Manchester Faith Leaders group the the Faith 

Network 4 Manchester (interfaith) group

• The Our Faith, Our Planet group is currently made up of 10 faiths including Christian (Anglican, Catholic & 

Methodist), Buddhist, Hindu ,Sikh, Jewish, Jain, Bahá’í and Sufi Muslim. 

• The faith sector is one of the most complex of all sectors represented in the Manchester Climate Change 

Partnership

• Action plan to be developed once resources have been secured.

Faith Buildings 
0.03%

Other non-
domestic 

38%

Domestic
30%

Transport 
32%

Faith Sector Buildings Emissions 
Contribution

Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

687 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel
-

Staff commuting -

Visitor travel -

21

• Data based on registered places of worship in Manchester (420). (2015 Places of Worship, HM Passport Office) 

• Assuming an average square meterage based on capacity of building (c250m2).

• Applying an average CO2 per m2 (0.023482 tCO2/m
2) to the total floorspace estimated.

• Average CO2 based on Bruntwood’s 2017 CO2e per m2 (acknowledging this will be a significant underestimate for the faith sector due to lower 

efficiency/less frequent use etc). 

P
age 73

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/143fdbae-daae-45b1-b970-061dcaaf109f/places-of-worship


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

10. University of Manchester (UoM)

22

Profile

• University of Manchester is the second-largest university in the United Kingdom by enrollment (40,490 total 

students).

• The University of Manchester is the largest single-site university in the UK.

UoM 
Buildings 

2.4%

Other non-
domestic 

36%

Domestic 
30%

Transport 
32%

UoM Buildings Emissions Contribution Buildings (Directly 

Owned & Controlled)

50,535 tCO2

Transport tCO2

Business travel 15,197

Staff commuting 7,445

Visitor travel (student travel) 3,371

P
age 74

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

23

10. University of Manchester (UoM)

The following is a summary of The University of Manchester Zero Carbon Action Plan 2020-2025. The full plan will be published in December 2020.

1.  Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your emissions: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 to 

reduce the CO2 emissions directly under its control?

• Revolving Green Fund - 3 LED lighting projects were completed in AV Hill, Williamson and Schuster, annual CO2 savings are 116 tCO2 and lifetime CO2 savings are 2,300 tCO2.

• Opened 2 BREEAM Excellent buildings, the Unsworth Park residences and the Henry Royce Institute. Completed a zero carbon study on the Royce building to provide design 

options for zero carbon research buildings.

2. Headline achievements 2019/2020 - Your stakeholders: What are the two key actions that your organization/sector took between April 2019 to March 2020 to 

influence or support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Developed the University vision and strategic plan that adopts the city’s zero carbon target, with a KPI for an average 13% year on year carbon reduction for Scope 1 and 2.

• Engagement programmes with staff and students :–

• Zero carbon workshop with senior managers across the estate, including key members of staff responsible for construction and operations. 

• Launched Team Actions and LEAF, engaged over 450 staff in Green Impact, engaged with a network of 381 staff champions, actively working alongside 196 staff to implement 

changes including undertaking resilience and influencing training.

• Face-to-face and online Carbon Literacy training sessions (22 people certified).

• Launched a UCIL module on the Sustainable Development Goals; the course brings together more than 80 contributors from policy, practice, academia and the public. This 

includes experts from the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, the Manchester Urban Institute, Industry 4.0, the Global Development Institute, the Humanitarian and 

Conflict Response Institute, and graduates of our Equity and Merit scholarship programme.

• 4,676 first year students completed half a day’s action-based learning on sustainability as part of the University’s Ethical Grand Challenges. 

3. Headline targets achieved by 2025: What specific CO2 reduction targets do you aim to have achieved by 2025? 

• Carbon reduction pathway to zero carbon by 2038, which involves an average 13% annual reduction from a baseline 53,836 tCO2 (2017/18) to 17,669 tCO2 by 2025.

• Eliminating avoidable single use plastic from catering, stationery and laboratories by 2022. 

• Business air travel reduction by 12% (based on km travelled) from 2014/15 baseline by 2022.

4. Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your emissions:  What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to reduce the CO2

emissions directly under its control?

• Publish our Zero Carbon Pathway document outlining steps necessary to achieve zero carbon, including:

o Design and cost all ongoing works for zero carbon.  Where funding is not available, have plans in place for retrofit in the future. 

o Start a programme of building retrofit for energy conservation.

o Explore options for on-site and off-site renewables. 

o Research conversion of newer buildings to zero carbon operations.

o Establish procedures to ensure new equipment purchases include lifecycle carbon impact.

o Implement a behaviour change programme. 

• Vacate buildings on the North Campus and occupy the new Manchester Engineering Campus Development reducing emissions by up to 46%.

• Action plan to reduce University related air travel.

P
age 75

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,

about:blank


INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

24

10. University of Manchester (UoM)

5.  Urgent Actions for 2020-2025 - Your stakeholders: What are some urgent actions your organization/sector will take in the next five years to influence or 

support its stakeholders to reduce their CO2 emissions?

• Publish our Environmental Sustainability Framework for the University.

• Embed zero carbon and climate resilience within our Campus Masterplan and Estates Strategy.

• Launch an engagement platform for students to take action on sustainability and continue delivering Ethical Grand Challenges.

• Share the impact of the University’s most significant research on environmental sustainability and climate change. 

• Develop strategic partnerships to engage staff, students, alumni and other communities in responsible schemes to support proven natural solutions to capture carbon, 

restore the natural world and enhance environmental sustainability.

• Roll out Carbon Literacy training to staff, students and lab users.

• Deliver a programme of sustainability seminars to raise awareness and educate staff and students on developments in zero carbon opportunities.

• Continue to work alongside our supply chain to deliver carbon savings.

• Investigate devolved energy and carbon budgets.P
age 76

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



INSERT SLIDE TITLE HERE

<INSERT DESCRIPTION HERE IF 

NECESSARY>

25

Published by Manchester Climate Change Partnership and Agency

February 2020

P
age 77

Item
 4

A
ppendix 2,



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny Committee – 4 

March 2020 
 Executive - 11 March 2020 
 
Subject: Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25 
 
Report of:  Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
 

 
Summary 
 
Manchester City Council’s Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25 sets out the actions 
that need to be delivered to ensure that the Council plays its full part in delivering the 
city’s zero carbon ambition. The Plan includes the actions which will achieve a 50% 
reduction in the Council’s direct CO2 emissions between 2020 and 2025, as well as 
the enabling and influencing actions which will support the city’s zero carbon 
ambitions.    
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that the Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny 
Committee:  

 
1. Note and comment on the content of the Manchester City Council Climate 

Change Action Plan 2020-25. 
 
It is recommended that Executive: 
 
1. Adopt the Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25. 
 
2. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, in 

consultation with the Executive Member for Environment, Planning and 
Transport, to update and amend the action plan as necessary. Future editions 
of the action plan to be reported to the Neighbourhoods and Environment 
Scrutiny Committee and published on the Council’s website at: 
www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon  

 

 
Wards Affected: All  
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

Developing a citywide climate change framework is fundamental to ensuring that 
everyone in the city plays their full part in addressing climate change. The Council is 
one of the key stakeholders who have committed to producing an action plan by March 
2020 which sets out the Council’s role in tackling our own emissions and influencing 

Page 79

Item 5



and supporting a reduction across the whole city. Delivering the 5 year plan will require 
a significant level of new revenue and capital investment to build on the existing 
resources which are already committed to improving the city’s environment. 

 

Manchester Strategy 
outcomes 

Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable 
city: supporting a diverse 
and distinctive economy that 
creates jobs and 
opportunities 

The transition to a zero carbon city will help the city’s 
economy become more sustainable and will generate 
jobs within the low carbon energy and goods sector. This 
will support the implementation of the Our Manchester 
Industrial Strategy. 

A highly skilled city: world 
class and home grown talent 
sustaining the city’s 
economic success 

Manchester is one of a small number of UK cities that 
have agreed a science based target and is leading the 
way in transitioning to a zero carbon city. It is envisaged 
that this may give the city opportunities in the green 
technology and services sector. 

A progressive and equitable 
city: making a positive 
contribution by unlocking the 
potential of our communities 

Transitioning to a zero carbon city can help to tackle fuel 
poverty by reducing energy bills. Health outcomes will 
also be improved through the promotion of more 
sustainable modes of transport and improved air quality. 

A liveable and low carbon 
city: a destination of choice 
to live, visit, work 

Becoming a zero carbon city can help to make the city a 
more attractive place for people to live, work, visit and 
study. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and 
connectivity to drive growth 

A zero carbon transport system would create a world 
class business environment to drive sustainable 
economic growth. 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  James Binks 
Position:  Director of Policy, Performance and Reform 
Telephone:  0161 234 1146 
Email:  j.binks@manchester.gov.uk  
 
Name:  David Houliston  
Position:  Strategic Lead Policy and Partnerships  
Telephone:  0161 234 1541 
Email:  d.houliston@manchester.gov.uk  
 
Name:  Richard Elliott 
Position:  Head of Planning and Critical Infrastructure 
Telephone:  0161 219 6494 
Email:  r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 80

Item 5

mailto:j.binks@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:d.houliston@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk


Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report.  Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting.  If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 

Playing Our Full Part: How Manchester’s Residents and Businesses can benefit from 
Ambitious Action on Climate Change 2018 

Manchester Climate Change Strategy 2017-50 

Manchester Climate Change Strategy Implementation Plan 2017-22 

Manchester: A Certain Future Annual Report 2018 

Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2016-20 

Manchester Zero Carbon 2038, Manchester City Council’s Commitment, March 2019  

 

 

Page 81

Item 5



1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides a brief introduction to the Council’s Climate Change 

Action Plan 2020-25 which is appended to this report in full. The action plan 
comprises a narrative document with a summary of historical emissions, future 
targets, an indication of how these targets will be achieved and how they will 
be monitored. The detailed actions are included in appendix 1 alongside a 
summary of the climate change research and insight (appendix 2), a summary 
of the January 2020 Youth Climate Action Summit (appendix 3) and a 
summary of the asks the Council we be making of Greater Manchester and 
UK Government (appendix 4). 

 
1.2 Following the discussion at Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee on 5 February 2020, tonnes of CO2 have been included in the Plan 
wherever possible, a commitment to quarterly reporting and monitoring has 
been included and a number of amendments to the detailed action plan have 
been made. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The Council has been working with partners to take action on climate change 

for over 10 years and has developed a series of action plans with associated 
targets, the most recent of which covered the 2016-20 period. The Council’s 
previous CO2 target was to reduce its direct emissions from buildings, energy 
and transport by 41% by 2020 from a 2009/10 baseline. The latest available 
data from 2018/19 revealed that a 48.1% reduction had been achieved (see 
table 1 below). This reduction has been delivered through efficiencies in 
buildings, rationalisation of the corporate estate, reductions in emissions from 
streetlighting and applying national emissions factors which have delivered 
significant reductions in electricity emissions due to the decarbonisation of the 
National Grid.  

 
Table 1: Manchester City Council CO2 Emissions in Tonnes by Activity 
2009/10 to 2018/19 

 

Activity Baseline  
2009/10 tCO2 

2018/19 tCO2 % change from 
baseline 

MCC Buildings 47,764 25,789 -46.0 

Traffic Signalling 1,894 392 -79.3 

Streetlights 15,726 6,616 -57.9 

MCC Fleet 2,863 844 -70.5 

MCC Grey Fleet 1,001 540 -46.1 

MCC Taxis 136 56 -58.5 

MCC Train 110 17 -84.7 

MCC Air travel 79 67 -14.5 

MCC Carclub 5 8 40.4 

Waste Collection Fleet 2,496 3,089 23.7 

Total 72,075 37,418 -48.1 

Page 82

Item 5



2.2 The Council’s Plan is one of a number of plans which support the delivery of 
the Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25 which is also being 
considered by the Committee and Executive.  

 
3.0  Commitments and delivery 
 
3.1 The Plan makes a number of specific commitments which are as follows: 

 

● Deliver at least a 50% reduction in carbon emissions from the Council’s 
buildings, energy and transport by 2025 (from circa 30-32,000 tonnes in 
2019/20 to circa 15-16,000 tonnes in 2024/25) via a 13% year on year 
reduction. 

● Report quarterly on progress against the actions in the plan and provide 
quantitative reports on data in tonnes of CO2. 

● Become zero carbon by 2038 at the latest (based on the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Research definition of zero which is at least a 95% reduction i.e. a 
reduction of 35,547 tonnes CO2 from the 2018/19 total which would mean 
that the Council’s direct emissions in 2037/38 would be less than 1,871 
tonnes CO2). 

 
 3.2 A summary of the estimated savings which will need to be achieved over the 

next 5 years are summarised in table 2 below. 
 

Table 2: Direct Emissions Actions and Associated Carbon Savings 
(estimate of 15-16,000 tCO2 required) 

 

Direct Emissions Action 2020-25 Annual Carbon Saving 
(tonnes CO2) 

Completion of Phase 1 Buildings Carbon Reduction 
Programme  

1,400 

Completion of Phase 1 (a) Buildings Carbon Reduction 
Programme - ERDF Supported  

400 

Phase 2 of Carbon Reduction Programme  3,000 

Large scale energy generation scheme 7,000 

Completion of the final year of the street lighting LED 
replacement programme 

220 

Estimated carbon emissions saving benefit from the 
decarbonisation of the National Grid  

800 

Completion of the Civic Quarter Heat Network and 
connection to the Town Hall, Town Hall Extension, Art 
Gallery and Central Library  

1,600 

Replacement of half of waste fleet vehicles with Electric 
Vehicles 

900 

Reductions to the Council’s Fleet through increase in 
number of Electric Vehicles 

400 

Reduction in staff travel via car, taxi, air, train 100 

Total Estimated Savings 15,820 

Page 83

Item 5



3.3 The Plan also sets out the different roles the Council has including enabling 
and influencing, reducing direct emissions and reducing indirect emissions. 
The detailed actions contained in appendix 1 are divided up into the following 
sections: 

 
● Buildings and energy; 
● Transport and travel; 
● Reducing consumption based emissions and influencing suppliers; 
● Climate adaptation, carbon storage and carbon sequestration; 
● Influencing behaviour and being a catalyst for change. 

 
3.4 As noted in the 5th February 2020 report to Neighbourhoods and Environment 

Committee, additional revenue and capital funding has been identified to 
respond to the 10 July 2019 Climate Emergency Declaration and to deliver the 
Plan. Appendix 1 contains a column titled ‘Project Cost or funding in place’ 
and this will be continually updated as further detailed funding for specific 
projects or programmes is agreed. The Council’s Zero Carbon Coordination 
Group and associated workstreams will be responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of the Plan and identifying additional sources of internal and 
external funding.  

 
4.0 Recommendations 

4.1 The recommendations are set out at the beginning of this report. 
 

 

Page 84

Item 5



 

Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2020-2025 
 
1. What is the purpose of this plan? 
 
This document sets out Manchester City Council’s commitments to tackling climate 
change over the next 5 years and builds on previous action plans over the last 
decade. The Council, alongside a number of other strategic partners in the city, have 
produced this plan to support the delivery of the citywide Manchester Climate 
Change Framework 2020-25 which has been produced by the Manchester Climate 
Change Partnership and Agency (http://www.manchesterclimate.com/plan). It 
summarises the specific actions which are required to ensure that the Council 
reduces its direct emissions by at least 50% by 2025 whilst also playing our full part 
in supporting and influencing the city to do the same. It also covers the Council’s 
plans for adapting to the expected impacts of climate change and supporting and 
influencing others, including through the implementation of the Manchester Green 
and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 2015-25. 
 
Climate change is something which effects everyone in Manchester and should not 
be viewed as an issue which is defined by geography, class or age. Our ambition is 
to ensure that all of Manchester’s residents are protected from the impact of climate 
change, but that equality impact assessments are undertaken on specific projects to 
ensure that any changes that are made do not have a negative impact on the city’s 
most vulnerable people. The transition to zero carbon must also be a just one which 
ensures that the social impacts of changes to heating and energy are considered 
alongside the environmental impact. 
 
Although there are many challenges to delivering these ambitions, we recognise the 
enormous opportunities of transitioning to a zero carbon, climate resilient city and the 
importance of Manchester being recognised as a national and global leader in this 
area. 
 
2. How big is the challenge? 
 
The challenge and crisis of climate change is unprecedented and is the single 
biggest challenge faced by the world today. We recognise that this challenge can 
only be overcome by taking urgent, radical action. This crisis is something that will 
effect us all, and for some the impact of climate change is already being felt. The UK 
is committed to playing its full part in meeting the international target to limit the 
global average temperature rise to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels by the 
year 2100, and aiming for 1.5°C, known as the Paris Agreement within the United 
Nations Framework on Climate Change. 
 
The October 2018 Special Report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) found that although meeting a 1.5°C target is still achievable, 
success is dependent on a much more ambitious international effort and a major 
upscaling of investment.  Exceeding this limit would affect weather patterns, cause 
sea levels to rise further, create food and water shortages, and affect human security 
and economic growth. The special report Global Warming of 1.5°C (IPCC, 2018. 
Summary for Policymakers) IPCC shows that 420 million additional people will be 
exposed to extreme heat and 184–270 million additional people to water scarcity if 

Page 85

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

global temperatures rise by 2°C, compared with a 1.5°C scenario (Page 4 and page 
213: Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2018. Impacts of 1.5°C global warming on natural and 
human systems). The world is now clearly in the midst of a climate and ecological 
emergency and there is now a unanimous consensus from the scientific community 
on the need for rapid action.  
 
At a more local level residents and businesses are seeing more frequent flash 
flooding, travel disruption, health impacts from poor air quality and extreme heat 
episodes in the summer. Councils are well placed to play a key role at local level in 
responding to the growing public concerns about the environment and issues such as 
climate change. Councils can help to convene partners and stakeholders to deliver 
leadership and direction on the specific environmental issues in their localities. We 
must harness the power of Manchester’s communities and ensure that all of our 
residents and stakeholder are able to take individual and collective action.   
 
But we also recognise that the Council cannot provide all of the solutions, as 
combating climate change needs system-wide change that involves communities, 
businesses, individuals and stakeholders across all sectors of the economy, across 
the country and the wider world. The scale and pace of change needed will require 
major investments, changes to the way in which we use and interact with energy and 
changes to how we live our lives and define success. It will also redefine how we 
manage and interact with our environment. Above all, it will involve a collective 
leadership and shared ambition to deal with this challenge head on. 
 
The Council takes this challenge seriously and has been acting to tackle climate 
change for over a decade. In 2009, we played an integral role when residents, 
businesses and other organisations came together to produce the first ever climate 
change strategy for the city; Manchester: A Certain Future. In 2010 we produced the 
first Manchester City Council Climate Change Delivery Plan which set out how the 
Council would provide citywide leadership on climate change whilst embedding low-
carbon thinking and behaviour in our culture, processes and the operation of all our 
services. 
 
In June 2018, Manchester Climate Change Partnership and Agency commissioned 
the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research at the University of Manchester to 
advise on targets for the city. The resulting ‘Playing Our Full Part’ proposal by the 
Partnership and Agency led to Manchester City Council adopting science-based 
carbon reduction targets for and on behalf of the city. This made Manchester one of 
the first cities in the world to adopt targets in line with the Paris Agreement. The 
targets related to ‘direct’ CO2 emissions, from the energy used in buildings and 
transport. It was also recognised that Manchester would also need to act in relation 
to its ‘indirect’ CO2 emissions, from the products and services consumed in 
Manchester but originating outside of the city. And that emissions from flights from 
Manchester Airport would also need to be addressed, as part of a UK and 
international strategy.  
 
In July 2019, Manchester City Council declared a climate emergency (Manchester 
City Council Climate Emergency Declaration Text). This declaration recognises the 
need for the Council and the city as a whole to do more to reduce its carbon 
emissions and mitigate the negative impacts of climate change and demonstrated the 

Page 86

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Council’s commitment to be at the forefront of the global response to climate change 
and to lead by example.  
 
Discussions with the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research began in August 
2019 and in November 2019 the Agency formally commissioned them to review the 
city’s commitments across four areas of activity: 
 

● Direct / energy-only CO2 emissions 
● Indirect / consumption-based CO2 emissions 
● CO2 emissions from flights from Manchester Airport 
● Target-setting and reporting methodology for organisations and sectors 

 
The recommended targets and objectives are set out in the Manchester Climate 
Change Framework 2020-25 but the headline recommendations are referenced 
below: 
 

● To ensure that Manchester plays its full part in helping to meet the Paris 
Agreement objectives by keeping our direct CO2 emissions within a limited 
carbon budget, taking commensurate action on aviation CO2 emissions and 
addressing our indirect / consumption-based carbon emissions. 

● To adapt the city’s buildings, infrastructure and natural environment to the 
changing climate and to increase the climate resilience of our residents and 
organisations. 

● To improve the health and wellbeing of everyone in Manchester through 
actions that also contribute to our objectives for CO2 reduction and adaptation 
and resilience, with particular focus on those most in need. 

● To ensure that Manchester establishes an inclusive, zero carbon and climate 
resilient economy where everyone can benefit from playing an active role in 
decarbonising and adapting the city to the changing climate. 

 
Now we need to ensure that our public commitments are backed up with ambitious 
and real action. This action plan builds on a decade of experience in environmental 
action and aims to make a vital local contribution to meeting the challenges faced by 
the climate emergency. It sits alongside action plans from other members of the 
Manchester Climate Change Board who are collectively responsible for over 20% of 
the city’s emissions and have also committed to become zero carbon by 2038 at the 
latest. 
 
We recognise that limiting CO2 emissions is not enough. Depending on how 
successful the world is at reducing emissions, global temperatures by 2100 are likely 
to rise by between 1.5°C and 4°C above pre-industrial levels. As such, we need to 
accept that some level of change is inevitable. Climate change is happening now and 
we need to assess the risks to our communities in order to reduce their vulnerability 
to these changes. Adopting appropriate mitigation measures will be essential if we 
are to create resilient communities of the future in Manchester.  
 
The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) is a five-yearly assessment of the 
major risks and opportunities from climate change to the UK. The most recent 
evidence report was published by the CCC in 2016. It outlined risks to the UK in six 
key areas: 

Page 87

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

● Flooding and coastal change risks to communities, businesses and 
infrastructure; 

● Risks to health, well-being and productivity from higher temperatures; 
● Risks of water deficits in public water supply, and for agriculture, energy 

generation and industry, with impacts on freshwater ecology; 
● Risks to natural capital, including soils, coastal, marine and freshwater 

ecosystems, and biodiversity; 
● Risks from climate-related impacts on domestic and international food 

production and trade; 
● New and emerging pests and diseases, and non-native species, affecting 

people, plants and animals. 
 
3. How large are the Council’s emissions and what have we already achieved?  
 
3.1 What is included? 
 
The Council is able to influence behaviour and action across the city through a range 
of different policy levers and funding powers. This influence is far greater than the 
Council’s actual direct emissions from its operation as an organisation, however, it is 
critically important to measure and report on our direct emissions and to set 
ambitious reduction targets. 
 
Direct emissions are those which we can directly control or have financial 
responsibility for. We have been measuring our direct carbon emissions since 
2009/10 and include a range of activities within the scope of our calculations. These 
activities are:  
 

● Approximately 350 operational buildings, including leisure facilities but 
excluding schools and Council housing; 

● Street lighting; 
● Biffa waste collection fleet; 
● Our fleet vehicles; and  
● Staff travel including staff using their personal cars to carry out council 

business (grey fleet), rail travel, air travel, taxis and travel by car club.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Figure 1: MCC Direct Carbon Emissions by Activity 2018/19  
 

 
 
(N.B. Between 2009/10 and 2019/20 traffic signalling fell within our direct emissions. 
In 2018/19 traffic signalling accounted for 1% of our total direct emissions. Traffic 
signalling across Greater Manchester is managed by Transport for Greater 
Manchester and included in their emissions accounting. As such Manchester City 
Council will no longer include traffic signalling on our direct emissions from 2020 
onwards.)  
 
3.2. What reductions have we already achieved? 
 
Since 2009/10 we have achieved a 48.1% (34,657 tonnes CO2) reduction in our 
carbon emissions and exceeded our original target to reduce our emissions by 41% 
by 2020 as demonstrated in table 1 below.  
 
Table 1: Manchester City Council CO2  Emissions in Tonnes by Activity 2009/10 
to 2018/19 
 

Activity Baseline  
2009/10 tCO2 

2018/19 tCO2 % change from 
baseline 

MCC Buildings 47,764 25,789 -46.0 

Traffic Signalling 1,894 392 -79.3 

Streetlights 15,726 6,616 -57.9 

MCC Fleet 2,863 844 -70.5 

MCC Grey Fleet 1,001 540 -46.1 

Page 89

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

MCC Taxis 136 56 -58.5 

MCC Train 110 17 -84.7 

MCC Air travel 79 67 -14.5 

MCC Carclub 5 8 40.4 

Waste Collection Fleet 2,496 3,089 23.7 

Total 72,075 37,418 -48.1 

 
A range of activities and programmes have enabled us to do this and these are:  
 

● Delivering a street lighting replacement programme to replace all of our 
57,000 street lights with energy efficient LEDs. The project (£32.8m) involves 
procurement and installation of state-of-the-art, low energy, light emitting 
diode (LED) street lighting technology and complete in 2020. The Council has 
worked with Salix Finance to fund this scheme, who provide loans to the 
public sector to improve energy efficiency, reduce carbon emissions and lower 
energy bills. When completed, this will reduce carbon emissions by around 
8,400 tonnes per year and save the Council £2 million. 

 
● The buildings in the Council’s operational estate represented 68.9% of the 

Council’s direct carbon dioxide emissions in 2018/19. The Carbon Reduction 
Programme (£10.2m) will invest in schemes such as combined heat and 
power, solar photovoltaic panels, and the use of LED lighting within the 
Council’s estate. The first phase of delivery is due to complete by the end of 
Quarter 2 2020/21. This will involve around £2.6 million invested in energy 
conservation measures and around £4.3 million invested in energy generation 
technology at 13 buildings in the Council’s operational estate. The investment 
will generate financial savings of around £716,000 per annum and reduce 
carbon emissions by circa 1,600 tonnes per annum. The remaining funding 
has been earmarked to support energy conservation or production measures 
at buildings where wider refurbishments are being designed. Further stages of 
investments and improvements are planned.  

 
● Committing to the installation of a Civic Quarter Heat Network which will 

connect the Town Hall, Town Hall Extension, Art Gallery and Central Library, 
Manchester Central Convention Centre, The Bridgewater Hall and Heron 
House. The project is expected to reduce the Council’s direct carbon 
emissions by approximately 1,600 tonnes of CO2 from 2020/21. The network 
has been designed to enable future expansion, with efficiency and carbon 
savings increasing as more buildings join.   
 

● Capital projects delivered by the Council are expected to include measures 
which contribute towards carbon reduction.  During 2019/20 examples of 
spend on areas that will impact energy and carbon performance (typically 
mechanical and electrical upgrades inc heating, ventilation and lighting, plus 
insulation, window and roof works, as well as PV) include £7.5m across Hulme 
District Office, Moss Side Leisure Centre, Alexandra House and within the 

Page 90

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Council’s Asset Management Programme.  There are a number of schemes in 
development for next financial year that will contribute to carbon reduction 
activity including: Abraham Moss Leisure Centre and Library rebuild (to be 
EPC Grade A); Gorton Hub (BREEAM Excellent) and Hammerstone Road 
(Large PV array and fabric improvements).  

 
● The Council’s fleet currently includes one electric car and 14 small electric 

vans. Plans are being considered to support the roll out of electric vehicles 
and charging infrastructure across the estate where viable and as required. 
Other activities to reduce emissions from the fleet include information for 
drivers on fuel efficient driving techniques, reducing fuel consumption and 
reducing the impact on the environment. A number of electric and hybrid 
vehicles have been introduced to the fleet, as well as initiating a programme to 
exchange all vehicles Euro 5 or below, with Euro 6 engined ones. 

 
● As part of the waste and street cleaning contract, a loan will continue to be 

available to the contractor to upgrade vehicles (£3.8), including to make them 
clean air compliant, on a spend to save basis.  Investment is also being made 
to reduce the level of waste going into landfill with £1.2m planned spend on 
waste reduction measures in 2020/21, initially seeking to increase recycling 
rates in apartment blocks across the City. 
 

● A pipeline of £75.9 million of active travel projects have been identified for 
consideration via the Greater Manchester Mayor’s Challenge Fund which 
meet the funding criteria.  In 2020/21 £2.8m is already committed to providing 
a high-quality network of dedicated cycle routes across Manchester, 
encouraging people to make short journeys in a healthy and inexpensive way 
and reduce the environmental impact of private car use. 

 
● Neighbourhood Teams are engaging with residents to develop climate change 

action in ward plans, deliver events, build capacity and listen to residents.  At 
a neighbourhood level, the Neighbourhood Investment Fund (NIF) is available 
to support local priorities including environmental projects in wards and also 
improvements to green and blue infrastructure.  

 
Over 1,000 Council staff have now received Carbon Literacy training which aims to 
increase their awareness of the carbon dioxide costs and impacts of everyday 
activities, and the ability and motivation to reduce emissions, on an individual, 
community and organisational basis. Large scale training sessions are now 
underway for the top 300 managers in the organisation along with targeted sessions 
focusing on specific services such as Neighbourhoods and Compliance, and 
Revenues and Benefits. 
 
We have also played a key role in supporting others in the city to tackle climate 
change and improve the city’s environment. Key actions include: 
 

● Securing investment in the city for environmental projects including tree and 
hedge planting and community orchards with the planting of an estimated 
100,000 trees on known schemes across the city, including 8.75 km of 

Page 91

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

hedgerow and 108 community orchards over the last 10 years (Source: 
internal MCC Monitoring).   

 
● Supporting the establishment of the Manchester Climate Change Agency and 

supporting the Agency through the secondment of two members of staff 
 

● Working with Transport for Greater Manchester on the expansion of the 
Metrolink tram network 

 
● Improving the city’s cycling infrastructure including the Oxford Road and 

Wilmslow Road ‘Dutch Style’ cycling lanes 
  
3.3 What have we done since declaring a climate emergency? 
 
Since the Council declared a climate emergency on 10 July 2019, additional 
resources have been put in place alongside a number of changes to the way in which 
the Council operates. These include: 
 

● Strengthened capacity within the Council to carry out this work and working 
with the Climate Change Agency to do the same. 

● Through the work of the Zero Carbon Coordination Group, this agenda has 
been embedded into decision making, policies and practice across the 
Council, for example the updated Capital Strategy, evaluation within 
procurement decisions and new staff travel policy. 

● Leadership across the city through the work of the Manchester Climate 
Change Agency and the action plans being developed by partners across the 
city.  External engagement includes with Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority, Transport for Greater Manchester, development of the Our 
Manchester Industrial Strategy, consultation on the Manchester Local Plan, 
and with partners on specific projects such as Triangulum, with the University 
of Manchester, Manchester Metropolitan University and Siemens UK. 

● Clearly embedding Climate Change into the next Capital Strategy for the city 
so that investment decisions are additionally considered in terms of their 
contribution to reducing carbon reductions.  The Council has already 
committed significant investments totalling £69 million including the Carbon 
Reduction Plan for the Council’s operational estate, the Civic Quarter Heat 
Network, and the Street Lighting replacement programme. 

● Engagement and awareness raising, including carbon literacy training for 
Council staff and key partners, sessions at the Council’s Leadership Summit 
which 400 senior officers attended, and the rolling programme of Listening in 
Action events for staff. 

● Commissioned insight among Manchester residents to understand the views 
of residents from across the city in relation to climate change (see summary in 
Appendix 2). 

● Youth Climate Summit in January 2020 as a follow up to the event in July 
2019 (see summary in Appendix 3). 

● Written to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund to request that they divest 
from investing in fossil fuels. 

● Provided a formal response to the Government’s Future Homes Standards 
consultation and supplemented this with a letter to the Ministry of Housing 

Page 92

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Communities and Local Government from the Executive Member for 
Environment, Planning and Transport calling for the ability to set higher local 
standards on Part L of Building Regulations 

● Called for Transport for Greater Manchester to develop a decarbonisation plan 
for transport which was discussed at the Greater Manchester Transport 
Committee in January 2020. 

● Events in wards have identified ways to engage communities and have 
identified Climate Change priorities to be considered for refreshed Ward Plans 
from April / May 2020. 

 
4. What are we committing to?  
 
4.1 Direct emissions 
 
The Council is committed to playing its full part in helping the city transition to zero 
carbon and by helping to deliver the Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-
25 (http://www.manchesterclimate.com/plan). This document contains a summary of 
the actions the city needs to take to stay within our carbon budget and is informed by 
analysis from the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, including a definition 
of carbon neutral.  
 
Although our plan includes investment in green and blue infrastructure to increase 
carbon storage and sequestration, reaching zero carbon will not include offsetting our 
emissions. Our ambition has been informed by the SCATTER project (Setting City 
and Area Targets and Trajectories for Emissions Reductions) which is a model that 
helps cities set zero carbon targets from our buildings, energy and transport which 
are consistent with delivering the Paris Agreement.  
 
The specific commitments we are making as a Council are: 
 

● Deliver at least a 50% reduction in carbon emissions from our buildings, 
energy and transport by 2025 (from circa 30-32,000 tonnes in 2019/20 to circa 
15-16,000 tonnes in 2024/25) via a 13% year on year reduction. 

● Report quarterly on progress against the actions in the plan and provide 
quantitative reports on data in tonnes of CO2 

● Become zero carbon by 2038 at the latest (based on the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Research definition of zero which is at least a 95% reduction i.e. a 
reduction of 35,547 tonnes CO2 from the 2018/19 total which would mean that 
the Council’s direct emissions in 2037/38 would be less than 1,871 tonnes 
CO2) 
 

The draft analysis below sets out how this pathway might be achieved but will need 
to be updated once the final 2019/20 annual data is available.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Figure 3: Manchester City Council pathway to zero carbon (draft analysis) 

 
Nb: This chart is a draft and will be updated following the publication of the final 
Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25 and the Council’s 2019/20 annual 
emissions data. 
 
Appendix 1 details the actions that we will undertake to reduce our direct emissions, 
however, a summary of the actions that will deliver the required 50% reduction in 
tonnes CO2 can be found below:  
 
Table 2: Direct Emissions Actions and Associated Carbon Savings (estimate of 
15-16,000 tCO2 required) 
 

Direct Emissions Action 2020-25 Annual Carbon 
Saving (tonnes CO2) 

Completion of Phase 1 Buildings Carbon Reduction 
Programme  

1,400 

Completion of Phase 1 (a) Buildings Carbon Reduction 
Programme - ERDF Supported  

400 

Phase 2 of Carbon Reduction Programme  3,000 

Large scale energy generation scheme 7,000 

Completion of the final year of the street lighting LED 
replacement programme 

220  

Estimated carbon emissions saving benefit from the 
decarbonisation of the National Grid  

800 

Completion of the Civic Quarter Heat Network and 1,600 

Page 94

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

connection to the Town Hall, Town Hall Extension, Art 
Gallery and Central Library  

Replacement of half of waste fleet vehicles with Electric 
Vehicles 

900 

Reductions to the Council’s Fleet through increase in 
number of Electric Vehicles 

400 

Reduction in staff travel via car, taxi, air, train 100 

Total Estimated Savings 15,820 

 
4.2 Indirect or consumption based emissions 
 
The Council also recognises that the products and services that we purchase directly 
or that our supply chain procure have a major impact on the environment. The action 
plan commits us to reducing the impact of carbon emissions from our indirect activity.  
The Council has developed formal evaluation questions for suppliers that will be used 
in future procurements.  An additional 10% climate change weighting will be applied 
to the scoring framework in addition to the 20% already used for scoring contributions 
to social value.  These questions will ask suppliers how far they will reduce their 
carbon emissions, and how this will be monitored and reported.  Alongside this will 
be new guidance for suppliers across the city – including other procuring 
organisations on the Partnership – that signposts them to sources of advice, 
guidance and support for reducing their carbon emissions. 
 
4.3 Adaptation to climate change 
 
Despite the increased international efforts to tackle climate change, we recognise 
that the world’s climate is already changing and that adaptation is required to protect 
the city’s people. We are committed to ensuring that climate change adaptation, 
including green and blue infrastructure, is included in new developments and across 
Council owned buildings and land. 
 
Further work needs to be done at a local level through ward plans and 
neighbourhoods to adapt to make communities more resilient to climate change. This 
will form part of the Council’s work through Neighbourhoods Teams, Highways and 
also through the development of improved communication information and guidance. 
 
4.4 Citywide emissions 
 
The Council also recognises the importance of supporting and influencing our 
residents and organisations to take action to reduce their direct and indirect CO2 
emissions and to adapt to the changing climate. We are committed to developing the 
right communications and key information to them, supporting them via funding and 
projects where appropriate and to ensure that as an organisation we lead by 
example.  
 
 

Page 95

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

5. What roles does the Council have? 
 
As outlined in section 1, the Council has a variety of different roles to fulfil to ensure 
that we play our full part in reducing both our direct emissions and supporting and 
influencing the required reduction in citywide emissions.  
 
5.1 Enabling and Influencing Actions  
 
The Council has a wide range of policy-making and regulatory functions. Many of 
these already help to incentivise and encourage low carbon behaviours and 
activities. In order for the Council and the city to meet the targets that have been set 
we will need to ensure that all key decisions the Council makes and policies and 
procedures we implement support this ambition.  This will include grant, funding and 
investment decisions, procurement and commissioning, our capital and revenue 
gateway process, new build and refurbishment standards, design standards, leases 
or developments on Council owned land, the Manchester Local Plan and staff and 
member travel policy. These also provide the opportunity to influence how other large 
and small organisations in the city and beyond operate and to encourage them to 
work towards the zero carbon target. 
 
Manchester City Council only has direct control over a small percentage of emissions 
in the city (our direct emissions). It is therefore important that the Council works with 
and influence others to also play their full part in responding to the climate 
emergency.  This will be vital in the wider city achieving its zero carbon ambitions. 
We will work with and exert our influence on as many organisations and individuals 
as possible in the way services are designed, delivered and communicated and 
create opportunities to encourage and support partners and residents to play a key 
role in achieving the city’s climate change objectives. Different measures can support 
and influence different groups of stakeholders – residents and customers, visitors to 
the city, businesses in the supply chain, partner organisations in whose operations 
the Council has an interest, neighbouring authorities in Greater Manchester and 
beyond, the Government and international interests.  
 
5.2 Direct Emissions (Scope 1 and 2) 
 
The Council’s direct emissions make up approximately 2% of the citywide emissions. 
Despite this, the Council is one of the largest emitters in the city. Reducing our direct 
emissions to zero will entail undertaking major programmes of work to our buildings 
and changing energy supply. Our waste fleets and other ways in which we travel 
whilst delivering services across the city also needs to change. We will need to focus 
our limited resources on those activities which produce the greatest CO2 emissions. 
In addition to the investment and activity required in-house, we also recognise that 
we will be able to benefit from national policy via the continued decarbonisation of the 
National Grid and the continued reduction in the electricity emission factor, alongside 
other new developments including changes to the way in which domestic and 
commercial buildings are heated. 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

5.3 Indirect Emissions (Scope 3) 
 
Indirect emissions are those which we do not have direct control over and are a 
consequence of our activities. This can include waste, water, food, procurement of 
goods and services and staff commuting, amongst other activities.  
 
6. What is included in the 2020-25 Action Plan? 
 
We recognise that in order to achieve our ambitions, rapid and unprecedented 
changes to Council services and operations will need to take place. This action plan 
details the activity that we will undertake over the next five years but also includes 
activities that will need to be developed and investigated further in order to ensure 
that we are on the right path to being zero carbon by 2038. The actions include 
activities to deliver a reduction in emissions from energy, transport and consumption 
(mitigation) but also adaptation and promoting investment in nature based solutions 
and green infrastructure 
 
This action plan will evolve over time and be flexible enough to adapt to opportunities 
and challenges outside of our control such as national government policy and 
funding, world energy markets and technological innovations. This will provide us 
with the option to incorporate new actions to the plan as opportunities become 
available. Conversely, we may also determine that current actions will no longer 
deliver us the required saving and as such can be removed. Where changes in the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority or government policy are needed to help us 
meet our objectives and targets we will proactively ask for them, seeking to work as a 
key partner with the government in helping to meet the UK’s zero carbon 
commitments (see summary in appendix 4). 
 
The plan is a key part of the Our Manchester Strategy 10 year vision for the city and 
should therefore be viewed alongside the city’s collective ambitions for a thriving and 
sustainable city, a highly skilled city, a more progressive and equitable city, a more 
connected city and a more liveable city. The focus therefore, will be ensuring that the 
transition to zero carbon is one that is as just and fair as possible for the city’s 
residents, businesses and workers and that the costs do not fall unevenly on those 
that are least able to afford them.  
 
The action plan is appended below but is divided up into the following sections: 
 

● Buildings and energy; 
● Transport and travel; 
● Reducing consumption based emissions and influencing suppliers; 
● Climate adaptation, carbon storage and carbon sequestration; 
● Influencing behaviour and being a catalyst for change. 

 
Not all actions will generate quantifiable CO2 savings but where data is available for 
the Council’s direct emissions it has been included.  
 
 
 
 

Page 97

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

7. How will we measure and report on progress? 
 
The implementation of this action plan will be overseen by a number of different 
groups: 
 

● Quarterly Monitoring and Update report to Neighbourhoods and Environment 
Scrutiny Committee including progress against the actions and the latest 
available Council direct carbon emissions data (This is an elected member led 
Committee which is open to the public). 

● Climate Change Sub-Group (This is an elected member led sub-group of 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Scrutiny Committee which is open to the 
public).  

● Zero Carbon Coordination Group (This is a group of senior Council officers, 
chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer which was 
established in September 2019). 
 

We will use the Council’s website, other communications and Committee reports to 
provide updates on the implementation of this action plan. The Council’s web pages 
(www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon) will be expanded to include: 
 

● Information on the action plan and progress against delivery 
● Overall number of Council staff and members who are carbon literate (no 

names) 
● Information about the Zero Carbon Coordination Group and workstreams 

including relevant information which can be publicly shared 
● Links to relevant Committee reports where climate change is a key focus 
● Case studies on projects including street lighting LED upgrade, Civic 

Quarter Heat Network, specific buildings improvements. 
● Quantitative data on the Council's direct emissions. 

 
8. How will we fund the delivery of the plan?  
 
The Council already spends a significant amount of money on improving the 
environment of the city through physical projects and also in terms of staff time 
across a range of services.  Climate Change considerations will be embedded into 
decisions about how all resources are used across the Council as well as additional 
direct resource requirements. 
 
We recognise that transitioning to zero carbon by 2038 and halving the Council’s 
carbon emissions over the next 5 years will require significant additional capital and 
revenue funding but that delivering this ambition is essential and the cost of not doing 
so would be far greater. There are also significant opportunities to benefit from 
becoming a zero carbon city and these are set out in the Delivering a More Inclusive 
Economy, Our Manchester Industrial Strategy and the Mission Based Approach 
within the Greater Manchester Local Industrial Strategy.  
 
Further detailed analysis of the cost of delivering the action plan will be undertaken 
by the Zero Carbon Coordination Group workstreams. Funding sources will include 
internal revenue and capital funding, new sources of investment and external 
funding. A high level summary of some of the key elements are listed below: 

Page 98

Item 5Appendix 1,

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/7156/our_manchester_industrial_strategy
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/7156/our_manchester_industrial_strategy
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchesters-local-industrial-strategy/


 

Revenue 
 
During 2019/20 funding has already been identified to fund: 
 

● Two additional posts within City Policy  
● A full time post to deliver carbon literacy training 
● Funding  

 
A further £300k is including in the 2020/21 Revenue Budget which includes:  
 

● Funding for the Climate Change Agency and new Chief Executive position 
● Additional programme management resources in City Policy 
● Additional external expertise as required 
● Tree Opportunity Mapping 
● Development of a supplier toolkit for the city to inform procurement and 

commissioning activity 
 

In order to deliver the commitments within the Carbon Reduction Action Plan further 
funding will be required.  It is recommended that further revenue funding of £1m is 
made available via the Capital Fund.  The use of the funding will be subject to the 
development of detailed proposals to be agreed with the Executive Members for 
Environment, Planning and Transport and for Finance and Human Resources and 
reported back to Executive. This will be to: 
 

● Establish a dedicated team and meet the associated costs to deliver the 
below:  
 

● Identify and deliver large scale remote Renewable Energy eg Solar PV 
generation projects. A small number of large generation projects are 
essential to remain within our carbon budget whilst the organisation 
mobilises to deliver the wider change required.   

● Procure a Solar PV partner to deliver a rolling programme of behind the 
meter generation feasibility studies, business case development and 
installation, focussing on the Authorities to 50 carbon emitting buildings.  

● Deliver a Zero Carbon whole building retrofit pilot.  
● Develop the next/ongoing pipeline of investments through a series of 

building audits focussing on the deployment of proven energy efficiency 
measures.  

● Develop an accelerated boiler replacement programme and 
commission expert consultancy to validate existing views about the 
pathway to zero carbon heat, inform business case development and 
procurement specifications. 

● Agree the Manchester Build Standard / Standards to be used going 
forward and embed within decision making processes which include 
consideration of Net Present Value and Asset Management Plan; 
Whole Life Costing, Internal Carbon Costing, and Energy Intensity 
Measures. 

 
● Support awareness raising and behaviour change across residents, partners 

and council staff.  

Page 99

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

● Provide additional capacity within the Strategic Housing Team to support the 
work outlined in the Action Plan including to develop the segmentation 
approach to considering carbon reduction across the domestic house estate 
which is outlined in the appended action plan. 

 
Additional capacity will also be provided to support the development and funding of 
neighbourhood schemes and priorities as the schemes are developed. 
 
Capital 
 
Reducing carbon emissions is included within the Capital Strategy as one of the key 
priorities for future capital spend.  The development of all capital schemes and 
associated investment must consider the effect on carbon and work is taking place to 
understand how investment can be classified in terms of carbon impact as well as 
financial.  
 
The costs of new build programmes to higher environmental standards and meeting 
the needs of the Local Plan and planning requirements will also be considered, 
running alongside investment in green spaces and places including trees and green 
walls which will require revenue resources for ongoing maintenance.  As schemes 
are developed the higher cost to meet environmental standards will be included. 
 
As the majority of the Council’s carbon emissions are from its existing corporate 
estate and the Council has a responsibility to reduce emissions across the 
Northwards and partner managed housing stock, significant investment will be 
required to bring these buildings up to carbon efficient standards. This represents a 
major opportunity to both establish Manchester as a centre for green technology and 
services, and to work with local skills providers to ensure that the city’s residents are 
given the best possible opportunities to access these new careers. 
 

● Retrofit of the Council’s operational estate.  Energy generation and charging 
infrastructure including Solar PVs on suitable buildings and sites, Batteries, 
EV Charging Infrastructure and Heat Pumps.  Phase 2 of the Carbon 
Reduction Plan will require an additional £15m investment.  The fund will be 
further developed through the capture of the associated revenue savings 
and work to identify external funding. The March 2020 Capital Update report 
will include a request to establish the budget with its use subject to the 
approval of the business case.   

 
● Funding for a large scale energy generation scheme dependent on the 

outcome of the feasibility study.  Funding for the feasibility study is included 
within the revenue funding requirements above. 

 
● Northwards managed Council housing stock retrofit and energy generation.  

Specific schemes will be developed with Northwards through the capital 
funding available in the Housing Revenue Account capital programme. 
Funds are required to maintain the Decent Homes Standard within 
Manchester’s housing stock and, in addition, will support innovative climate 
change investment; essential health and safety works including the 
installation of sprinklers in multi storey blocks; and public realm 

Page 100

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

environmental works.  There is limited funding within the HRA to cover all of 
these priorities and further work will be carried out to identify options to 
deliver more extensive carbon reduction measures given the constraints in 
place.   

 
● Purchase of electric vehicles for the Waste and Recycling Fleet, and Council 

Fleet.  A business case for the further electrification of the waste fleet will be 
included in the March 2020 Capital Update report.  Further proposals for the 
Council’s fleet will be considered for funding in future Capital Update 
reports. 

 
● Investment in planting of beacon trees, mature trees, street trees and 

hedgerows informed by the Tree Opportunity Mapping exercise.  No specific 
funding has been earmarked for this yet and it is proposed to establish the 
budget for an initial investment fund of £1m for trees and carbon capture 
with its use subject to the production of the detailed business case. 

 
Work will also continue to deliver the carbon reduction priorities within: 
 

● Delivery of Northern and Eastern Gateway projects 
● Changes to the way Highways projects are designed and delivered 
● Investment in public transport and active travel infrastructure such as cycling 

and walking.  This will include progressing the pipeline of schemes for 
funding via the Greater Manchester Mayor’s Challenge Fund. 

● Work with the Department for Education on how carbon efficient schools can 
be delivered given the constraints with the current levels of Department for 
Education funding and unit cost. 

 
9. How will the whole organisation play its full part? 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan has been amended to include Climate Change as one 
of the eight priorities. We recognise that delivering the Council and citywide ambition 
to reduce emissions by at least 50% over the next 5 years will require collective 
action by all Council departments. 
 
We will ensure that all staff are provided with training and are empowered to ‘own’ 
this agenda and embed changes into the delivery of their service. A key objective of 
the plan is to engage residents and neighbourhoods in a process of cultural change 
that embeds zero carbon thinking into the lifestyles and operations of the city. 
Manchester is made up of a diverse range of neighbourhoods, with a wide variety of 
cultures and interests. The residents and communities that make up the city are 
critical to our success. Much of the change required will come from residents 
themselves, but the Council has a key role to play, particularly in those parts of the 
city where there are significant numbers of people dependent upon our support.  
 
To find out more and view the Council’s progress please go to: 
www.manchester.gov.uk/zerocarbon  

Page 101

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Appendix 1: Manchester City Council Actions 2020-25 
 

1. Buildings and energy 
 

Introduction 

The energy used within buildings made up 69% of the Council’s direct CO2 emissions in 2018/19 and approximately 72% of the 
citywide CO2 emissions. The use of fossil fuels (particularly coal) within the National Grid has fallen significantly in recent years as 
the grid has become decarbonised. Renewable energy such as wind, solar and hydro only represented 2.3% of the UK power 
supply in 1990 but now contributes 26.5%. Further decarbonisation of the National Grid will deliver significant reductions to the 
Council’s and the city's carbon emissions but local action is needed to reduce the use of energy via the retrofitting and 
refurbishment of buildings, and generating energy through a variety of renewable sources. 

Commitment 

Reduce the CO2 emissions from the Council’s operational estate and streetlighting by at least 50% by 2025 and put in place plans 
for a further 50% reduction between 2025 and 2030. Support building retrofit and energy generation across the city’s buildings and 
ensure all future development across the city is as close to zero carbon as possible. 

Council 

Ref Action Owner Project Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

1.1 Deliver……Complete Phase 1 and Phase 1 (a) of the Carbon Reduction 
Plan and secure funding and delivery mechanism for future phases which 
will run from 2020-25.  The ‘reduce, produce, connect’ approach will be 
utilised including the following activities: Phase 3 retrofit programme; a 
Zero-Carbon Building retrofit (pilot project); a Building Management 
System programme; Solar PV generation programme on buildings; Boiler 
replacement programme / gas phase out (heat pumps) 

Corporate Estate 
and Facilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 102

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
To achieve…… 
 
Completion of Phase 1 Buildings Carbon Reduction Programme 
Completion of Phase 1 (a) Buildings Carbon Reduction Programme 
(ERDF Supported) 
Establish Phase 2 of Carbon Reduction Programme 2020-25   
 
 
 
By…...There will be a sequenced approach to delivery across the 
operational estate, completed in line with the agreed carbon budget. 
March 2020-2025 and March 2025-2030. 
 
 

 
 
 
£7.6m (in place) 
£2.6m (in place) 
£15m (priority in 
Capital Strategy 
pending final 
approvals) 
 

 
 
 
1,400 
400 
3,000 
 

1.2 Deliver……A Manchester Build Standard / Standards to be used going 
forward for new buildings, extensions and refurbishments and embed 
within decision making processes.  
 
To achieve……Lower carbon construction and more energy efficient end 
use in buildings.  
 
By…...End of 2020 

Capital 
Programmes 

Funding from 
additional 
Capital Fund 
budget. 

TBC 

1.3 Deliver……A Buildings and Energy Strategy for the Council.  
 
To achieve……An agreed strategy setting out the response to the climate 
emergency across the Council’s operational estate including continued 
procurement of green energy, infrastructure to support the roll out of 
electric vehicles, generation and storage. 
 

Corporate Estate 
and Facilities; 
and Energy 
Management 
Unit 

Funding place 
via existing staff 
resource. 

No 

P
age 103

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

By…...April 2020 

1.4 Deliver……A feasibility and business case for a large scale energy 
generation scheme from large scale Solar PV and Onshore and Offshore 
Wind on Council land and buildings, or sites in third party ownership.  This 
will include an assessment of the different business models available in 
terms of capital cost, commercial risk and speed of deliverability.  
 
To achieve……An understanding of the benefits, viability, costs and risks 
of investing in large scale energy generation to generate zero carbon 
energy. 
 
By…...December 2020 

Corporate 
Estates and 
Neighbourhoods 

Funding from 
additional 
Capital Fund 
budget 

7,000 

1.5 Deliver……Complete roll out of Street lighting LED replacement and 
investigate ways to further reduce consumption and improve efficiency. 
 
To achieve……8,400 tonnes of CO2 per annum when completed, 220 
tonnes for 2020/21. 
 
By…...End of 2020 

Neighbourhoods £32.8 million 
funding in place 

220 

1.6 Deliver……Complete the Civic Quarter Heat Network (CQHN) and 
connect to all buildings including the Town Hall in 2023/24.  
 
To achieve……1,600 tonnes CO2 per annum from 2020/21 and at least 
6,400 tonnes CO2 between 2020-25. 
 
By…...First year of operation will be 2021. Town Hall to connect in 
2023/24. 

CQHN Board £26 million 
funding in place 

1,600 

City   

P
age 104

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

Ref Action Owner   

1.7 Deliver……Undertake a stock condition survey across the Private Rented 
Sector and develop a segmentation approach to domestic properties 
including social housing, owner occupier and private rented sector. Work 
with Manchester Housing Providers Partnership and their Zero Carbon 
Working Group to ensure all social housing properties are on a path to 
zero carbon. 
 
To achieve……A better understanding of the energy efficiency 
requirements and interventions required across the city’s housing stock. 
To provide intelligence to develop funding proposals for retrofit, energy 
generation and future heating solutions.  
 
By…...Stock condition survey completed 2021.  

Housing and 
Residential 
Growth 

Funding from 
additional 
Capital Fund 
budget 

No 

1.8 Deliver……A comprehensive investment programme to deliver energy 
efficiency, retrofit and energy generation from solar panels and heat 
pumps across all of the Council owned properties managed by Northwards 
Housing and other contractors. 
 
To achieve……A reduction in emissions and energy bills for residents. 
 
By…...TBC 

Housing and 
Residential 
Growth 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account account 
plus additional 
funding sources 
to be identified 

TBC 

1.9 Deliver……Funding programmes in partnership with the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and Government to support retrofit and 
energy generation across commercial and non-residential buildings.  
 
To achieve……A reduction in emissions and energy bills for businesses 
and organisations. 
 

Housing and 
Residential 
Growth, Finance 

Not yet identified TBC 

P
age 105

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

By…...Ongoing 

1.10 Deliver……A Local Energy Plan for Manchester via the Greater 
Manchester Local Energy Market project.  
 
To achieve……The Plan will identify areas suitable for Solar PV 
deployment (domestic and non-domestic), battery storage, low carbon 
heating solutions, electric vehicle deployment. 
 
By…...Project starts April 2020 

Corporate 
Estates and 
Facilities 

In place via UK 
Research & 
Innovation 

No 

1.11 Deliver……Zero carbon commitments are taken into account when any 
Council owned buildings or land is disposed of or leased to a third party.  
 
To achieve……Better support for third parties to improve the energy 
efficiency and condition of the building or the end use of the land. 
 
By…...April 2020 onwards 

Strategic 
Development 

Additional 
funding may be 
required. 

No 

1.12 Deliver……A new Manchester Local Plan which will set out how the city 
should meet the needs of a growing, diverse population over the next 15 
years, outlining where new development should happen, how green 
spaces and other environmental facilities should be protected or 
enhanced, and how transport and other infrastructure will be improved. 
Utilisation of existing Planning levers and Strategic Regeneration 
Frameworks to support the city’s zero carbon commitments. 
 
To achieve……Use the Council’s policy levers and influence to ensure 
that future development reflects the city’s zero carbon commitments and 
promotes a reduction in carbon emissions, improved green and blue 
infrastructure, and other associated issues such as the management of 
grey water. 

Strategic 
Development; 
Planning and 
City Policy 

Funding to 
develop the plan 
in place. 

No 

P
age 106

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
By…...Manchester Local Plan completed by 2023. Existing Planning 
levers and Strategic Regeneration Frameworks immediately. 

1.13 Deliver……Partnership work with local and national experts including the 
UK Green Building Council and property developers. 
 
To achieve……Learning from best practice in building design to ensure 
that we are able to achieve the best possible standards in new design with 
respect to carbon performance.  
 
By…...Ongoing 

Capital 
Programmes 

No No 

 
 

2. Transport and travel 
 

Introduction 

Transport is a major contributor to the city’s CO2 emissions with just under 30% of total emissions and also impacts on the 
cleanliness of the city’s air. It is also the sector which has seen the least progress in achieving reductions in carbon emissions over 
recent years. The Council’s direct emissions include the waste and recycling fleet (8.3%) and Manchester City Council fleet (2.3%) 
and staff travel (1.8%). There is an urgent need to shift to sustainable and active travel for Council staff and the city’s residents, 
workers and visitors to reduce CO2 emissions, improve air quality and improve the city’s liveability. 

Commitment 

Reduce the emissions from the Council’s fleet including waste and recycling by approximately 35-45% between 2020 and 2025 by 
rolling out electric vehicles and charging infrastructure. Support shift to sustainable and active travel through the Council’s role in 
transport planning and work with Transport for Greater Manchester, Greater Manchester Combined Authority and national 
government to deliver strategic transport infrastructure projects. 

P
age 107

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

Council 

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 
 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

2.1 Deliver……Develop business case and funding to replace half the Biffa 
waste and recycling fleet with Electric Vehicles alongside associated 
charging infrastructure.  
 
To achieve….Significant reduction in emissions from the diesel waste and 
recycling refuse vehicles and improved air quality. Ethical procurement of 
Electric Vehicle batteries to include consideration of environmental and 
social impact of lithium batteries. 
 
By…...Business case for waste fleet early 2020 and funding in 2020/21. 

Neighbourhoods Business 
case 
submitted 
and funding 
to be 
identified 

900 

2.2 Deliver……Rolling replacement of the Council’s Operational Fleet with 
Electric Vehicle alternatives.  
 
To achieve….Significant reduction in emissions from diesel and petrol 
internal combustion engine fleet vehicles and improved air quality. Ethical 
procurement of Electric Vehicle batteries to include consideration of 
environmental and social impact of lithium batteries. 
 
By…...Ongoing rolling replacement of lease vehicles.   

Neighbourhoods Business 
case for  
replacement 

400 

2.3 Deliver……A new Business Travel Policy for Council officers and elected 
members. 
 

Human 
Resources 
Organisational 

N/A 100 

P
age 108

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

To achieve……Influence over travel choices and promoting sustainable 
and active travel where possible. Clear communication of Council policy 
and approval process for travel by taxi and air travel. Domestic air travel 
and flights to Paris or Brussels to only be approved in exceptional 
circumstances. 
 
By…...April 2020 

Development 
(HROD) 

City   

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

2.4 Deliver……Additional investment which prioritises improvements to the 
network for cycling and walking, with the development of a number of 
schemes approved through the GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund. 
 
To achieve……These works will supplement other proposals which seek 
to promote sustainable forms of transport across the city and will support 
the decarbonisation of transport across the city. 
 
By…...Rolling programme of investment. 
 

Highways, Capital 
Programmes 

Funding to 
be identified 
through the 
Capital 
Strategy and 
GM Mayor’s 
Challenge 
Fund with 
£2.8m 
already 
committed. 

No 

2.5 Deliver……Work with Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Transport 
for Greater Manchester and Government to implement the Greater 
Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and deliver improvements to the 
city’s Strategic Transport Infrastructure. 
 

City Policy; 
Highways 

Funding for 
schemes will 
be identified 
at the 
appropriate 

TBC 

P
age 109

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

To achieve……Strategic projects include: preparations for High Speed 2; 
delivery mechanism and funding for High Speed North; Metrolink 
expansion including Tram-Train options; Bus Reform including developing 
a business case to shift to an entirely electric fleet; and implemented an 
effective Clean Air Zone. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

stage. 

2.6 Deliver……A revised City Centre Transport Strategy with Transport for 
Greater Manchester and Salford City Council. 
 
To achieve…… Improvements to sustainable and active travel and 
prioritisation of pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
By…...2020 

City Policy; City 
Centre 
Regeneration 

Funding in 
place 

No 

2.7 Deliver……Review and act on the findings of the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Research to assess how emissions from Manchester Airport can 
be managed in line with the Paris Agreement. Work with Manchester 
Airport Group and other local authorities with airports within their 
boundaries to lobby government to accelerate the decarbonisation of air 
travel. 
 
To achieve……A reduction in aviation emissions from Manchester Airport 
which is in line with the Paris Agreement and the findings of the Tyndall 
Centre for Climate Research. 
 
By…..Ongoing 

City Policy; 
Manchester 
Climate Change 
Agency 

N/A TBC 

2.8 Deliver……Incentives and support for Council staff to commute to work 
more sustainably including salary sacrifice schemes for bus, rail and tram; 
cycle to work scheme; provision of cycling facilities.  

Human 
Resources 
Organisational 

Funding in 
place. 

No 

P
age 110

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
 
To achieve……Increase in the number of Council officers travelling to 
work by sustainable modes of transport. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

Development 
(HROD) 

 
 

3. Reducing consumption based emissions and influencing suppliers 
 

Introduction 

The Council and the city need to reduce consumption of goods and products which have the highest carbon footprint. This requires 
behaviour change and a shift in what we buy or procure and where it comes from. 

Commitment 

Reduce the consumption on Council premises of single use plastics and other goods which are unsustainable. Influence the city 
through procurement and commissioning and other levers including licensing. 

Council 

Ref Action Owner Project Cost 
or funding 
in place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

3.1 Deliver……Roll out the additional 10% social value weighting for the 
environment to take the total social value to 30%. Suppliers will be scored 
based on: 

1. The steps that they are already taking to reduce their carbon 
emissions and their future plans; 

Integrated 
Commissioning 
and Procurement 

N/A No 

P
age 111

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

2. How they monitor their carbon emissions and how they plan to 
monitor them in the future including during the contract period. 

 
To achieve……Influencing supplier behaviour and reducing carbon 
emissions from the Council’s procurement and commissioning. 
 
By…...April 2020 

3.2 Deliver……Act on the findings of the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research into the city’s consumption emissions and use this intelligence to 
inform the specification of tenders for goods and services.  
 
To achieve……A reduction in indirect emissions from the Council’s 
procurement and commissioning activity including consideration of food; 
water, construction materials; furniture; and ICT equipment. 
 
By…...December 2020 

Integrated 
Commissioning 
and Procurement 

N/A TBC 

3.3 Deliver……Ensure the Council’s operational estate and markets are Single 
Use Plastic Free and that procurement and commissioning reduce their use 
alongside other packaging. 
 
To achieve……A reduction in the use of Single Use Plastics. 
 
By…...Single Use Plastic Free by 2024 in line with the Plastic Free Greater 
Manchester Pledge 

Corporate 
Estates, 
Facilities and 
Neighbourhoods 

N/A No 

City   

Ref Action Owner Project Cost 
or funding 
in place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 

P
age 112

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

(tCO2) 

3.4 Deliver……Fund the development of a citywide supplier toolkit focussed on 
tackling climate change. Also work with Greater Manchester partners to 
develop a city region approach where possible. 
 
To achieve……A shared approach to procurement and commissioning 
which can be used by stakeholders in the city and the city region to provide 
guidance and support for suppliers.  
 
By…...December 2020 

Policy, 
Performance and 
Reform 

£15k of 
finding in 
place. 

No 

3.5 Deliver……Use other levers available to the Council to reduce the use of 
Single Use Plastics through licensing and events on Council owned land. 
Continue to roll out the use of sustainable events guides. 
 
To achieve……A reduction in consumption based emissions across the 
city and promotion of more sustainable events. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

Neighbourhoods 
(Parks, Leisure 
and Events). 
 

N/A No 

3.6 Deliver……Work with Manchester Health and Care Commissioning and 
FoodSync to deliver the priorities of the Manchester Food Board. 
 
To achieve……The establishment of a more economically, socially and 
environmentally sustainable food system for Manchester. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

Manchester 
Health and Care 
Commissioning 

Funding in 
place to 
support the 
Food Board. 

TBC 

 
 
 
 

P
age 113

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

4. Climate adaptation, carbon storage and carbon sequestration 
 

Introduction 

Adaptation to climate change requires changes to the way in which the city’s infrastructure is developed and how we manage issues 
such as flooding and extreme heat. Manchester has approximately 1.2 million trees and a tree coverage of over 20% which is one of 
the highest in Greater Manchester. In the last three years alone over 10,500 trees have been planted as well as nearly 3,000 hedge 
trees and 13 community orchards (bringing the total up to 48). The Manchester i-trees eco assessment undertaken in 2018 by 
Treeconomics found that Manchester’s existing tree coverage stores 124,330 tonnes of carbon, sequesters 4,980 tonnes of carbon 
every year and removes 84 tonnes of pollution. The financial benefits of trees are worth over £3million every year. Improving the 
quality and quantity of trees and hedgerows will increase the volume of carbon that can be stored and ultimately sequestrated whilst 
also improving the environment and helping to reduce flooding.  

Commitment 

Ensure that the city’s infrastructure is resilient to climate change and that nature based solutions are used to combat issues such as 
flooding. Develop an intelligence led approach to tree and hedge planting, and nature based solutions will be developed to support 
the delivery of the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy. The quality and quantity of trees and hedges both on Council owned land 
and across the city will be informed by a Tree Opportunity Mapping assessment which will use the i-Trees Eco Assessment work to 
identify appropriate locations for additional tree planting to take place. It will link tree planting opportunities with locations that would 
benefit from increased climate change resilience. The assessment will suggest appropriate tree species and support funding bids to 
facilitate the delivery of both tree planting and ongoing maintenance. 

Council 

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

4.1 Deliver……The Manchester Tree Action Plan  
 

City Policy; 
Neighbourhoods 

Funding via 
Council and 
partners 

No but 
storage, 
sequestrati

P
age 114

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

To achieve……A target of net 1,000 new trees, 1,000 new hedge trees and 4 
community orchards a year on known schemes on public or partner land. 
Investigate opportunities for planting in parks, Council owned open spaces, 
highways and the grounds of buildings.  
 
By…...Ongoing 

on & air 
quality 
benefits 

4.2 Deliver……Complete the Horizon 2020 Grow Green Project and the new 
‘sponge’ park in West Gorton to and use the learning to inform green and blue 
infrastructure across the city.  
 
To achieve……Encourage nature based solutions to be embedded in open 
spaces, highways schemes and new residential and commercial 
developments to improve resilience to flood risk. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

City Policy Yes via 
Horizon 
2020 

No but 
adaptation 
benefits 

City 

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

4.3 Deliver……Fund and commission a Tree Opportunity Mapping assessment 
of tree planting opportunities within existing woodland (and particularly those 
affected by Ash Dieback), within parks, along streets and within gardens.  
 
To achieve……This evidence will underpin work at a neighbourhood level by 
identifying local opportunities for planting and supporting funding bids. The 
mapping will include an assessment of which are the most appropriate 
species for carbon storage and sequestration. 

City Policy Council 
funding 
identified 

No 

P
age 115

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
By…...December 2020 

4.4 Deliver……Additional Council funding to support planting of more beacon 
trees, mature trees, street trees and hedgerows across the city to support 
delivery of 4.3.  
 
To achieve……Maximising the Council’s contribution to the City of Trees 
(https://www.cityoftrees.org.uk/) 3 million trees target as part of the Northern 
Forest. Exact number to be agreed.  
 
By…...Funding put in place during 2020/21 

City Policy Funding 
from 
additional 
Capital 
Fund 
budget 

No but 
storage, 
sequestrati
on & air 
quality 
benefits 

 
 

5. Influencing behaviour and being a catalyst for change 
 

Introduction 

Although the Council’s direct CO2 emissions make up approximately 2% of the city’s total emissions, the Council has a unique role 
within the city to lead by example and also influence the behaviour of a range of different cohorts. Influencing positive behaviour 
change in Manchester’s residents, workers and visitors and also influencing behaviours, policies and investments at a city region and 
national level will support the climate change agenda. 

Commitment 

To use every opportunity to engage, empower and equip Council staff and elected members with the knowledge and skills to make a 
positive difference. Influence behaviour change across the city’s residents, businesses, public sector organisations, voluntary and 
community sector and visitors. Develop clear positions to influence, lobby and work in partnership with Greater Manchester and UK 
Government to take more action to tackle the climate emergency. 

Council 

P
age 116

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,

https://www.cityoftrees.org.uk/


 

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

5.1 Deliver……Roll out carbon literacy training across the Council using a pyramid 
approach with universal introductory e-learning module (or equivalent for staff 
with ICT access), 1 day equivalent Our Climate, Our City on a targeted basis 
working with specific services, elected members and the most senior 300 
managers in the Council. Utilise internal communications and the Intranet to 
share information and promote behaviour change and action.  
 
To achieve……A fully informed workforce who are able to support embedding 
climate change action within the organisation and across the city. 
 
By…...Training programme rolled out throughout 2020. Become a Sliver Carbon 
Literate Organisation in 2020 and Gold by 2025. E-learning module rolled out 
universally during 2020 with 1 day training on a targeted basis. 

Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 

Funding 
for a 12 
month full 
time 
trainer 
post 
agreed 
February 
2020. 

No 

5.2 Deliver……Roll out the additional 10% social value weighting for the 
environment to take the total social value to 30%. Launch this and update the 
suppliers and commissioners toolkits. 
 
To achieve……Influence the behaviours and activities of new and existing 
suppliers via the Council’s procurement and commissioning activity.  
 
By…...April 2020 

Integrated 
Commissioning 
and 
Procurement 

N/A TBC 

5.3 Deliver……Embedding zero carbon ambitions into all decision making including 
revenue and capital gateway decisions. Build addressing climate change into 
the grants to Voluntary and Community Sector organisations and cultural 
organisations.  

Finance, 
Governance and 
Scrutiny 

N/A No 

P
age 117

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
To achieve……Use the Council’s decision making and financial instruments to 
influence change within the Council and across the city.  
 
By…...Ongoing 

City, Greater Manchester and National 

Ref Action Owner Project 
Cost or 
funding in 
place 

Annual 
Carbon 
Saving 
(tCO2) 

5.4 Deliver……Work with Manchester Climate Change Agency and other partners 
to establish a citywide programme of community engagement activities. Include 
development of climate change actions in all 32 Ward Plans and use 
Neighbourhood Investment Funding and the Our Manchester Challenge Fund to 
support projects which will affect positive change. Continue to work with the 
Youth Council and schools to deliver follow up activity from the Youth Climate 
Summit events in 2019 and 2020. Work with the Age-Friendly Manchester Board 
to develop specific communications and case studies for over 50’s. 
 
To achieve……Support community groups and residents to engage in the 
climate change agenda and build their capacity to take positive local action. 
Ensure that this includes residents of all ages and ethnicity. 
 
By…...Ward Plans by April 2020. Other activities are ongoing. 

Neighbourhoods Funding 
and 
capacity in 
place 

No 

5.5 Deliver……A citywide communications strategy and campaign to raise 
awareness, promote positive behaviour change and share examples of projects. 
 

Communications Funding in 
place 

No 

P
age 118

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

To achieve……Promote positive action and behaviour change across the city’s 
residents, workers, businesses and visitors.  
 
By…...April 2020 and then a rolling programme. 

5.6 Deliver…… Continue to provide existing funding to the Manchester Climate 
Change Agency, underwrite the funding for a new Chief Executive and working 
with partners to secure additional funding. 
 
To achieve……A Manchester Climate Change Agency which is fit for purpose 
to effectively champion and drive forward citywide climate change action. 
 
By…...December 2020 

City Policy Funding in 
place 

No 

5.7 Deliver……A plan for engaging, supporting and influencing key Manchester 
stakeholders (including businesses) to reduce their carbon footprint and sign up 
to the zero carbon ambition. This will include anchor institutions such as health 
partners and universities, and strategic development partners. Use the Council’s 
membership of the Oxford Road Corridor Partnership to fully implement and 
embed the learning from the Horizon 2020 Triangulum project and work up 
plans for a zero carbon corridor.    
 
To achieve……Support the work of the Manchester Climate Change 
Partnership as the city’s principal mechanism for engaging, mobilising and 
supporting organisations across the city. Influencing and supporting key 
stakeholders to reduce their carbon emissions and identifying Council actions 
that will unblock barriers to enable them to accelerate action.  
 
By…...December 2020 

City Policy N/A TBC 

5.8 Deliver……A large scale event with the city’s schools to support them to take 
action on climate change. 

Education, City 
Policy 

Funding 
and 

TBC 

P
age 119

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

 
To achieve……Additional knowledge and capacity across the city’s schools to 
develop and implement their own bespoke climate change action plans and 
improvements to their buildings. 
 
By…...First event delivered by June 2020 

capacity in 
place 

5.9 Deliver……Use the Council’s representatives and senior officers and elected 
members to influence the Greater Manchester Pension Fund; Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority; Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce; 
Transport for Greater Manchester and the GM Transport Committee; Health and 
Social Care Partnership. 
 
To achieve……Influence key Greater Manchester organisations to decarbonise 
and promote sustainable behaviour, investments and decision making to support 
delivery of the city’s climate change ambitions. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

City Policy N/A TBC 

5.10 Deliver…… Develop a proposition to UK Government in relation to COP26 
being held in Glasgow in November 2020. This will include working through 
partnerships with other authorities via the Council’s membership of Core Cities 
UK, with other local authority areas with airports and through the Convention of 
the North. 
 
To achieve….Influence and work in partnership with government to ensure that 
Manchester (and other UK cities) can meet local climate change objectives and 
contribute to the UK’s zero carbon commitment. 
 
By…...November 2020 

City Policy N/A No 

5.11 Deliver……Work with Manchester Climate Change Agency to actively City Policy Funding in No 

P
age 120

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

participate in international networks and projects to identify and develop best 
practice that can be used to accelerate action in Manchester. Including but not 
limited to: 

● Covenant of Mayors 
● Eurocities 
● URBACT Zero Carbon Cities (2020-22) 
● C-Change 

 
 
To achieve……Learning from other cities who are delivering ambitious climate 
change programmes and use funding to build capacity within the Council and 
city. Share Manchester’s learning to support other cities through programmes 
such as Zero Carbon Cities. 
 
By…...Ongoing 

place 

5.12 Deliver……A Green Skills Plan for the city to support the delivery of the 
Manchester Work and Skills Strategy and Our Manchester Industrial Strategy. 
 
To achieve…… A skills system which supports the city's ambition to be zero 
carbon by 2038 and maximises opportunities for residents and businesses. 
 
By…...Sub group of the Work and Skills Board will be established in April 2020 
and plan drafted by September 2020 

Work and Skills 
with Work and 
Skills Board 

N/A No 

 
 
 
 

P
age 121

Item
 5

A
ppendix 1,



 

Appendix 2: Summary of Climate Change Research and Insight 
 

1. Overview 
 

Manchester City Council’s Communications Service commissioned insight among 
Manchester residents to understand the views of residents from across the city in 
relation to climate change. The research was delivered in two phases: 
 

● Phase  1 
A face-to-face on-street survey with over 1,000 Manchester residents to 
gauge their perceptions, awareness and understanding of climate change and 
explore their behaviours relating to climate change and establishing what 
Manchester City Council should prioritise in order to combat climate change 
and become a zero carbon city by 2038. 

 
● Phase 2  

A series of focus groups with Manchester residents recruited from the on-
street survey to gain a greater depth of insight into topics covered in the 
survey, particularly around behaviours, as well as exploring ideas for the 
Council’s campaign. 
 

Strict quotas on age, gender, ethnicity and geographical area were implemented to 
match the population of the city as a whole. Through the research we have gathered 
a broad range of views to understand: 
 

1. What residents know about climate change 
2. What residents are currently doing to counteract climate change 
3. What is stopping residents to do more or behave differently  
4. How the Council and / or partners could encourage residents to do more 
5. What activities/actions residents think the Council should prioritise in order to 

achieve the aim of being a carbon zero city by 2038.  
 

2. Research results 
 
A summary of key results from the climate research can be found below.  
 
2.1 Effects of climate change 
 
A question was asked, unprompted, on what people thought the effects of climate 
change are. Responses included:  

● Extreme hot weather/global warming 
● Extreme weather (eg storms) 
● Rising sea levels, flooding 
● Extreme cold weather 
● Increased pollution 
● Changes in plants/wildlife, increased wildfires 

 
Subgroups aged between 55-64 and 65+ were more likely to say they do not believe 
in climate change (4% overall). 
Across the board people felt that climate change would affect the UK more than 

Page 122

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Manchester (City) or their local area. 
 
Of those who believe in climate change, 75% said that the issue is very important to 
them (34%) or somewhat important (41%). 10% said it is unimportant to them. 
 
2.2 Behaviours to reduce climate change 
 
A list of behaviours and activities were shown to respondents who were asked to 
indicate whether they currently did these specifically to reduce the impact of climate 
change. 
 
For any activities they were not currently doing, respondents were subsequently 
asked to state whether they would be willing to do this, or not, to reduce the impact 
of climate change.   
 

● 73% avoiding use or using fewer carrier bags 
● 34% avoiding or eating less red meat 
● Manchester (city) residents least likely to grow own food or drive an 

electric/hybrid car 
● 73% would use renewable or green energy at home (sustainable supplier) 
● 72% would retrofit boiler/insulation/windows 

 
Focus groups pointed out that this is as much about money/poverty as climate 
change. There was a discrepancy between homeowners and those who rent and 
what people are prepared to do and what they are able to do. 
 
2.3 People were not prepared to do the following: 
 

● Almost half were unwilling to grow food at home 
● Minimise travel by air (38%) 
● Campaign against climate change 
● Avoid or eat less dairy/animal products 

 
2.4 Barriers to behavioural change  
 
In order to understand potential barriers to behaviour changes, respondents were 
asked what stopped them from doing more to reduce the impact of climate change. 
This question was unprompted and respondents could provide more than one 
response.   
  
The most common response, provided by 37%, was that respondents did not know 
enough about what they can do or that they need more information. This was 
followed by three in ten (30%) respondents who felt as though they already do 
enough to reduce the impact of climate change.   
 
Clear barriers were identified by some respondents, including changes being: 

● Too expensive (24%) 
● Too time consuming (20%)  
● Too inconvenient (17%) 
● 6% said poor public transport stopped them doing more  

Page 123

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

● 7% believed that they would not make a difference 
● 2% that it is too late to reduce the impact of climate change 
● 2% said they were not interested or did not want to make any changes 

 
2.5 What should the Council prioritise? 
 
People were asked which areas the Council should prioritise or focus on. They were 
asked to pick three options from a list. 
  

● Improve public transport  
6% said public transport is poor, 27% say if it was cheaper they could use it 
and 47% said supporting better public transport should be a Council priority. 
Focus group attendees also linked this to safety and suggested that they 
would walk/cycle/use the tram more if public safety was improved. 

 
● Clean air initiatives, increase green spaces 
● Increase awareness/provide information/advice and influence 

 
2.6 What would incentivise behavioural change? 
 
Given that a common barrier to doing more to combat climate change was the 
expense, it is perhaps unsurprising that financial incentives were popular when 
considering how to combat climate change.  
 
A quarter (26%) said that financial incentives or money off their Council Tax would 
encourage them to do more, which was also a common topic of conversation 
amongst focus group participants.  
 
A suggestion from the focus groups was to introduce a discount scheme for 
residents, whereby those who recycle correctly are rewarded with discounted 
Council Tax and those who do not recycle are conversely penalised.  
 
Others suggested targeting businesses to be carbon neutral, reduce food waste 
(work with caterers) etc... 
 
2.7 There is no one-size fits all answer 
 
The research confirmed that there is now one size fits all answer. There was no 
consistency across age, gender, diversity or locality. 
 
There were however some consistent trends:  
 

● Young people aged between 16-34 were more willing to change behaviours  
● There was also a female bias with regard to the willingness to change 

behaviours 
● Older people are aware, but less willing to change behaviours 
● Less awareness in North Manchester (9%), compared to South (17%) and 

Central (17%) 
● Data shows broadly stronger awareness among white respondents as 

opposed to Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) respondents 

Page 124

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

 
3. Next steps 

 
The research and insight is being used to inform a citywide communications 
campaign which will be launched in spring 2020.  

Page 125

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Appendix 3: Summary of Youth Climate Action Summit no 2 
 
1.0 Event Summary 
 
Nearly 350 pupils and teachers from schools across Manchester gathered for a 
special summit on 17th January 2020, to have their concerns heard, their voice 
listened to and develop new ideas for action on the issue of climate change. The 
Youth Climate Change Action Summit, held at the Manchester Central Convention 
Complex, was the second event of its kind to be held in the city.  It gave pupils aged 
from 9 - 14 the chance to explore what they can do to help the city to meet its 
ambitious, science-based target to become zero-carbon by 2038 at the latest. 
 
At the event three Manchester schools delivered presentations detailing their 
approach to tackling climate change. Young people expressed their views on how 
climate change should be tackled, explored its causes and challenged a panel of 
local civic leaders on the actions they are taking to ensure that the city meets its 
ambitious zero-carbon target.  Pupils attended workshops hosted by experts in their 
field, exploring what steps they can take at home and in school to reduce the carbon 
impact of energy consumption, transport choices and food and goods consumption, 
and explored what steps they can take at home and in school to reduce their carbon 
emissions.  All schools in the city were invited to send a group of pupils to represent 
them at the event.   
  
The event was recorded by young people from Groundwork as part of the ‘Young 
Reporters Project’, enabling young people to gain new skills in journalism to help get 
their voices heard and showcase their filming from the day. 
 
2.0 Background 
 
The first Manchester Young People’s Climate Change Action summit was held in July 
2019, during the same week that Manchester City Council formally declared a 
‘climate emergency’. 
 
The motion declared that climate change is a serious risk to Manchester’s future and 
committed the council to embedding the issue as an integral part of its decision-
making process - ensuring that all key decisions are taken with the city’s target of 
becoming zero-carbon by 2038 at the latest in mind. 
 
3.0 Introduction 
 
Objectives for the event: 
  
1. Outline what the city’s commitments are on climate change and share progress to 

date.  
2. Share good practice between Manchester schools.  
3. Provide an opportunity for young people to meet organisations, policy makers and 

decision makers, in order to understand what is happening and give young people 
a platform to challenge and debate.  

4. To listen to young people!  

Page 126

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

5. To provide information through themed workshops to help young people develop 
skills and take practical action in their homes, communities and schools. 

6. To provide teachers and school staff an opportunity to network, learn from other 
schools and be inspired to take away ideas. 

  
Young people's outcomes of the event: 
 
1. What can I do - in my school, in my community and at a city level.  
2. What do I need help with to enact change  
3. Help young people to articulate what they feel is missing. Capture this, consider 

and respond - including through actions that need to be taken forward by other 
organisations, as part of the Manchester Climate Change Framework for 2020-38 
and Action Plan for 2020-22. 

  
Format of the event:  
 
The aim was to make the event an interactive experience - to encourage active 
participation from delegates. The event was designed to inspire and enable our 
young people to get their voices heard and get ideas to take forward action at home, 
school and in their communities. The event was hosted by young people, with 
presentations from Manchester schools showcasing good practice and workshops 
delivered by experts in their field.  
 
3.1 Attendee metrics and survey 
 
Table 1: Attending schools by geography 
 

Area 
Total 
Schools 
from Area 

Primary Secondary 
Total Area % of 
Attending 
Schools 

North 11 7 4 22% 

Central 14 8 6 29% 

South 24 17 7 49% 

Totals 49 32 (65%) 17 (35%)  

 
Feedback on the day: A graffiti wall was created in the foyer for young people to 
write down their feedback following the workshops.  
 
Post event survey: Following the event a survey was sent to all schools to collect 
feedback to understand what worked well and what could be improved. The survey 
included 10 questions about the venue, the content of the event and open questions 
to capture likes / dislikes. The survey included a mixture of quantitative and 
qualitative questions. 
  
 

 

 

 

Page 127

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

3.2 Program and speakers 
 

The Summit was organised by Manchester City Council - by a cross directorate 
group of staff from Youth Strategy, Education, Directorate Support and the Waste & 
Recycling Team with support from the Manchester Climate Change Agency. 
 
Figure 1: Event programme 

 
 
Three schools (Dean Trust, Ardwick, Unity Community Primary School, Cheetham 
and Loreto High School, Chorlton) presented their schools approach to tackling 
climate change. This was the most popular segment of the event and received 
overwhelming positive feedback. 
 
All delegates attended two workshops after lunch which were delivered by partners 
including Action for Conservation, Biffa, City of Trees, Fareshare, Groundwork, The 
Ignition Project, the Journalism Club, Keep Manchester Tidy, Living Streets, 
Lancashire Wildlife Trust, Manchester Environmental Education Network, 
Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester Museum, Real Food Wythenshawe 
and the Royal Horticultural Society (RHS). 
 
This was followed by a Question and Answer session which included a panel of 
experts: Cllr Luthfur Rahman (Exec Member for Skills, Culture & Leisure), Cllr 
Angeliki Stogia (Exec Member for Environment, Highways and Planning), Cllr Garry 
Bridges (Exec Member for Children’s Services), Amanda Corcoran (Director for 
Education), Matthew Roberts (Transport for Greater Manchester), Jonny Saddler 
(Manchester Climate Change Agency). 
 

Page 128

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

3.3 Location and venue 
 
The event was held in the Exchange Hall at Manchester Central Complex, which is 
located in the city centre. The venue was easily accessible by public transport and 
had a car park on-site for those who travelled by car. Positive feedback was received 
from young people, school staff, workshop providers and MCC staff about the venue. 
The venue is purpose designed for conferences and suited the format of the event. 
The event began and ended in the auditorium. Workshops were delivered in the 
atrium spaces and small meeting rooms - which worked well. 
 
Registration for the event took place in the entrance, the space became quite 
congested during the registration period and led to delays starting the event. This 
could have been eased by having two registration desks and providing a longer 
period of time for schools to register prior to the event starting. A disney style queuing 
system could have made the process more ordered. 
 
3.4 Marketing, media and promotion 
 
The event was promoted via the Schools Circular (to all of Manchester’s 168 schools 
and education establishments) in December 2019 and again in January 2020. 
Schools were invited to request upto 5 tickets for young people aged 9-14. Tickets for 
the event were managed via Eventbrite. The aim was to allocate 300 tickets to 
schools - in total 356 were allocated. On the day 348 young people and school staff 
attended - a drop out rate of 2.25%.  
 
Social Media engagement: 
 
#McrClimateChange - 40 tweets were sent out during the event from a variety of 
groups, including schools, some of the organisations in attendance for workshops, 
and Manchester Youth Council  
 
@mcrclimateyb - The Manchester Climate Change Youth Board Twitter account 
(twitter.com/mcrclimateyb) was active during the event, seeing the following response 
to messages: 
 
Posts: 19 
Impressions: 20,500 
Retweets: 32 
Likes: 139 
Replies: 22 
Link Clicks: 12 
 
The engagement rate was 1%. Essentially, there was some sort of engagement for 
every hundredth time someone saw a tweet about this event, which is in line with the 
Council’s main Twitter account. 
 
Media: A media alert was issued on Wednesday 15th January 2020. There was a 
good response from media outlets and radio / tv interviews were conducted on the 
day of the event. 
 

Page 129

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

BBC Radio Manchester (preview piece, including interview with Cllr Luthfur Rahman, 
plus on-the-day vox pop with pupils) 
Hits Radio / Global Radio (attended on the day, to record interviews with Cllr Rahman 
and pupils) 
BBC North West TV (a short piece ran on Saturday 18th January 2020 bulletins, 
including vox pop interviews with pupils from Dean Trust Ardwick) 
Manchester Evening News - News article on 27th January 2020.  
 
Sponsorship: The organisations delivering the workshops waived any fees they may 
normally charge for the event.  
 
3.5 Staffing 
 
The venue provided a number of staff as part of the event package. This included 
security staff to undertake bag checks (venue requirement) and staff to guide young 
people to the event space. This support was valuable on the day. 
MCC staff (15) from across Neighbourhoods and Education provided support on the 
day to support stage management, marshalling, delivery of workshops and 
registration. 10 staff worked as ‘Marshalls’ during the event - providing support during 
ingress and egress. During registration the marshalls encouraged young people to 
capture their thoughts and feelings about the day ahead using tablets which created 
a word cloud on the screen in the auditorium. Staff then chaperoned the groups of 
children to their workshops and then back to the auditorium for the final session.  
 
The registration staff remained at the venue entrance until the final delegates left. A 
‘quiet space’ was made available in a room near the front foyer - teachers were made 
aware of this space in advance. The room was used by a couple of young people 
during the event. First Aiders were available from the venue staff and MCC staff 
present - nobody required first aid during the event. 
 
4.0 Conclusion and recommendations 
 
Feedback from the event has provided some useful learning to take forward and 
inform future events with young people.  
 
Event Programme: 
 
The majority of delegates thought that the event programme worked well and there 
was a good balance between listening and active engagement. Overwhelmingly, the 
most popular part of the event were the presentations from the three schools with 
over 80% of respondents rating this section as excellent. Young people also really 
enjoyed the opportunity to question leaders and many would have welcomed more 
time for this section. Over 87% of respondents thought the length of the event was 
about right. 
 
Workshops: 
 
The majority of feedback about the workshops was positive and this was an 
enjoyable section for young people. Young people described the workshops as ‘ 
inspiring’,’fun’ and ‘really good’. Workshop providers fed back that some students 

Page 130

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

may have benefited from receiving some pre event learning to ensure key concepts 
were understood - particularly for those at key stage 2.Comments from both schools 
and workshop providers suggest that whilst there were benefits to bringing primary 
and secondary school children together, the workshops may have been more 
effective if split by age: Stage 2 (9-11) and Key Stage 3 (11-14). 
 
Next Steps: 
 

- Pilot the ‘skills to save the planet’ resource - 7 schools have indicated they are 
interested. 

- Finalise the co-produced ‘Environmental Wheel’ resource with the Youth 
Council and pilot with young people. 

- Establish a ‘Youth Climate Action Network’ to keep progressing efforts to 
support young people to get their voices heard and enable climate change 
action. This network will create opportunities for MCC Officers with youth / 
environmental objectives to network, share ideas and collaborate. A link will be 
made to a wider network of external organisations working in this sphere. 

- Education to develop a system to capture schools environmental pledges and 
track progress.  

- Create an award category for ‘Young people tackling Climate Change’ in the 
annual young people's Buzz Awards. 

- Explore how schools can be better supported to reduce energy consumption 
from school buildings - this was a key theme which emerged from discussion 
at the event and from survey feedback. 

- Overwhelmingly, feedback from young people and teaching staff showed that 
the element they enjoyed the most was the opportunity to network and learn 
from each other. Schools need to be empowered and encouraged to network 
more. 

- Develop an action plan to take forward the recommendations from this report 
and for this to feed into the Zero Carbon Coordination Group. 

 
 

Page 131

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

Appendix 4: Summary of Policy and Funding Asks  
 
The successful delivery of the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25 
requires partnership working with Greater Manchester agencies and with UK 
Government. The Council also needs to influence the development of new policies 
and secure additional funding for infrastructure to support the city’s zero carbon 
ambition. 
 
A brief summary of these asks is provided below but the detailed proposals will be 
developed through Workstream 4 of the Zero Carbon Coordination Group. 
 
1. Greater Manchester 
 
Work with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority on the following areas: 
 

● Decarbonisation of the public estate 
● Decarbonisation of domestic and commercial buildings 
● Develop a Local Energy Plan for Manchester via the Greater Manchester 

Local Energy Market project which is funded by UK Research and Innovation 
● Developing joint funding bids to UK Government and other funding bodies 
● Work together to lobby UK Government to provide a devolved fund for 

commercial and domestic retrofit programme 
● Seek further devolution of powers from Whitehall to Greater Manchester to 

enable the city region to address the climate emergency 
● Support the Greater Manchester submission to the Comprehensive Spending 

Review and ensure that zero carbon is central to the submission 
● Continue to focus on brownfield development at the core of the conurbation  
● Consistent approach to considering climate change in procurements 

 
Work with Transport for Greater Manchester on the following areas: 

 

● Further expansion of Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 

● Delivery of Bus Reform including a fully Electric or Hydrogen Bus Fleet 

● Implementation of a Clean Air Zone 

● Implementation of the new City Centre Transport Strategy 

● Further expansion of Metrolink and ‘tram-trains’ 

● Promotion of active travel through implementation of Beelines walking and 
cycling network 

 
Work with the Greater Manchester Pension Fund to ensure that they: 

 
● Fully divest from investments in fossil fuels 
● Increase investment in local zero carbon schemes which benefit Manchester 

and the city region 
● Adopt the Manchester and Greater Manchester zero carbon 2038 target  

 
 
 
 

Page 132

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

2. UK Government 
 
As the host country for COP26 in November 2020, the UK now needs to become a 
global leader in tackling climate change and transitioning to a green economy. 
Government needs to set a much clearer national policy direction to deliver this level 
of change.  This means Government driving changes to the energy we use to shift 
much more quickly away from fossil fuels and towards renewable energy sources, in 
particular rapidly increase the pace and scale of solar, onshore wind, offshore wind, 
electric and other non-gas boilers, electric vehicles, national planning and building 
standards, and a credible aviation reductions plan nationally and internationally. 
 
The pace of change in Manchester could be significantly accelerated if we could 
work with Government to jointly develop and jointly invest in a green investment fund 
of significant scale, covering investments in energy, retrofit of domestic and 
commercial buildings, green infrastructure and biodiversity.  Greater Manchester and 
Manchester have the expertise of successfully running housing and infrastructure 
investment pots to generate an ongoing return on investment for reinvestment, and 
the same principles could be applied here 
 
In relation to the important role for Local Government on climate change improved 
national cooperation and leadership and planning is required on issues such as 
clean air and clean air zones.  The right economic incentives are not in place to 
enable Combined Authorities and Local Authorities to effectively rapidly drive this 
agenda. 
 
Government need to focus on developing national policies to accelerate progress 
towards zero carbon which support businesses and protect more vulnerable 
households. This should include removing subsidies for fossil fuels and shifting 
policy to favour renewable energy sources and de-risking the transition to zero 
carbon heating and energy. 
 
Some examples of the support we will be requesting from UK Government include: 
 

a) Funding and infrastructure 
 

● A UK Shared Prosperity Fund which can support delivery of Manchester’s 
zero carbon ambition 

● Continued access to European Funding such as Horizon Europe after the end 
of the UK’s transition period on 31 December 2020 

● A new national infrastructure approach and programme for domestic and 
commercial retrofit which also delivers on green jobs 

● Significant Government funding to kick-start a Greater Manchester / 
Manchester infrastructure investment fund in the actions identified in climate 
change action plans  

● A significantly funded scrappage or vehicle retrofit funding scheme to support 
the implementation of the Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone 

● Increased investment and support for research to accelerate the 
decarbonisation of the aviation industry 

● An enhanced Clean Air Fund of £1.5 billion to support 60 local authorities 
including Manchester 

Page 133

Item 5Appendix 1,



 

● Lobby for further investment in new transport and cycling infrastructure. 
 

b) Policies and standards 
 

● A national plan with targets which will ensure that the UK meets its obligations 
under COP21  

● A significantly funded incentivisation scheme to promote Solar PV investment 
across public, commercial and domestic buildings 

● Consistency of government policy across all departments e.g. Department for 
Education funding and school building standards and tensions with Section 
106 agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy 

● To ask that the planned fundamental review of Business Rates addresses the 
current disincentives to investing in solar PVs and other carbon reducing 
measures which then increase the Rateable Value and hence Business Rates 
liability of the asset 

● National planning policy to actively encourage onshore wind electricity 
generation rather than seek to restrict it 

● A coherent policy which promotes renewable energy with financial incentives 
for domestic and commercial premises such as grants alongside free 
insulation and other energy efficiency measures 

● National legislation on Single Use Plastics and other waste packaging 

● New legislation to reduce consumption based emissions and embedded 
carbon  

● Continue to lobby for local planning authorities such as Manchester to be able 
to set more ambitious energy efficiency standards for new buildings. This is in 
response to the Future Homes Standard consultation on Part L of the Building 
Regulations which proposes to “restrict local planning authorities from setting 
higher energy efficiency standards for dwellings”. Government should actively 
encourage cities and others to set their own more ambitious standards rather 
than seek to restrict this power. 

● More powers for local government on selective licencing to include energy 
efficiency alongside funding to effectively enforce 

● A national focus on Nature Based Solutions as a way of supporting climate 
adaptation and improving biodiversity, including significant funding to invest in 
natural infrastructure 

 

Page 134

Item 5Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to:  Executive – 11 March 2020 
 
Subject:  Planning and Climate Change 
 
Report of:  The Strategic Director -Development  
 

 
Summary 
 
The report provides a context to how planning is supporting the Councils ambitions 
on climate change. It sets out how as a longstanding objective associated with 
delivering quality and an environmental uplift in the City, we require developers and 
applicants to address associated issues through the application process and through 
the introduction of the various Regeneration Frameworks. 
 
Whilst it also highlights some of the challenges faced, including existing and potential 
future limitations on the planning system, the report sets out measures that would 
assist in addressing this key objective.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The Executive is recommended to 
 
1. Note the report. 
 
2. Agree to officers formally reviewing the Council’s approach to address the 

challenge of responding to the climate emergency via the planning process in 
advance of changes to the Government’s position on this issue following its 
recent consultation. 

 
3. Request that officers commence a review of the local validation list (the tool 

for ensuring all documents and plans required to assess an application are 
provided at validation stage) and to commence work with stakeholders to 
establish a Manchester Building Standard with the aim to achieve the best 
possible standards in new design with respect to carbon performance in order 
to support local plan policy formation to inform the review of Manchester's 
local plan. 

 
4. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, in consultation with the 

Executive Member for Environment, Planning and Transport, to amend the 
process for consultation and adaptation of changes to the local validation list. 

 
5. To endorse the development of guidance notes on retrofitting homes. 
 

 
Wards Affected:  All 
 

Page 135

Item 6



 

Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

 

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name: Julie Roscoe 
Position: Director of Planning, Building Control and Licensing 
Telephone: 234-4552 
E-mail: j.roscoe@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name: Richard Elliott 
Position: Head of Local Planning and Infrastructure /City Policy 
Telephone: 234-6494 
E-mail: r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

 
 

Page 136

Item 6



1.0 Introduction 
 
Manchester’s commitment to climate change is well documented. In November 2018, 
following analysis by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, the Council 
adopted a science-based carbon budget of 15 million tonnes of CO2 between 2018 
and 2100, and committed the city to becoming zero carbon by 2038 at the latest.  
 
In March 2019, the Council further endorsed the draft Manchester Zero Carbon 
Framework as the city’s overarching approach to meeting science-based targets on 
tackling climate change, as part of the wider Our Manchester Strategy. This included 
draft action plans from a range of organisations who are members of the Manchester 
Climate Change Partnership and are collectively responsible for 20% of the city’s 
emissions. 
 
In July 2019, Manchester City Council declared a climate emergency. This 
declaration recognises the need for the Council, and the city as a whole, to do more 
to reduce its carbon emissions and mitigate the negative impacts of climate change. 
It also demonstrated the Council’s commitment to be at the forefront of the global 
response to climate change and to lead by example.  
 
This leadership role includes making the best use of the policy and regulatory tools 
available to encourage low carbon activities and to lobby and influence others to 
support this essential objective. The key message is that we all have a role to play in 
tackling climate change and that action must be taken now.  
 
The planning system is one of the ways which can help mitigate climate change and 
assist in influencing and supporting those involved in place-making and shaping the 
use of land and buildings. 
 
In Manchester we have always focused on delivering key outcomes for the city, new 
homes and jobs and for development to meet the Councils quality agenda. This 
agenda includes clear environmental objectives; from tackling contaminated land, 
improving air quality, reducing pollution, reducing emissions from buildings, 
promoting less waste, encouraging sustainable travel, minimising flood risk to 
construction management.  
 
2.0 National Planning Policy 
 
The planning system is about trying to get the right development in the right place at 
the right time, benefitting communities, the economy and the environment. It 
specifies the quantity and quality of development, and what needs to be protected or 
enhanced in order to ensure that development is sustainable.  
 
With regard to climate change there is a statutory duty on local planning authorities to 
include policies in their local plans that are designed to tackle climate change and its 
impacts. In brief the legal framework seeks to secure development and the use of 
land that contributes to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change, that plans 
have climate change targets and policies and require some low-carbon energy 
generation from new development.  
 

Page 137

Item 6



Revised in 2019, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) includes a 
stronger emphasis on future development, previously lacking in the older version. It 
now states that plans must “pro-actively shape places in a way that contributes to 
radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve 
resilience”. It further notes that local planning authorities need to take account of the 
Climate Change Act 2008, which involves setting carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
targets, measuring progress on carbon dioxide emissions reduction and requiring on-
site renewable energy generation.  
 
As the Framework which sets out the governments planning policies for England, the 
NPPF also contains policies on a wide range of other topics such as significantly 
boosting the supply of housing, the use of land and the importance of development 
being viable to willing developers. The balance between these factors is left to local 
planning authorities to strike through its Local Plan preparation.  
 
Providing a high degree of certainty for communities, businesses and investors, and 
a framework for guiding decisions on individual planning applications, the local plan 
has to address needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the local economy, 
community facilities, infrastructure and the environment. It translates the Councils 
wider vision and ambitions into policy, including that on climate change.  
 
Manchester’s current local plan, the Core Strategy was adopted in 2012 and is about 
to undergo a refresh. This is a formal process which will have to be supported by a 
robust evidence base to inform any change in policy. The Councils declaration on 
climate change will be at the heart of this review which will seek to align policy and 
processes to tackle this key issue.  
 
However, despite the message in the NPPF it has its weaknesses. Whilst seeking “a 
proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change” the importance 
placed on this above all other matters and how it should be balanced is less clear. 
The Green Belt, heritage assets and meeting housing needs which are all important 
still appear to take precedent. There has and remains a national planning focus, 
through a “presumption in favour of sustainable development”; which has meant that 
where there are issues over housing land supply for example, the delivery of new 
homes has taken priority.  
 
Guidance on the viability of schemes has, as Members will be aware, been a key 
factor of development decision taking since the economic recession in 2008. Whilst 
this has been rebalanced to some extent through revisions to the NPPF it 
nevertheless remains a factor on ambition which will have to be tested through our 
development plan review. 
 
It is also important to note that whilst the NPPF may contain policies on climate 
change there is a distinct lack of practical advice and support to local authorities on 
how to secure a radical reduction in carbon emissions.  
 
For a local planning authority, the test will therefore be how to address its vision for 
future development in the local plan process in the context of the NPPF. On the one 
hand is the question of ambition and to what degree this could be robustly supported 

Page 138

Item 6



through the development plan but also, in setting targets and standards in relation to 
the energy efficiency of buildings how can deliverability be achieved and evidenced.  
 
It is also recognised that there are other potential challenges at a national level which 
are likely to impact on the Council’s climate change ambitions. We have, for 
example, seen the systematic deregulation of planning through the expansion of 
permitted development rights. Of significance is the focus on delivering more homes 
which has led to the conversion of commercial and other properties for housing, 
without the need for planning permission. Recent announcements suggest there are 
further legislative changes under consideration to relax the planning laws.  
 
Last year the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
launched a Future Homes Standard consultation. This set out potential changes to 
the Building Regulations, setting minimum levels of energy efficiency in buildings. 
The consultation set out two options to uplift energy efficiency standards:  

Option 1: 20% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current 
standard.  
Option 2: 31% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current 
standard.  

 
Government anticipate this could be delivered based on the installation of carbon-
saving technology such as photovoltaic (solar) panels and better fabric standards. 
 
By setting what it sees as an ambitious minimum standard the Government believes 
that the current approach to expecting individual authorities to set their own 
ambitious standards is inconsistent, confusing, and creates inefficiencies in supply 
chains, labour and outcomes.  
 
The Government is therefore proposing that once set as a minimum, local authorities 
would be restricted from imposing any further uplift. The inability of local authorities to 
respond to the climate emergency in this particular regard through its local plan 
process is a significant concern; not least as it is the review of our Core Strategy that 
we will look to introduce new planning policy to reflect and align with the Councils 
ambitions as set out in its Climate Change Declaration. This has been set out in our 
response to Government.  
 
 Existing Local Planning Policy 
 
Notwithstanding the above, Manchester has an existing framework that seeks to 
tackle climate change through our local planning policies. Prior to the adoption of our 
development plan - the Core Strategy, the city’s quality agenda was supported by the 
Guide to Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This was 
endorsed and adopted in 2007 and provided the step change to a more 
comprehensive set of environmental policies in the Core Strategy which was 
subsequently adopted in 2012.  
 
With regard to climate change the SPD set out a requirement, which still exists today, 
for planning proposals to be supported by an Environmental Standards Statement to 
cover:  
 

Page 139

Item 6



 energy efficiency and renewable energy,  

 environmental design,  

 water management,  

 construction management,  

 biodiversity; and, 

 climate change adaptation.  
 
Manchester subsequently became the first local planning authority in England to 
require a BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Assessment Method) 
accreditation for development proposals. As an assessment of environmental, social 
and economic sustainable performance it has been the principle tool for measuring 
the sustainable ratings of a development from construction through to its operational 
phase. 
 
The Core Strategy, which was also supported by the Council’s wider Sustainable 
Community Strategy, its Strategic Frameworks and the Climate Change Action Plan 
(Manchester: A Certain Future) embedded the principles of the Guide and introduced 
a number of policies that seek to enhance the built and natural environment and 
incorporates local and global environmental protection in planning activity.  
 
These existing policies include promoting the delivery of new homes and 
employment development in the city centre and in areas that are sustainable; that are 
aimed at increasing local decentralised energy and reducing carbon emissions and 
tackling the impacts of climate change through managing flood risk, enabling 
development to deal with differing temperatures and providing protection where 
required to ensure that a high standard of environment is created and maintained. 
Waste management, ecology and biodiversity, air quality and the treatment of 
contaminated land are all covered by the policy framework.  
 
With a clear focus on outcomes we strive to negotiate wherever possible above and 
beyond the requirements of the policy framework. This can be a challenge but we 
have continually explored how measures can be incorporated and introduced into our 
processes to help deliver these outcomes. 
 
On a broader level, this is possible through the Strategic Regeneration Frameworks. 
The expectation for addressing the Council’s objectives are at the heart of each 
framework and guidance on how environmental, social, design and economic 
requirements should be achieved.  
 
Detailed development proposals are then required to be supported by a significant 
and wide ranging amount of information at the planning stage. This is a requirement 
for all proposals and not simply those covered by a Framework. As an example and 
relevant to climate change this includes:  
 

 An Air Quality Assessment to evaluate the impacts of the development and 
proposed mitigation  

 In terms of ecology any identified ecological features or wildlife habitats on the 
site need to be set out together with how a proposal intends to deal with them 
with regards to biodiversity.  

Page 140

Item 6



 As noted above, an Environmental Standards Statement which addresses 
sustainability ratings and the provision of renewable energy within the 
development. This should include a Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Method - BREEAM - pre-assessment rating 
through the submission of a pre-estimator report which should demonstrate 
that a rating level of at least Very Good would be achieved.  

 A Blue and Green Infrastructure Statement which explores opportunities for 
such improvements as part of a proposal and how it seeks to the respond to 
the Vision and Objectives of the Councils Blue and Green Infrastructure Plan.  

 A Flood Risk Assessment if the application site is either located within a 
designated Flood Zone or is over 1 hectare in size. In Critical Drainage Areas, 
Flood Risk Assessment need to be provided for sites over 0.5 hectare in size. 

 A SUDs Strategy – as we encourage the use of green types of sustainable 
drainage systems as part of the green infrastructure on site, both types of 
SuDS (infiltration or attenuation) should be considered and reasons for not 
utilising them needs to be provided if alternative solutions are proposed.  

 A Transport Statement to assess the potential transport impacts of 
developments and if relevant propose mitigation measures to promote 
sustainable development. This includes the provision of electric charging 
points now or to ensure developments are future proved in this regard. 

 Where that mitigation relates to matters that can be addressed by 
management measures, the mitigation may inform the preparation of Travel 
Plans. 

 A transport statement regarding the available public transport and details of a 
parking management strategy for the use being proposed 

 A Travel Plan which includes long-term management strategies for integrating 
proposals for sustainable travel into the planning process based on evidence 
of the anticipated transport needs. 

 Where trees are impacted, a tree age and condition survey is required 
together with a tree replacement scheme.  

 
These are all considered during the planning application process to enable an 
informed and balanced decision to be made. This balance has to have regard to all 
key objectives including delivering a sufficient supply of homes and building a strong, 
competitive economy. 
 
We also encourage through the planning process the submission of a Construction 
Management Plan. Broadly speaking construction impacts are not material 
considerations for the local planning authority as these are controlled through other 
legislation. The purpose of requesting a CMP at the planning stage is therefore to 
seek early consideration of associated issues by relevant parties as it is recognised 
that these can cause concern in areas particularly of significant growth. It allows for 
potential amenity and environmental issues and mitigation measures to be identified.  
 
By pursuing all of the above and with the support of the policy framework we are 
helping to deliver the growth agenda and one that also addresses other key 
objectives such as climate change. Through our decision making process we are 
supporting investment in new job opportunities (including training) and across a 
range of sectors and supporting the delivery of new homes. At the same time, we 
require land that is contaminated to be treated to a high specification with 

Page 141

Item 6



environmental considerations being central to this, built developments to be highly 
sustainable both in terms of location and physical fabric; and, on site external space 
that provides an environmental uplift (or a contribution to improving green 
space/public space off site). 
 
We have also tried to redress the implications of the changes to planning regulations 
and the increase in permitted development rights. Concerns about the loss of 
employment space but also importantly the quality of new homes led to the decision 
to introduce an Article 4 Direction for parts of the city. This has removed the right to 
change use from office and light industrial to residential without a planning consent 
bringing back such development into our control.  
 
Proposed Next Steps  
 
In advance of the refresh of the Core Strategy, and to help steer developers and 
applicants and those who need more encouragement, officers have been considering 
how we can strengthen our position to address climate change.  
 
One way to provide a greater focus on the issue is through the information required 
at application stage. The validation checklist noted above is used to specify the 
documents that have to be submitted before an application can proceed. This was 
updated in 2018 to allow for greater transparency with regards to viability 
assessments. It would seem timely to amend the list further particularly regarding our 
requirements for and contents of an environmental standard and a sustainability 
statement 
 
This would include a review of the use of BREEAM. Whilst the BREEAM 
accreditation scheme still exists a lack of assessors nationally could undermine the 
Councils position as applicants are no longer able to submit for example post 
construction accreditation reports. With the cancellation of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes in 2015 we should also look at information that could be provided on the 
energy efficiency of buildings and on-site generation. 
 
With the ongoing issues that are being raised in the city about construction 
management it is proposed the review include what more could reasonably be 
included in supporting documents to help address environmental impacts at the 
planning stage. 
 
The process for amending the validation checklist is relatively straight forward and 
will require a period for consultation (a minimum of 6 weeks). This could be in place 
by early summer.  
 
The above, however, only addresses new development and where development 
requires planning permission. Regardless of when permission is needed, providing 
practical advice on sustainable construction and retrofitting existing homes would be 
a positive step. This would help residential occupiers to approach retrofitting more 
sustainably and support measures for such works. 
 
Once scoped it will be necessary to identify the resource, with the appropriate level of 
knowledge to help draft such guidance. There is an opportunity though for this to be 

Page 142

Item 6



developed with our housing team and possibly registered providers to capture all 
housing sectors.  
 
3.0 Recommendations 
 
Being outcome focussed and through the existing policy framework and our 
processes much is already negotiated and delivered through the planning system.  
 
As we work towards the Council’s 2038 ambition through the local plan review, an 
updated evidence base, including that on low carbon and renewable energy 
generation, flood risk assessments which understand climate change scenarios and 
consideration of the viability of development will be prepared. The focus will be on 
the ability of our local policies to ensure that new buildings play a key role in 
delivering carbon reduction. 
 
From discussions with the industry it is clear that many responsible developers 
already recognise that it is incumbent on them to address climate change issues. 
Many contractors, developers and occupiers understand their corporate social 
responsibility and how important this issue is to decision makers. In many ways we 
are pushing at an open door. Engaging with the industry is already assisting in 
understanding what is achievable and deliverable.  
 
There are others out there who will need more encouragement and the planning 
process is a key part of providing this encouragement. 
 
Updating and opening up the validation checklist has the potential to help in this 
regard, as will be providing practical advice and guidance to those who may need 
more of a steer in addressing climate change. 
 

Page 143

Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Executive – 11 March 2020 
 
Subject: Re-designation of Northenden Neighbourhood Forum 
 
Report of: Strategic Director (Growth and Development) 
 

 
Summary 
 
The Northenden Neighbourhood Forum (the Forum) has applied for a re-designation 
of the forum as required by the relevant Act and Regulations. In November 2013 the 
Council designated a Neighbourhood Forum and a Neighbourhood Area in 
Northenden. The Neighbourhood Forum designation expired in November 2018, 
whilst the Neighbourhood Area designation remains extant. The current application, if 
approved, would re-designate the Forum for a new five year period. 
 
The consultation on the re-designation, which ran from 17th December 2019 to 4th 
February 2020, elicited responses from nine organisations and individuals. Five 
responses objected to the re-designation, one was in support and three were neutral. 
The representations have been taken into account when making the 
recommendation in relation to the Forum’s application. 
 
The assessment of the re-designation application, based on the analysis of the 
representations in section 3 and the assessment of the Forum’s application in 
sections 4 and 5 points to some concerns with respect to the prevailing situation with 
respect to the Forum. Notwithstanding the concerns identified the overall conclusion 
is that the Forum should be recommended for re-designation. 
 
Whilst re-designation is recommended, it is clear that the Forum could benefit from 
some further guidance as set out in paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6 of this report. This would 
help to improve the potential effectiveness of the Forum in working with elected 
members and the wider community in Northenden; and reinvigorate the Forum’s 
efforts to develop their neighbourhood plan.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The Executive is recommended to: 
 
1. re-designate the Northenden Neighbourhood Forum organisation as a 

Neighbourhood Forum; and  
 
2. instruct officers to provide the feedback set out in paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6 of 

this report to the Northenden Neighbourhood Forum.  
 

 
Wards Affected - Northernden 
 

Page 145

Item 7



 

Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Contribution to the strategy 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and distinctive 
economy that creates jobs and 
opportunities 

The re-designated Neighbourhood Forum 
would be able to produce a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for this area in accordance 
with the existing development plan. The 
group’s constitution makes reference to 
supporting the development of commercial 
elements in the area. 

A highly skilled city: world class and 
home grown talent sustaining the city’s 
economic success 

Well-planned development can support 
delivery of training and employment 
opportunities. 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

Neighbourhood planning processes encourage 
residents to get involved and influence 
decision-making. 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, work 

The group’s constitution refers to supporting 
the sustainable development of the area as a 
destination for a range of uses so that it 
increasingly becomes a place where residents 
and visitors can go to engage with other 
people in the community and where there are 
a variety of reasons to visit. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to drive 
growth 

Well-planned development can make the most 
of the connections within an area.  

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for 
 

 Equal Opportunities Policy 

 Risk Management 

 Legal Considerations 
 

 
Financial Consequences – Revenue 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the decisions proposed in this 
report on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

The designation of the Northenden Neighbourhood Forum will enable the group to 
continue their work on a neighbourhood plan for the designated area. The plan will 
need to ensure it contributes to the overall objective to achieving a zero carbon target 
for the city by 2038 at the latest. This will be achieved by the demonstration that the 
neighbourhood plan is in conformity with the strategic policies of the current Core 
Strategy (2012) and any subsequent emerging draft Local Plan produced by the 
Council. 

Page 146

Item 7



There are no direct financial costs arising from the re-designation of a 
Neighbourhood Forum. The Council can claim £5,000 from MHCLG for the first five 
Neighbourhood Forums designated within Manchester (including re-designation of 
forums). The initial designation of a Neighbourhood Forum in Northenden has been 
the only such designation in Manchester, therefore the Council will be eligible for 
£5,000 following re-designation of the Forum. 
 
Once designated, a Neighbourhood Forum would be able to prepare Neighbourhood 
Development Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders, which would be 
submitted to the Council who must publicise these and carry out a consultation 
process. The Council would also have to bear the costs of independent examination 
of any Neighbourhood Development Plan / Development Order, and eventually of 
any referendum required by the Localism Act prior to the adoption of such plans and 
orders. It is likely that a large proportion of these costs will be covered by financial 
support from the government: currently set at £20,000 as a one off payment which is 
claimable once a date has been set for a referendum for a Neighbourhood Plan 
where one had not already been made for the area; and £20,000 p.a. claimable in 
relation to Neighbourhood Development Orders / Community Right to Build Orders 
once a date for the referendum on these has been set. 
 
The Council is legally required to provide support and advice to Neighbourhood 
Forums throughout the preparation process for Neighbourhood Development Plans 
and Neighbourhood Development Orders. Whilst the ‘Duty to Support’ does not 
require the Council to provide financial assistance to neighbourhood forums, there 
will be resource implications in terms of staff time. 
 
Financial Consequences – Capital 
 
None. 
 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Eddie Smith 
Position:  Strategic Director (Strategic Developments) 
Telephone: 0161 234 3030 
Email:  e.smith@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Richard Elliott 
Position:  Head of Local Planning and Infrastructure / City Policy 
Telephone:  0161 219 6494 
E-mail:  r.elliott@manchester.gov.uk 
 
 
Name:  Julie Roscoe 
Position:  Head of Planning, Building Control and Licensing 
Telephone:  0161 234 4552 
Email:  j.roscoe@manchester.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 147

Item 7



Name:  Duncan McCorquodale 
Position:  Planning and Infrastructure Manager 
Telephone:  0161 234 4594 
E-mail: duncan.mccorquodale@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Claire Milner 
Position:  Senior Policy Officer 
Telephone:  0161 234 4678 
E-mail:  c.milner@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 

 Northenden Neighbourhood Forum Application 

 Executive report dated 20th November 2013 designating a Neighbourhood 
Forum and Neighbourhood Area in Northenden 

 Executive report dated 14 September 2016 setting out a Neighbourhood 
Planning Policy Framework with respect to the designation and operation of 
any proposed neighbourhood forums applied for under the relevant legislation. 

 

Page 148

Item 7



1 Introduction 
 
1.1 In November 2013 the Council designated a Neighbourhood Forum and a 

Neighbourhood Area in Northenden. The Neighbourhood Forum designation 
expired in November 2018, whilst the Neighbourhood Area designation 
remains extant (a plan showing its extent is in Appendix 1 to this report). Since 
2013 the Forum has begun work on a Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

 
1.2 On August 30th 2019 the Council received an application for the re-designation 

of the Neighbourhood Forum. This application was ‘invalid’ as it did not include 
21 addresses within the Neighbourhood Area for forum members living / 
working within the Neighbourhood Area. A valid application was received by 
the Council on 12th November 2019. 

 
2 Background to Neighbourhood Planning 
 
2.1 The concept of Neighbourhood Planning was introduced through the Localism 

Act 2011. It enables local community organisations (comprising at least 21 
individuals) to initiate and produce Neighbourhood Development Plans and 
Neighbourhood Development Orders. In order to do this a community 
organisation must apply to the Council for the designation of a Neighbourhood 
Area in their locality; and also for designation of the organisation as a 
Neighbourhood Forum. 

 
2.2 Further background to the Neighbourhood Planning process is set out in the 

report entitled ‘Manchester City Council Policy Framework for Neighbourhood 
Planning’, which was approved at Executive on 14th September 2016. That 
report sets out the Council’s perspective on Neighbourhood Planning, the 
current legal requirements, relevant case law and the Council’s 
Neighbourhood Planning Policy Framework against which applications for the 
designation of Neighbourhood Areas will be assessed. 

 
2.3 Following the expiry of the previous forum designation in Northenden, there 

are no designated Neighbourhood Forums within Manchester at present. In 
addition to the Northenden Neighbourhood Area designation there is a 
Neighbourhood Area in Castlefield which was designated in October 2016. 

 
3 Consultation 
 
3.1 The Council consulted on the Northenden Neighbourhood Forum (the Forum) 

application between Tuesday 17th December 2019 and Tuesday 4th February 
2020. During this time the applications and supporting information were 
published online and a hard copy of the documents was available in 
Northenden community library. Stakeholders on the Council’s planning policy 
database were notified and the weblink was circulated to community 
organisations in the Northenden area. Site notices were posted at three 
locations within the Neighbourhood Area.  

 
3.2 Nine organisations / individuals made representations on the Neighbourhood 

Forum application, of which five were objecting to the re-designation, one was 

Page 149

Item 7



in support and three were neutral. The representations have been taken into 
account when making the recommendation in relation to the Neighbourhood 
Forum application and are summarised below. 

 
 Neutral representations: 
 

Sport England, Natural England and National Grid have all provided 
information to be taken on board in the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan, 
if a forum is re-designated. 

 
Supporting representation: 
 
Friends of Rose Hill – supports the application: the Forum is an open and 
thoughtful organisation which has developed real influence, the Forum has 
undertaken a range of excellent work over the last five years.  

 
Objecting representations: 
 
The five representations that set out objections are summarised below. 
 

 Concerns raised about how representative the forum membership is of the 
wider community in Northenden – a specific example given in the 
representations was that when younger people asked for an area to hang 
out in, a skate park and covered benches the forum said no to all of these 
suggestions; 

 Noting that meetings tend to attract a low turnout with only a core group of 
members regularly attending meetings despite the forum stating a 
membership of over 500 people; 

 The core group in the forum making decisions without adequate 
consultation of the wider membership that has joined the forum; 

 The fact that no neighbourhood plan has been produced as yet; 

 The geographical focus of the forum is primarily around Palatine Road and 
the area around the river; and 

 The production of the district centre report by the Institute of Place 
Management (IPM) from Manchester Metropolitan University represents a 
detailed and up to date plan for the community. 

 
Council’s response to representations 

 
3.3 The Council’s response to key issues raised in the objecting representations is 

set out below. 
 

Transparency in terms of forum membership 
 

The Forum application received by the Council included details of twenty one 
members, all of whom disclosed their age bracket. All members provided a 
residential or business address within the Northenden Neighbourhood Area. 
All bar one stated their ethnic background, and all apart from two provided 
information on their occupational background. In line with legal requirements, 
members have the option of this information being withheld from the version of 

Page 150

Item 7



the application form which is published for consultation, but the Council has 
used the full information relating to the twenty one members to assess the 
extent to which the membership is drawn from different places in Northenden 
Neighbourhood Area and from different sections of the community in the area. 
Please see section 4 of this report for that assessment. 
 
The forum is unrepresentative of the local community 

 
When making a decision on whether to re-designate the Forum the Council is 
required to have regard to the extent to which the membership is drawn from 
different places in Neighbourhood Area and from different sections of the 
community in that area. This assessment is set out in section 4 of this report, 
and the report makes recommendations in terms of how the Forum could take 
steps to become more representative of the local community.  
 
Local residents who are not members of the Forum would be able to give their 
views on the emerging Neighbourhood Plan as it is prepared, and ultimately 
there would be a referendum on whether any Neighbourhood Plan would be 
able to come into force. 

 
Very low attendance at forum meetings in comparison to size of 
membership claimed 
 
Legislation does not set out a requirement for the number of members who 
must attend forum meetings. Forums are required to have a constitution, by 
which they are bound and the submitted document sets out the requirements 
for meetings. The Council also has the power to withdraw a neighbourhood 
forum designation from a group if it considers that the group is no longer 
meeting the designation requirements. Therefore issues relating to how 
representative the forum is can be kept under review. 

 
The forum has not produced a Neighbourhood Plan despite being 
designated for five years 

 
Lack of progress with a Neighbourhood Plan does not provide a reason for the 
Council to refuse re-designation of the Forum. The Council can provide further 
guidance to the Forum as appropriate to assist with preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan. Further discussion on this point is set out in section 5 of 
this report. The representations noted the production of the Northenden 
District Centre report by IPM. Whilst this has been produced for different 
purposes (i.e. it is not a land use planning document) there is merit in 
discussing further with the Forum how elements of the IPM work could be 
incorporated into a revised neighbourhood plan.  

 
Forum priorities have focused on only a limited geographical area 

 
A Neighbourhood Forum is required to consult during the preparation process 
for a Neighbourhood Plan, therefore if local residents consider that the policies 
in an emerging plan are too narrow, or that the plan is omitting certain issues 

Page 151

Item 7



or geographical areas, they will be able to raise these concerns during the 
consultation process.  

 
4 Assessment of the Neighbourhood Forum application against statutory 

requirements 
 
4.1 The application for the renewal of the Forum has been assessed against the 

legal requirements set out in legislation1. Moreover, it has been considered 
against the Council’s Neighbourhood Planning Policy Framework, agreed at 
Executive in September 2016. 

 
Legal Considerations 

 
4.2  The potential forum should be established for the purpose of promoting or 

improving the social, economic and environmental well-being of the 
neighbourhood area concerned. 

 
Section 2 of the Forum’s constitution sets out its purpose and meets this 
requirement. 

 
4.3 Membership of the forum must be open to: 

i. Individuals who live in the NA 
ii. Individuals who work in the NA 
iii. Individuals who are elected members of a council whose area falls 

within the NA 
 

Section 3(a) of the Forum’s constitution states that membership is open to 
everyone who lives or works within the NA, and to representatives of the 
electoral wards and to MPs and MEPs whose constituencies fall within the NA, 
so this requirement is met. 

 
4.4 Membership of the forum must be at least 21 people, each of whom falls into 

at least one of the categories above. 
 

The application provides names and addresses of 21 members and evidence 
has been included in the application to demonstrate that the members 
included in the list of 21 people either live or work in the neighbourhood area. 
The application later states at page 7 that membership of the Forum is 
currently 540 people. 

 
4.4 The forum must have a written constitution 
 

The Forum does have a written constitution. 
 
4.5 Whether the potential forum has secured (or taken reasonable steps to 

secure) that its membership includes at least one individual falling within the 
three categories above. 

 

                                            
1 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 61F 

Page 152

Item 7



The list of members in Q3 of the application form includes people falling within 
the first two of the categories (i.e. living within the NA, working in the NA). It 
does not include anyone from the third category (elected representatives). The 
application does state later on that the ward councillors are amongst the wider 
membership. 

 
4.6 Whether membership is drawn from different places in the neighbourhood 

area concerned and from different sections of the community in that area. 
 

An analysis of the addresses supplied with the application indicates that there 
is a reasonable spread of addresses across the neighbourhood area. 

 
4.7 The Localism Act does not specify what is meant by “different sections of the 

community” in this requirement, but when the original forum application was 
assessed in 2013 an interpretation was derived based on issues such as age, 
ethnicity and occupational background. The table in Q3 of the application 
provides the ages of all of the 21 people it lists, ethnicity information for all 
apart from one person, and occupational background information for all apart 
from two people.  

 
Age: all apart from two of the 21 people listed under Q3 of the application 
form are aged between 31 and 75, with around half aged 46-60. In addition 
there is one person aged between 16-30 and one aged over 76. The 46-75 
age brackets are more heavily represented in the list of Forum members than 
they are in Northenden ward as a whole, with 72% of the 21 members falling 
within this age bracket compared to just 32% of the ward population derived 
from Mid-Year Estimates (MYE) 2017 data. The 2017 MYE data shows that 
19% of Northenden ward is aged between 15-29 and the application for re-
designation includes one member aged between 16-30 (5% of the 21 people 
listed in the application).  

 
Ethnicity: 20 of the 21 people listed in Q3 have provided information on their 
ethnicity and all of these people are white British / English. Northenden is one 
of the least mixed wards in the city ethnically, with the 2011 census showing 
that 85.4% of people living in Northenden ward fall within white ethnic groups. 
3.4% of the people in the ward are of mixed ethnicity, but beyond that no more 
than 2% of the population falls within one specific ethnic group in the 2011 
census. Therefore, as apart from white ethnic groups there is no other ethnic 
group with a significant population within the ward, it can be considered that 
the Forum broadly reflects the ward. 

 
Occupational background: a range of occupational backgrounds are 
represented. 

 
4.8 The Forum was originally designated in 2013. The report to Executive (20 

November 2013) that recommended the approval of the forum highlighted 
some concerns with respect to the composition of the forum’s identified 21 
members as follows: 

 

Page 153

Item 7



“The ‘Engagement’ section of the forum’s application demonstrates that the 
organisation has made a concerted effort to involve residents through 
invitations to community groups and posters in public buildings, shops, 
schools and churches. Therefore it is considered that, although no members 
fall within the younger age range, a reasonable effort has been made to draw 
members from different sections of the community and so the second part of 
this bullet point is addressed. However, this report recommends that the forum 
should be encouraged to recruit some members aged under 25 over the next 
3 years from the date the Forum is designated. The Council may withdraw 
designation if the Neighbourhood Forum no longer meets the criteria set out at 
paragraphs 3.2 or 3.3 above.”  

 
4.9 The approved Forum subsequently did make further efforts to broaden the 

membership. The application submitted to re-designate the forum states in 
section 7, “Our membership is open to all who qualify and is free of charge. It 
currently stands at 540 and is drawn from residents of, people who work in 
and own businesses in, & elected representatives for Northenden. A number 
of other voluntary groups are represented amongst our membership, and our 
residential members’ addresses cover all parts of the designated area. The 
three local Councillors are NNF members.”  

 
5. Consideration of the Council’s Neighbourhood Planning Policy 

Framework 
 
5.1 The original application for the Forum was granted in 2013. The Council 

subsequently developed a Neighbourhood Planning Policy Framework, 
approved at Executive in September 2016. 

 
5.2 The Framework covers three main aspects: 
 

 Proposals for Neighbourhood Planning will be supported only where they 
complement wider Council policies and programmes for the regeneration 
of the City and its neighbourhoods. 

 

 Proposals for Neighbourhood Planning will only be supported in areas that 
can reasonably be represented by Neighbourhood Forums in terms of 
population and strategic significance. 

 

 Proposals for Neighbourhood Planning will be supported as a means of 
delivering the aims of the Our Manchester Strategy and those of the 
applying relevant body. The Council will promote the use of the most 
appropriate measures to achieve these aims. 

 
5.3 With respect to the three aspects of the Framework, the consultation 

responses in section 3 and the assessment set out in section 4 of this report 
highlight some matters that need to be fed back to the forum.  

 
5.4 The consultation responses note the following matters of concern: 
 

Page 154

Item 7



 The representativeness of the Forum and in particular the attendance at 
meetings of the Forum  

 The tendency for meetings of the Forum to focus on only parts of the 
designated neighbourhood area 

 The perceived lack of progress in producing a neighbourhood plan 

 Noting the separate production of a district centre document by the Institute 
of Place Management 

 
5.5 The assessment at section 4 acknowledges the Forum’s efforts to broaden the 

membership of the Forum. Notwithstanding this effort, it is suggested that the 
Forum may require some further guidance to ensure the Forum works 
effectively with locally elected members and the wider community in 
Northenden. 

 
5.6 The Forum has developed a draft neighbourhood plan but progress over the 

last couple of years has stalled. It would therefore be prudent to also provide 
further guidance to the Forum on how it may expedite renewed progress on a 
neighbourhood plan, taking account of any updated evidence base including 
for example, the work undertaken by IPM on Northenden District Centre, and 
ensuring a robust community engagement programme. 

 
6 Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
6.1 The analysis of the representations in section 3 and the assessment of the 

Forum’s application in sections 4 and 5 points to some concerns with respect 
to the prevailing situation with respect to the Northenden Neighbourhood 
Forum. Notwithstanding the concerns identified the overall conclusion is that 
the Forum should be recommended for re-designation. 

 
6.2 Whilst re-designation is recommended, it is clear that the Forum could benefit 

from some further guidance as set out in paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6 of this report. 
This would help to improve the potential effectiveness of the Forum in working 
with elected members and the wider community in Northenden; and 
reinvigorate the Forum’s efforts to develop their neighbourhood plan.  

 
7.   Next Steps 

 
7.1 The decision whether or not to re-designate the Northenden Neighbourhood 

Forum is subject to Scrutiny call-in for a week. If the forum is re-designated 
and not subject to call in the re-designation of the Northenden Neighbourhood 
Forum will be publicised by the Council, as required by the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). The Northenden 
Neighbourhood Forum’s designation would last for five years, until 18th March 
2025, unless it is withdrawn before that date.  

 
8. Contributing to a Zero-Carbon City  
 
8.1 The designation of the Northenden Neighbourhood Forum will enable the 

group to continue their work on a neighbourhood plan for the designated area. 
The plan will need to ensure it contributes to the overall objective to achieving 

Page 155

Item 7



a zero carbon target for the city by 2038 at the latest. This will be achieved by 
the demonstration that the neighbourhood plan is in conformity with the 
strategic policies of the current Core Strategy (2012) and any subsequent 
emerging draft Local Plan produced by the Council. 

 
9. Contributing to the Our Manchester Strategy  
 
 (a) A thriving and sustainable city 
 
9.1 The re-designated Neighbourhood Forum would be able to produce a 

Neighbourhood Development Plan for this area in accordance with the existing 
development plan. The group’s constitution makes reference to supporting the 
development of commercial elements in the area. 

 
 (b) A highly skilled city 
 
9.2 Well-planned development can support delivery of training and employment 

opportunities. 
 
 (c) A progressive and equitable city 
 
9.3 Neighbourhood planning processes encourage residents to get involved and 

influence decision-making.  
 
 (d) A liveable and low carbon city 
 
9.4 The group’s constitution refers to supporting the sustainable development of 

the area as a destination for a range of uses so that it increasingly becomes a 
place where residents and visitors can go to engage with other people in the 
community and where there are a variety of reasons to visit. 

 
 (e) A connected city 
 
9.5 Well-planned development can make the most of the connections within an 

area. 
 
10. Key Policies and Considerations 
 
 (a) Equal Opportunities 
 
10.1 All communities across the City have the opportunity to get involved in 

neighbourhood planning. 
 
 (b) Risk Management 
 
10.2 As representations raised concerns it terms of how well the forum represents 

the population of the Neighbourhood Area there is a risk that local planning 
policies could be brought forward which sufficient regard to the interests of the 
wider community. This risk is mitigated by the proposal to maintain a dialogue 
with the Forum so that the designation can be reviewed if it becomes apparent 

Page 156

Item 7



that the forum has become less representative and no longer meets statutory 
requirements. 

 
 (c) Legal Considerations 
 
10.3 The Council has the powers to designate Neighbourhood Forums in line with 

the Act. This report sets out the matters to which the Council must have 
regard in making this decision. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 157

Item 7



Appendix 1 – Northenden Neighbourhood Area 
 
The Neighbourhood Area below was designated in November 2013.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Northenden

Didsbury West

Sharston

Chorlton Park

Didsbury East

Brooklands

Baguley

Crown copyright and database rights 2020
Ordnance Survey 100019568

Ward boundaries

Boundary of Northenden Neighbourhood Area 
designated by the Council on 20th November 2013

Page 158

Item 7



 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Executive – 11 March 2020 
 
Subject: A five-year workforce strategy to sustain and continually improve 

Children Social Care Services 
 
Report of: Strategic Director of Children and Education Services Directorate 
 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 Following Ofsted’s inspection in 2017 which judged Manchester’s Children’s 

Services to no longer be inadequate, the service has continued to make 
progress and improvements in the services provided; this is evidenced through 
independent peer reviews and through Ofsted’s focused visits in 2018 and 
more recently December 2019. However, it is evidently clear in order for the 
service to continue to make improvements as we strive for Manchester’s 
Children’s Services to be judged a ‘good or better’ by Ofsted, a key success 
factor is for there to be a stable, talented and confident workforce. Failure to 
achieve this can potentially undermine and reverse the progress that has been 
made to date, thus bringing a reputational and arguably financial risk the 
council.  

 
1.2 At its meeting on 10th December 2019 SMT received a paper that set out the 

Children and Education Directorate’s approach to recruitment and retention of 
qualified social workers. The report referred to the national context in which 
the service operates; referring to the national recruitment and retention 
challenge the social work profession is experiencing; the refocusing of the 
regulators inspection framework on the quality of social work practice 
illustrating the importance of a stable and confident workforce, supported by 
both a competitive remuneration package and a workplace which facilitates 
and supports the professional development of staff.  

 
1.3 The report to SMT which has been reflected herein provides an innovative and 

targeted approach to staff retention by offering a range of financial incentives 
to specific groupings of roles which have proven difficult to recruit, retain and 
offer the foundation for the development of the services’ future strategic 
leaders. However, this in itself will not be sufficient to deliver our ambitions for 
Manchester’s children, it has to be located within a wider context of a longer 
term and strategic workforce plan and approach to continual improvement. 
One with strengthened accountabilities through a personal performance 
framework (Senior Manager progression and About You) that recognises and 
values the importance of early help and intervention with children and their 
families; complemented by a clearer operating model to enhance and deliver 
our commitments to Manchester’s children.  

 
1.4 It proposed the initiatives set out in this report will be funded through the 

effective use of: 

Page 159

Item 10



 

 

 The Social Care Grant as indicated in the current budget plan for 2020/21. 
 

 Application of a vacancy factor of 10%, which is a reduction of 10% against 
the performance since September 2019 and would be considered ‘healthy; 
this would compare favourably to a national turnover and vacancy rate. In 
addition this also allows for student/new social workers to come into the 
service thus bringing a dynasim and creating opportunities for progression. 

 

 Incorporating the current ‘Families First Team’ within Manchester’s Early 
Help Service to strengthen and extend the reach of the Troubled Families 
programme, which will release monies that then can be redirected and 
avoid any compulsory redundancies.  

 
 The expectation would be unless in exceptional circumstances over time the 

reliance on interim or agency staff, thus removing this financial pressure.  
 
1.5 Finally, the service embraces a high challenge and support approach to 

continuous improvement. This is why some financial incentives are linked to 
performance. In addition the importance of a reciprocal relationship between 
an operating model which maximises outcomes for children and a purposeful 
recruitment and retention strategy that promotes a stable talented and 
confident workforce is also recognised. Acknowledging this dynamic context 
and as challenged by SMT and Executive Members this report sets out the 
strategic direction of the service and our workforce plan including an approach 
to recruitment and retention for the next five years. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
1. That the Executive note that the grading and pay changes related to this report 

will be considered by the Personnel Committee or dealt with under powers 
delegated to Chief Officers. 

 
2. That having given due regard to the strategic ambitions, challenges in 

recruitment of qualified children and families social workers in order for 
Manchester City Council to have a stable, confident and talented social work 
workforce, the Executive approve the proposals in paragraph 1.4 above to 
provide the budget for that the grading and pay changes related to this report.  

 
3. That the Executive agree that the service continues to actively promote the 

successes, initiatives and activity of the Education and Children Services and 
Neighbourhood Directorates in order to continually improve the experiences 
and outcomes of Manchester’s children and young people. 

 

 
Wards Affected 
 
All 
 

Page 160

Item 10



 

Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of the contribution to the strategy 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

 It is important we build a safe, healthy, happy and 
successful future for all of Manchester’s children so 
that they can benefit from and contribute to the 
sustainability of Manchester thriving, economically 
diversity and success. Children’s Services work with 
those children who need help, support and 
protection so they can make progress in terms of 
education, training, social development and 
subsequently contribute and benefit from living in 
Manchester.  

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

Children and young people matter in Manchester. 
The work of the Children and Education Directorate 
is driven by a commitment to provide opportunities 
and achieve positive outcomes; building a safe, 
happy, healthy and successful future for all of the 
city’s children and young people  

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

Increase the influence Manchester's children and 
young people have on decisions that impact on 
them by supporting and enabling their voice to be 
heard 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

A safe and effective children and education system 
is important to promoting the awareness and 
inclusion of children in the engagement of wider 
societal issues; which together with a successful 
education offer make Manchester a place parents to 
choose to visit, live and work.  

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

Continually improve outcomes for all children and 
‘reduce the gap’ against the national attainment 
average 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for 
 
● Equal Opportunities Policy 
● Risk Management 
● Legal Considerations 
 

 
Financial Consequences – Revenue 
 
The estimated cost of these proposals is £2.336m in 2020/21, reducing in 2021/22  
onwards. The costing provided in the report above indicates a £282k shortfall in 
2020/21. This will be managed within existing budget given not all of the proposed 
55fte additional grade 8’s will be in post April 2020 onwards. For 2021/22 onwards 
the funding proposals will need to be reconsidered in light of further information on 
the continuation of Government funding for Troubled Families and the Social Care 

Page 161

Item 10



 

Grant. If this funding does not continue the proposals in this report will continue to be 
a priority for the service and the ongoing affordability will need to be considered in the 
context of the Council’s overall financial position.  
 
Financial Consequences – Capital 
 
None. 
 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Paul Marshall 
Position:  Strategic Director Children and Education Services 
Telephone:  0161 234 3804 
E-mail:  p.marshall1@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 162

Item 10



 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1 Following Ofsted’s Inspection of Manchester’s Children’s Services in 2017, as 

evidenced within the following governance/reporting arrangements: 
 

 Performance/assurance reporting 

 “Focussed visits” by OFSTED  

 Commissioned independent peer challenge  

 Established programme of self-assessments 

 Scrutiny and governance arrangements 
 
1.2 Manchester’s City Council's Children’s Services have continued to improve the 

experiences and outcomes of children and their families in receipt of services; 
most recently reflected in Ofsted’s focused visit published on 21 January 2020. 

 
1.3 Children’s and Education Services Leadership Team has given due regard to 

the progress, analysed data and collectively developed a series of measures, 
with the support of SMT, to be delivered by March 2020 that seek to build on 
the strengths to; 

 

 Recognise the commitment and loyalty of our staff 

 Arrest the increase in social work turnover 

 Increase the social work experience in the service 

 Remove the reliance on agency staff  

 Clarify key strategic behaviours that underpin our approach to 

 continuous improvement  
 
2. Summary of proposals  
 
2.1 In addition to being one of the first Local Authorities to deliver a Social Work 

Apprenticeship Scheme (now in year 2 with positive progress being reported 
for all apprentices) and planning underway for our second cohort, at its 
meeting of the 10th of December 2019 SMT endorsed the following proposals. 
The aim of these proposals are/were to mitigate against a twofold risk 
associated with an unsuccessful recruitment and retention strategy ie 
undermining the progress made to date in improving children's services and a 
continued reliance on high cost agency staff, who by the nature of their 
employment are less likely to buy into the organisation's vision and objectives. 
A summary of the financial incentives is listed below and are supplemented by 
a “refer a friend” scheme. 

 

Social Worker Level 1 £2,000 retention payment after 2 years’ 
service; paid either in a lump sum or 
alternatively in 3 instalments of £666 on 
their 2 year anniversary, 6 months later 
and a further 6 months after that. We 
propose to engage staff on the 
preferred option.  

Page 163

Item 10



 

Senior Social Worker £5,000 market rate supplement,  

Team Manager Continuation of £5,487 market rate 
supplement - supported with a 
consistent and clear set out objectives 
identified in About You.  

* Market rate supplements are subject to National Insurance and pension 
contributions. 
 

2.2 The impact of these proposals will be reviewed 18 months after 
implementation and in accordance with the market rate policy to measure the 
success of the approach; this review will also consider the following 
measurers: social work experience, retention, agency reliance and the quality 
of social work practice. 

 
2.3 A current and ongoing recruitment campaign that has been in place since 

November/December 2019 has highlighted significant difficulties in recruiting 
to the post of Service Manager and Head of Service/Locality, with few Service 
Manager applications and no suitable applications being received for the Head 
of Locality. A subsequent benchmarking exercise has identified that 
Manchester does not offer a competitive salary - on average local authorities 
across Greater Manchester and the North West Region offer £5,000 more in 
basic salary. There are currently 3 posts of which 1 is currently covered by an 
interim and the other 2 post holders are in receipt of a honorarium as in interim 
response to a successful regrade claim which placed the role at SS2 and is 
due to expire on 31/3/20. Within the presenting context SMT are asked to 
support this and progress to the Personnel Committee for approval.  

 
2.4 In respect of the Service Manager post many are newly appointed/first time in 

role. A benchmarking exercise has indicated the salary is comparable. 
However, this does not recognise the challenges, intensity and demands of a 
large and diverse city when compared with other parts of the region. 
Consequently taking account of advertising costs etc. it is considered a market 
rate of £2k will be a sound investment to place Manchester City Council in a 
competitive position if we are to successfully retain talent and develop our 
service managers into our future leaders; which it is proposed is linked to their 
About You process and successful delivery of key objectives and is moderated 
by the Deputy Director Children’s Services. 

 
2.5 It is worth noting the recent publication of the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 

Independent assurance review of the effectiveness of multi-agency responses 
to child sexual exploitation in Greater Manchester published on 14th January 
2020 has the potential to have a negative and undermining impact on the 
moral and existing staff as well as the professional/public perception profile of 
Manchester’s Children’s Services. Thus within the aforementioned context it is 
important our collective efforts need to be redoubled to counterbalance this 
potential and ensure our recruitment successes are not compromised to the 
detriment of Manchester and its residents. 

 

Page 164

Item 10



 

2.6 In anticipation of SMT and Executive Member support our refreshed social 
work recruitment campaign is planned to start on 1st March 2020. 

 
3. Context and strategic direction  
 
3.1 The proposed strategy is intended to be flexible/adaptive in order to respond 

to changing fiscal and social policy over the next five years. As a result our 
strategic approach to service delivery will continue to be informed by a 
dynamic Directorate Business Plan which will be focussed on delivering safe, 
effective and efficient services. In addition, the approach to service planning, 
delivery and service improvement and the basis for our strategic endeavours 
will continue to be informed by the ‘Our Manchester’ Behaviours, principles, 
relationship focussed practice, the signs of safety, passionate about our ways 
of working and performance; tracked and monitored via measurable goals and 
objectives articulated in our service practice model (Our Practice in 
Manchester) and Directorate Plan. 

 
3.2 Improving the quality of social work practice is a key short, medium and long 

term priority for the service. To date, that has been significant progress with 
regards to the ‘infrastructure’ to support and underpin this and includes the 
following: 

 Revised Quality Assurance & Performance Framework 

 Development of ‘Top 10 Behaviours and Rules’ for quality of practice 

 6 Golden threads 

 Refreshed audit approach 

 Improved professional supervision policy 

 Revised practice standards  

 Refined and well understood practice model  

 Clear and well understood strategic objectives  

 Clear, measurable Directorate Plan  

 Locality programme  

 Working relationship with MLCO  

 Service redesign - Complex safeguarding hub, the Front Door, leaving 
care, early years /early help, social work delivery model families first, family 
contact, youth justice service and fostering. All of these reviews are 
designed to ensure resources are used to maximum effect supporting our 
strategic intentions  

 Independent confirmation of a strong self-assessment (Peer reviews and 
OFSTED) 

 
3.3 Continuous improvement through self-assessment is now an embedded 

approach and will continue throughout the next 5 years. 
 
3.4 The remainder of this paper sets out in further detail underpinning approach to 

continual service improvement and the recruitment and retention of qualified 
children and family social workers for the next 5 years. 

 
4. Performance Management  
 

Page 165

Item 10



 

4.1 Over the next 5 years we will continue to use our developed performance and 
assurance arrangements in order to sustain focus on our evidenced based 
improvement activity. The analysis of our data will be made more 
straightforward through the investment in Liquid Logic. This combined with an 
interpretation of the potential social policy changes and the regulator’s 
priorities will ensure we will be a fit for purpose and adaptive organisation; 
ensuring we deploy sufficient resources, management and leadership capacity 
in the right places so that we deliver our strategic ambitions; put simply we will 
be guided by evidence in our decision making. 

 
5. Service Redesign  
 
5.1 In the last year our approach to ‘Delivering Children’s Services in a Locality’ 

has been overseen by a programme management approach that has and is 
incrementally transforming and redesigning services. This approach has 
promoted rigour, challenge and has engaged staff in many of our redesigns. 
We believe this is a helpful way to plan change and whilst we recognise it is 
essential to consolidate our approach to many of the service development 
since 2016 we also recognise the service has to have the capacity and an 
appropriate methodology to oversee redesign that will ensure we are 
responsive. It is intended with the support of the Reform and Innovation Team 
to continue with a programme approach to service development over the next 
5 years.  

 
6. Governance  
 
6.1 It is envisaged that governance of the service throughout the next 5 years will 

continue to be achieved through the Directorate leadership team, performance 
/assurance arrangements and reporting via executive member portfolio, 
accountability meetings (Manchester safeguarding Partnership and the with 
the Leader and Chief Executive of the Council) and scrutiny committee. It is 
envisaged that the collaboration with the MLCO is likely to develop within the 
next 12 months and continue further over the next 5 years. Whilst it is difficult 
to predict the exact nature of this, the Our Manchester behaviours will drive 
this collaboration. Improving our strategic thinking with the LCO as 
commissioner and providers of services to children will be focussed on 
improving the whole system of children services and is welcomed. Similarly, 
the services engagement with placed based activity and our influence with 
other Council services and partners will remain a key focus over the next 5 
years. 

 
7. Assurance activity 
 
7.1 Throughout the next 5 years the service will continue to promote methods of 

continuous improvement embracing self-assessment, peer challenge, quality 
assurance activity workforce development and ensuring management 
oversight in the pursuit of the delivery of a confident talented skilled workforce. 
It is envisaged, supported by the statutory organisations of the Manchester 
Safeguarding Partnership, that this improvement is also likely to see an 

Page 166

Item 10



 

increased focus on joint agency improvement activity and a greater focus on 
place and the contribution of locality leaders.  

 
7.2 Central to this work will be our long term commitment to our 6 Golden threads 

which will remain key practice objectives throughout the next 5 years. Having 
spent a significant period reflecting on how our practice model interacts with 
other key determinants of the wider practice environment; Our Manchester 
Behaviours, relational practice and our passions we will look to develop a 
deeper sense of how this impacts on professional practice  

 
8. Locality working  
 
8.1 As referred to above the service will further develop our approach to locality 

working driven by a placed based approach located in our three geographical 
areas of North South and Central interacting with our 13 neighbourhoods and 
32 wards. The locality system approach goes beyond the day -to- day working 
of individual practitioners. It creates a unifying methodology, language and 
understanding that supports outcome based working across the children's 
service system. It empowers professionals to develop a wider sense of the 
culture of Our Manchester, we will continue to support placed working and 
improve the focus, effectiveness and outcomes of children throughout the next 
5 years.  

 
9. Proportionality  
 
9.1 It is a strategic objective to continually strengthen our approach to early 

intervention; preventing the unnecessary escalation of children’s needs so that 
they require statutory intervention. This is an essential element of our strategic 
behaviours over the next five years as it will take a system wide culture 
change. Subsequently throughout the next 5 years we will influence universal 
services in design and targeting of resources; actively promoting and 
embracing technology to develop new ways of working and predictive factors 
to best target and meet vulnerability. This will of course be a significant driver 
for a changing relationship with the MLCO, health visiting and public health. 
We are keen to ensure our early help service builds on its evident success and 
effectively target its service to maximise the ongoing troubled families’ 
investment. Our move to locality Advice Guidance and Support drawing on key 
partners has already made progress in changing behaviours. This will remain 
a key aspect of our approach to accessing children’s social care services.  

 
10. Partnerships  
 
10.1 The service has and will continue to invest in partnership working in places 

and has strengthened local leadership capacity focusing on partnership 
practice ensuring proportionately of service and workforce development. The 
aim is to create the conditions that enable practitioners working together in a 
locality having conversations to agree effective, right and timely interventions 
resulting in positive change for our children to have safe, happy healthy and 
successful lives  

 

Page 167

Item 10



 

10.2 All of this activity will be reflected in the Children and Education Services 
Directorate Plan 2020-24, which is currently being reviewed to ensure it is 
contemporary and reflective of recently refreshed corporate and wider 
strategic partnership priorities.  

 
11. Locality Management Arrangements  
 
11.1 Our locality programme project management approach has been the means 

by which we have and will continue to develop the service in response to our 
self-assessment, new and emerging practice challenges, service redesign and 
ensuring our service delivery arrangements are designed to deliver our 
ambitions of delivering a safe effective and efficient service. The Head of 
Locality posts (x 3) were established in 2018 in response to both the 
Children’s Services self-assessment and Ofsted’s findings (2017) around the 
requirement to develop and strengthen management arrangements on a local 
level and in order to be able to improve and drive the consistency and quality 
of social work practice. 

 
11.2 Since the establishment of the posts, the expectations and demands placed 

on the Heads of Localities have shifted in-line with the strategic direction of the 
Directorate. The roles were operational leaders focused on compliance and 
performance. However, as the Directorate drives towards a position of 
integration with partners and locality ways of working, the roles are now 
expected to be strategic leaders across the system with the responsibility for 
leading multifaceted and complex children’s services. Since August 2019 and 
as an interim measure, the existing post holders have been remunerated via 
an honorarium arrangement until a planned review of Children’s Services 
Social Care Services was completed. The aim of the review has been to 
ensure available resources and capacity are deployed appropriately and 
aligned to the strategic direction of the Directorate; it is anticipated that this 
review will be finalised and implemented by April 2020.  

 
11.3 As indicated the final draft has been considered and subject to amendments 

will be finalised by February 2020. However, in response to the ongoing 
challenges and risks associated with the recruitment of middle and senior 
social work qualified leaders and the centrality of the role it is proposed to 
progress the permanent regrade of the Heads of Locality for Personnel 
Committee consideration on Wednesday 12 February 2020. In addition, SMT 
agreement to award the proposed market rate to the Service Managers; 
subject to a 2 year ‘lock in’ agreement and delivery of an agreed About You 
objective(s).This will reflect their key role in supporting improvements in the 
quality of practice of our front line staff. Our locality and permanence service 
have been realigned to ensure a more proportionate response to the changing 
needs of the children the service is engaged with and to deliver the quality of 
practice that will support children reaching their full potential; this is reflected in 
ensuring we recruit and retain the correct experience in the service.  

 
12. Recruitment and Retention - A 5 Year Approach to Recruiting and 

Retaining Qualified Children and Family Social Workers 
 

Page 168

Item 10



 

12.1 Manchester’s Children’s service operates within a national and local context in 
which retention of social workers is an ongoing challenge; the most recent 
evidence suggests this situation is not likely to improve soon. In September 
2019, 26 local authorities across England reported children’s social work posts 
were occupied by 30% interim/agency staff.  

 
12.2 Our long term Business intelligence demonstrates over a 10 year period, 

201.7 Social Workers left Manchester City Council, of which: 
 

 42.4 left within 12 months of employment 

 55.1 left within 2 years of employment 

 Almost 50% of the leavers left within their first 2 years of employment 

 80% of the total leavers were Social Worker G7 
 
12.3 Manchester is a large and diverse city with a high level of deprivation. This 

presents unique opportunities and challenges for social workers; which take 
time to adjust for any new starter within Children’s Services. Added to this, 
recent business intelligence informs us we have continued challenges 
regarding the recruitment and retention of social workers with 2 years+ 
experience. A benchmarking analysis informs us that at basic grade Social 
Work entry we pay a competitive minimum salary, however the maximum 
salary is not as competitive as GM authorities who offer an ‘experienced’ pay 
band which isn’t available in Manchester; when this band is factored into the 
total reward package, Manchester offers the lowest salary in GM. In respect of 
Senior Children and Families Social Worker roles, MCC offers the lowest 
minimum and maximum salary. Neither of these factors contribute to the 
necessary objective of building a competent confidence workforce. 

 
12.4  Despite this there has been a significant reduction in the use of interim/agency 

staff which has in turn increased the stability of the workforce (a key factor to 
ensuring a children’s services area continue to improve year on year) and 
social worker turnover recorded to be as low as 5% in the area teams during 
the summer of 2019. Furthermore the financial spend on agency staff has 
reduced by £1.7m since 2017. However, in recent months the turnover and 
vacancy rates for children and family social workers has increased; following 
previous patterns and arguably hindering practice improvements.  

 
12.5 Analysis of exit interviews, ‘leavers’ and a Terms and Conditions 

benchmarking exercise indicates a common reason that contributes to the 
pattern of social workers leaving the employment of the council after 2 years is 
the complexity of the social work task and a significant difference in the salary 
paid by Manchester City Council and neighbouring authorities for 
‘experienced’ social workers.  

 
12.6 Despite the increasingly competitive nature and challenges associated with 

the recruitment and retention of Children and Families Social Workers, 
Manchester’s Children’s Services has seen a reduction in the turnover of 
social workers from c25% in 2014 to 15% in 2019 and agency staff from 121 in 
2015/16 to 26 as of October 2019. This is principally attributed to the service 
reforms that have been successfully delivered to date, reduced caseloads and 

Page 169

Item 10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/782154/Children_s_social_work_workforce_2018_text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/782154/Children_s_social_work_workforce_2018_text.pdf


 

our enhanced reputation and reflects the interrelationship between retention, 
leadership/management and practice environment / model.  

 
12.7 In addition to offering existing staff opportunities to become a Qualified Social 

Worker via Manchester’s Social Work Apprenticeship and being a key partner 
to the Greater Manchester Social Work Academy, Manchester City Council’s 
current offer to staff/social workers includes: 

 

 Development and implementation of a career pathway 

 Supervision arrangements and staff development programme/ 
opportunities 

 Development of practice standards  

 Bespoke support for ASYEs (Newly Qualified Social Workers) 

 Promoting flexible and new ways of working  

 Regular staff engagement/ training events.  

 Sustainable financial arrangement for the Greater Manchester Social Work 
Academy; thus ensuring a ‘flow’ of locally trained qualified social workers 
and an apprenticeship scheme.  

 Exploring the opportunity to recruit final year students as social work 
apprentices 

 
13. Retention  
 
13.1 The service has drawn on additional evidence to gain a deeper understanding 

to support a longer term approach to recruitment and retention. This analysis 
and exit interviews indicate responses are split across the following three 
broad areas: 

 
1. Social Workers moving to another authority for more money  
 
2. Social workers changing career and Social Workers moving back to 

their hometown 
 

3. Most significantly, our Bheard feedback an analysis of the ‘fair deal’ 
factor (the section that measures how valued employees feel, particularly 
about their pay and benefits) and free text comments has been undertaken in 
respect of Children’s Localities and Permanence. These service areas 
respectively scored 9% and 7% lower than the Council overall in terms of ‘fair 
deal. With the Council scoring below the ‘Ones-to-Watch’ benchmark in this 
factor, scores for Children’s Localities (11%) and Permanence (8%) were even 
further away from the ‘One Star’ benchmark aims of the Council. The 2019/20 
Bheard results have further reinforced this feedback and reflects a worsening 
picture.  

 
13.2 In response to feedback from staff and 2018/19 Bheard survey a working 

group of staff and managers were established to explore approaches to 
improving wellbeing, recognising and valuing staff and effectively 
improvements which are within the ‘gift’ of the Directorate. The conclusion of 
which was an agreement to apply the following approaches: 

 

Page 170

Item 10



 

 Career Pathway Review: ensuring progression evidence of Our 
Manchester behaviours, principles, values, identified evidenced based and 
practice model - improving the lives and outcomes of Manchester’s 
children.  

 Social Worker ‘TOIL’ project: innovatively designed to enable a team to 
have friday off via a rota/cover arrangement. 

 Retention engagement events: events hosted by the Deputy Director, 
Children’s Services which provides a platform for social workers to share 
the good news, opportunities and challenges. 

 Monthly Social Worker message: a dedicated monthly message which 
will include social worker case studies, key messages and national, local, 
regional news. 

 Exit interviews: robust process and proper oversight of exit interviews and 
reporting completion rate back into the Directorate. 

 The role of the Principal social worker: we have enhanced this role to 
ensure a connection between strategy and practice  

 Health & Wellbeing portfolio: supporting our social work workforce with 
managing the complexities and emotional demands that are encountered. 
This includes specialist resilience and wellbeing training delivered by 
Robertson Cooper, Mindful Mondays and Wellbeing Week. 

 
13.3 The delivery of a successful long term approach to recruitment and retention 

within Children’s Services gives due regard to the underlying challenges and 
therefore encompass financial incentives to entice individuals to work and stay 
in Manchester as such it requires longevity and connection with our self-
assessed business needs and wider long term strategic priorities. A measure 
of success would be a 10% turnover rate; which would be better than a 
national average. 

 
14. Financial Implications 
 
14.1  The table below illustrates the financial commitment which will be required to 

deliver the necessary and innovative incentives that will drive recruitment, 
retention and ensure the correct level of staff to lead and drive the areas we 
require further the improvement  

 

 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

 £000’s 

Market Supplements  342 342 342 342 342 

Revised structure 726 726 726 726 726 

Retention and Loyalty 747 578 523 473 473 

Non-Workforce budgets 520 520 520 520 520 

Total Expenditure 2,335 2,166 2,111 2,061 2,061 

Social Work Turnover - 
7.5% 

866 866 866 866 866 

Social Care Grant 500 500 500 500 500 

Families First Saving 687 687 687 687 687 

Page 171

Item 10



 

Total Funding 2,053 2,053 2,053 2,053 2,053 

Shortfall/-Surplus 282 113 58 8 8 

  
14.2 The revised Locality and Permanence structures have been costed out on the 

basis of 45 teams of 6 staff, with two grade 6’s, two grade 7’s and two grade 
8’s per team. The estimated cost of these proposals is £2.335m in 2020/21, 
reducing in 2021/22 onwards. This will be funded by: 

 

 Staff turnover reducing to more manageable levels as a result of a revised 
offer to social workers. An additional 7.5% staff turnover assumption over 
and above the standard 2.5% vacancy factor and no planned use of 
agency leads to £0.866m being available from the current budget. 

 The Children’s budget for 2020/21 proposals includes £500k for recognition 
of loyalty and commitment from the 2020/21 Social Care grant. There is a 
need for this funding to continue to support these proposals. 

 Extending the reach of Early Help to incorporate funding of Families First 
by the Troubled Families grant will lead to 19fte moving into the Early Help 
service and £0.687m of cash limit budget being redirected to support these 
proposals. It should be noted that in 2018/19 and 2019/20 the Early Help 
budget has been supplemented by c£2m of Troubled Families funding. The 
continuation of funding has recently been confirmed for 2020/21 at an 
indicative sum of £3.174m. 

 
14.3 The costing provided in table above indicates a £282k shortfall in 2020/21. 

This will be managed within existing budget given not all of the proposed 55fte 
additional grade 8’s will be in the new financial year. For 2021/22 onwards the 
funding proposals will need to be reconsidered in light of further information 
on: the level of Local Government funding arising from the fair funding review 
due to take place in 2020/21 and come into effect from April 2021; 
continuation of Government funding for Troubled Families and the Social Care 
Grant. If the funding does not continue the proposals in this report will continue 
to be a priority for the service and the ongoing affordability will need to be 
considered in the context of the Council’s overall financial position.  

 
14.4 Clearly there are some potential risks associated with a high turnover rate and 

cash limit shortfall. However, it is expected this will be mitigated and 
manageable as the national turnover rate is 15%, remodelling of the Family 
First Service, avoiding a reliance on agency staff, and not all staff will be 
eligible for progression to be an Advanced Social Work role.  

 
15. Current and future operating context  
 
15.1 In supporting its commitment to a locality model of social work the service 

appointed Heads of Locality whose broad remit focussed on improving the 
performance of the service; compliance and quality improvement, as well as 
leading and shaping local partnerships to address localised issues. This has 
added to the strength of local partnerships, intervention with families and 
outcomes for children, recently recognised by OFSTED; this function will 
remain a priority within the service.  

Page 172

Item 10



 

 
15.2 In order to support monitoring, challenging and improving quality we also 

require to build experience and provide an environment where talent can 
flourish it is essential given the complexities, intensity and the aspirations for 
the highest quality of social work practice and to support our strategic 
priorities, noted below, we require to recruit and retain experienced confident 
and capable social workers and managers to our deliver our next phase of 
improvement, this includes financial incentives and competitive salaries 
(funded via the flexible market factor supplement) to enable our recruitment, 
retention and succession planning strategy to be successful.  

 
15.3 In concert with this approach our workforce development strategy requires us 

to ensure retention, support and development as key to delivering our short, 
medium and long term objectives. In the following sections of this report we 
identify what our strategic behaviours and priorities are over the next five 
years.  

 
16. Summary  
 
16.1 Manchester Children’s and Education Services has made significant progress 

since 2017, achieving a regional and national profile befitting of this proud and 
passionate city; never satisfied with mediocrity this paper outlines the 
approach to build on those foundations and ensure continuous improvement is 
sustained. However, without a stable, confident and talented workforce the 
ability to achieve our collective ambition to build a safe, happy, healthy and 
successful future for all our children are likely to be impaired. This is none 
more so than that within children’s social care.  

 
16.2 As indicated a key contributing factor to sustained improvement within 

children’s services is the stability and experience of its social workers. 
Research and evidence indicates the modern day social worker is younger 
and predominantly female, with 16% aged between 20 - 29 years of age (DfE 
daa release February 2019) and 59% less than 5 years’ experience. 
Subsequently whilst there is an inevitability of turnover, it can be lessened by: 

 

 The organisational culture; moving away from a risk averse and blame to 
one that is characterised by learning, high support and challenge.  

 Workloads that enable practitioners make a difference in the lives of the 
people they work with 

 Career opportunities and development 

 A supportive environment in which supervision is regular, structured and 
reflective; thus enabling their skills, knowledge and ability is developed  

 Recognition of the challenging circumstances/situations they experience 
everyday so that they feel valued and supported in making difficult 
decisions 

 Equipment and working environment that is adaptive and mobile with an 
office space that is supportive and promotes peer support and group 
supervision. This continues to be a ‘work in progress’.  

 

Page 173

Item 10



 

16.3 In addition whilst salary is very rarely cited by social workers as a reason for 
leaving a job, it is inevitably a factor when experienced workers move between 
employers (Local Government Association, 2015); this has been a recurring 
feature in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 Bheard surveys that social workers (like 
most other employees) want ‘fair pay’ at a level which accurately reflects their 
responsibilities and demonstrates the value attached to their work. The 
benchmarking undertaken and referenced within this report indicates that the 
salary offered by Manchester City Council is disproportionately less than 
Greater Manchester and the North West Region for key roles. Roles that are 
essential to building practitioner confidence, sustaining improvement and 
successful succession planning through a stable, confident and talented 
workforce. 

 
16.4 Finally it should be noted, social work is not an homogenous group and the 

needs and demands change from service to service eg the challenges and 
needs found in frontline ‘child protection’ teams will differ greatly to those of an 
adoption independent chair service/unit. This is why any recruitment and 
retention strategy like that set out in this paper has to be adaptive and 
responsive; especially one that aims to meet the needs of children and their 
families for the next 5 years. Subsequently underpinned by competitive 
salaries that can be met from within the existing resource allocation albeit 
some risks as set out in section 16 along with the mitigating actions, this paper 
sets out a range of adaptive range of initiatives that can be applied over the 
short, medium and long term to achieve a stable, confident and talented 
workforce; delivering our ambition both for the service and Manchester’s 
children and young people. 

 

Page 174

Item 10



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Executive - 11 March 2020  
 
Subject: Capital Programme Update 
 
Report of: Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report informs members of requests to increase the capital programme, seeks 
approval for those schemes that can be approved under authority delegated to the 
Executive and asks Executive to recommend to the City Council proposals that 
require specific Council approval. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1. To recommend that the Council approve the following changes to Manchester 

City Council’s capital programme: 
 

a) Growth and Development – Piccadilly Gardens Phase 1. A capital budget 
virement of £1.811m is requested, funded by Sustaining Key Initiatives 
budget. 

 
b) Growth and Development – HOME Arches Phase 1. A capital budget 

increase of £0.215m is requested, funded by Borrowing. 
 

c) Neighbourhoods - Purchase of Electric RCV’s. A capital budget increase of 
£9.4m is requested, funded by £5.7m Borrowing and £3.7m Invest to save. 

 
d) Public Sector Housing - Northwards Housing 2020/21 Capital Programme. 

A capital virement of £10.406m is requested from Northwards Housing 
Unalllocated, funded by HRA (RCCO). 
 

e) Growth and Development – Carbon Reduction Programme Phase 2. A 
capital budget increase of £15m is requested, funded by Borrowing. 
 

f) Growth and Development – Carbon Reduction Action Plan Delivery. A 
revenue budget increase of £1m is requested, funded by Capital Fund. 
 

g) Growth and development – Greening of the City. A capital budget increase 
of £1m is requested, funded by Capital Fund. 

 
2. Under powers delegated to the Executive, to approve the following changes to 

the City Council’s capital programme: 
 

Page 175

Item 11



a) Highway Services – Levenshulme Active Neighbourhoods Early Works. A 
capital virement of £0.327m is requested from Highways Investment 
Programme, funded by Borrowing. 

 
b) Children’s Services – North Ridge High School – Special Capital Fund 

Additional Funding. A capital virement of £0.477m is requested from 
Special Educational Needs Grant Unallocated, funded by Government 
Grant. 

 
c) Public Sector Housing – Housing Delivery Model. A revenue budget 

increase of £0.100m is requested, funded by Housing Investment Fund. 
 
3. To note update on Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (Education 

Basic Needs) project. 
 

 
Wards Affected - Various 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the decisions proposed in this 
report on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

All capital projects are reviewed throughout the approval process with regard to the 
contribution they can make to Manchester being a Zero-Carbon City. Projects will not 
receive approval to incur costs unless the contribution to this target is appropriate. 

 

Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Contribution to the strategy 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and distinctive 
economy that creates jobs and 
opportunities 

Contributions to various areas of the economy 
including investment in ICT services, 
Housing, and leisure facilities. 

A highly skilled city: world class and 
home grown talent sustaining the 
city’s economic success 

Investment provides opportunities for the 
construction industry to bid for schemes that 
could provide employment opportunities at 
least for the duration of contracts 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

Improvements to services delivered to 
communities and enhanced ICT services. 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, work 

Investment in cultural and leisure services 
and housing. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to drive 
growth 

Through investment in ICT and the City’s 
infrastructure of road networks and other 
travel routes. 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for 
 

● Equal Opportunities Policy 
● Risk Management 
● Legal Considerations 

 

Page 176

Item 11



 
Financial Consequences – Revenue 
 
The recommendations in this report, if approved, will increase Manchester City 
Council’s revenue budget by £1.1m across financial years. 
 

 
Financial Consequences – Capital 
 
The recommendations in this report, if approved, will increase Manchester City 
Council’s capital budget by £25.615m across the financial years as detailed in 
Appendix 1. 
 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Carol Culley 

Position:  Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
Telephone:  234 3406 

E-mail:  c.culley@manchester.gov.uk 

 
Name:  Tim Seagrave 

Position:  Group Finance Lead – Capital and Treasury Management 
Telephone:  234 3445 

E-mail:  t.seagrave@manchester.gov.uk 

 
Name:  Kirsty Cooper 
Position: Principal Finance Manager – Capital 
Telephone: 234 3456 

E-mail: k.cooper@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
Report to the Executive 13th February 2019 – Capital Strategy and Budget 2019/20 to 
2023/24 

Report to the Executive 13th March 2019 - Capital Programme Update 

Report to the Executive 26th June 2019 - Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 24th July 2019 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 11th September 2019 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 16th October 2019 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 13th November 2019 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 19th December 2019 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 15th January 2020 – Capital Programme Update 
Report to the Executive 12th February 2020 - Capital Programme Monitoring 2019/20 
  

Page 177

Item 11



1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report outlines the requests for changes to the capital budget from 

2019/20. 
 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 In February each year, the Executive receives a report on the capital budget 

for the forthcoming five financial years and approves a series of 
recommendations to make to the City Council. The City Council’s resolutions 
on these recommendations constitute the approval of the five-year capital 
programme for the City Council. Proposals for the capital budget were 
presented to the Executive on 13th February 2019. 

 
2.2 The capital programme evolves throughout the financial year, and as new 

projects are developed they will be reviewed under the current governance 
framework and recommendations made regarding whether they should be 
pursued. 

 
2.3 The following requests for a change to the programme have been received 

since the previous report to the Executive on 12th February 2020. 
 
2.4 Please note that where requests are made in the report to switch funding from 

capital to revenue and to fund the revenue spend from the Capital Fund, this is 
a funding switch from within the capital programme and will not have a 
negative impact on the Fund itself. 

 
2.5 For the changes requested below, the profile of the increase, decrease or 

virement is shown in Appendix 1 for each of the projects. 
 
3.0 City Council’s Proposals Requiring Specific Council Approval 
 
3.1 The proposals which require Council approval are those which are funded by 

the use of reserves above a cumulative total of £2.0m, where the use of 
borrowing is required or a virement exceeds £0.5m. The following proposals 
require Council approval for changes to the capital programme.  

 
3.2 Growth and Development – Piccadilly Gardens Phase 1. The project to 

redevelop the wider Piccadilly Gardens area forms a fundamental part of the 
City Centre Development Strategy as this is one of the primary gateways for 
visitors into Manchester. Redevelopment of this space into an area visitors 
and Manchester residents can enjoy passing through or using as a destination 
and meeting place is a core benefit of the redevelopment. This phase 1 
request will enable the appointment of a Design and Build Contractor to 
deliver the redevelopment, surveys, design works and planning submission 
and also to bring forward short term improvements to enhance the experience 
of the space and reduce current levels of anti-social behaviour. Work will be 
carried out whilst in consultation with the property owners in the surrounding 
area to develop and fund the proposals. Initial work will address removal of the 
free standing wall which will improve sight lines which have been highlighted 

Page 178

Item 11



as a contribution to antisocial behaviour in the Gardens area. A capital budget 
virement of £0.030m in 2019/20 and £1.781m in 2020/21 is requested, funded 
by Sustaining Key Initiatives budget. 

 
3.3 Growth and Development – HOME Arches Phase 1. This request will deliver 

the feasibility and pre-development works up to RIBA stage 3 and planning. 
The Arches Project will transform three railway arches situated between 
HOME’s building and Whitworth Street West into a talent development centre 
for artists of all ages, disciplines and stages of their careers. A capital budget 
increase of £0.215m in 2020/21 is requested, funded by Borrowing 

 
3.4 Neighbourhoods - Purchase of Electric RCV’s. To facilitate the purchase of 27 

electric refuse collection vehicles and the associated charging 
infrastructure. These vehicles will replace the Euro 4 emission standard diesel 
RCVs that were transferred to Biffa at the inception of the contract in 2015 and 
are currently 11 years old and at the end of their useful life. The proposal 
would facilitate a significant reduction in carbon emissions relative to replacing 
the vehicles with new diesel RCVs. A grant per vehicle is currently available 
from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) which can be utilised based 
on current project timeline. A capital budget increase of £9.4m in 2020/21 is 
requested, funded by £5.7m Borrowing and £3.7m Invest to Save. 

 
3.5 Public Sector Housing – Northwards Housing 2020/21 Capital Programme. 

The programme will deliver essential Health & Safety work, maintain decent 
homes and make energy efficiency savings / improvements. Included in the 
scheme will be internal and external works to properties, enabling completion 
of second room (kitchen or bathroom) for homes in the decent homes 
programme, rendering of properties, electrical works to retirement blocks, 
adaptations, and other remedial, replacement or responsive work. A capital 
virement of £2.214m is requested in 2020/21, £7.969m in 2021/22 and 
£0.223m in future years from Northwards Housing unallocated, funded by 
HRA (RCCO). 

 
3.6 Growth and Development – Carbon Reduction Programme Phase 2. Reducing 

carbon emissions is included within the Capital Strategy as one of the key 
priorities for future capital spend. As the majority of the Council’s carbon 
emissions are from its existing corporate estate and the Council has a 
responsibility to reduce emissions across the Northwards and partner 
managed housing stock, significant investment will be required to bring these 
buildings up to carbon efficient standards. Phase 2 will continue the retrofit of 
the Council’s operational estate. A capital budget increase of £5m in 2021/22 
and £10m in future years is requested, funded by Borrowing. 

 
3.7 Growth and Development – Carbon Reduction Action Plan Delivery. 

Establishment of a dedicated team to deliver the commitments within the 
Carbon Reduction Plan. Work will include identifying and delivering large scale 
remote Renewable Energy projects which are essential to remain within the 
carbon budget, procuring a Solar PV partner, delivering a Zero Carbon whole 
building retrofit pilot, agreeing the Manchester Build Standards to be used 
going forward, developing an accelerated boiler replacement programme and 

Page 179

Item 11



commission expert consultancy to validate existing views about the pathway to 
zero carbon heat. The team with also provide additional capacity to Housing 
and Neighbourhoods teams to support work outlined in the Action Plan. A 
revenue budget increase of £1m is requested, funded by capital fund. 

 
 
3.8 Growth and Development – Greening of the City. To ensure that the city’s 

infrastructure is resilient to climate change and that nature based solutions are 
used to combat issues such as flooding. Investment in planting of beacon 
trees, mature trees, street trees and hedgerows informed by the Tree 
Opportunity Mapping exercise. It will link tree planting opportunities with 
locations that would benefit from increased climate change resilience. A 
priority will be made to leverage external funding where available. A capital 
budget increase of £0.5m in 2020/21 and £0.5m in 2021/22 is requested, 
funded by Capital Fund. 

 
4.0 Proposals Not Requiring Specific Council Approval 
 
4.1 The proposals which do not require Council approval and only require 

Executive approval are those which are funded by the use of external 
resources, the use of capital receipts, the use of reserves below £2.0m or 
where the proposal can be funded from existing revenue budgets and where 
the use of borrowing on a spend to save basis is required. The following 
proposals require Executive approval for changes to the City Council’s capital 
programme: 

 
4.2 Highway Services – Levenshulme Active Neighbourhoods Early Works. This 

request is the first phase towards delivering the infrastructure of a filtered 
neighbourhood, building on the community’s support. Ahead of the larger 
project (currently in development stage) this project will deliver improvements 
to lighting on established walking and cycling routes, a new crossing on A6 
Stockport Road and modal features to help implement experimental traffic 
regulation orders to create an early filtered neighbourhood. A capital virement 
of £0.327m in 2020/21 is requested from Highways Investment Programme, 
funded by Borrowing. 

 
4.3 Children’s Services – North Ridge High School – Special Capital Fund 

Additional Funding. In 2018 approval was given to develop a standalone sixth 
form provision at the Abraham Moss Centre which will have its age range 
broadened to meet the needs of pupils aged 16-25. Once completed, the new 
centre will increase the School’s capacity by 36 places. Additional funding is 
now required for works identified through local design requirements and 
assigned by Manchester City Council Planning that were not included in the 
original scope. These include, but are not limited to, increase in size, 
upgrading of cladding to fire-rated, concrete floors, car charging stations, 
BREEAM credits to target ‘Very Good’. A capital virement of £0.477m is 
requested from Special Educational Needs Grant Unallocated, funded by 
Government Grant. 

 

Page 180

Item 11



4.4 Public Sector Housing – Housing Delivery Model. This initial investment is to 
provide additional capacity to allow work to establish the viability of a 
Manchester bespoke scheme, identify indicative land and any title or grant 
issues, and develop a report leading to full approval of a model by summer 
2020. A revenue budget increase of £0.100m is requested, funded by Housing 
Investment Fund. 

 
5.0 Update on Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (Education Basic 

Needs) project 
 
5.1 In May 2018, Executive approved the use of £20m Education Basic Need 

funding to increase capacity across the Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision (AP) estate. Following this an 
initial £2m of pre-development costs were approved in 2019. 

 
5.2 The EBN SEND Programme includes three expansions to existing special 

schools which meet the needs of Manchester residents with an Education, 
Health and Care Plan. The Council has a statutory duty to ensure sufficient 
places for all pupils requiring a school place. All projects have been developed 
to RIBA stage 2 design and are currently progressing to stage 3. All planning 
applications are due to have been submitted by April 2020 and works are 
expected to commence on site from May 2020 onwards with completion of 
schemes in summer 2021. Total anticipated cost of works being brought 
forward will be £20.2m funded by government Education Basic Need grant. 

 
5.3 Work will be carried out at two existing schools, providing an additional 130 

places. An 80 place expansion of the existing Camberwell Park Specialist 
Support School on adjacent land to increase total capacity from 100 to 180 
places. A 50 place expansion of the existing Castlefield Campus (Endeavour 
Federation) special school to increase total capacity from 88 to 138 places for 
children. The additional accommodation will be located adjacent to the existing 
school making use of the former North Hulme Adventure Playground site 
which has been closed for a number of years. 

 
5.4 In addition, a new 120 place specialist provision Roundwood (Endeavour 

Federation) will be developed, located at the former Roundwood School site in 
Northenden. This new building will reprovide places currently located at 
Southern Cross (shared with Manchester Secondary Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 
(MSPRU)), enable closure of the former Crossacres site and create additional 
capacity. By moving Southern Cross provision to Roundwood the scheme will 
also facilitate an increase in capacity for MSPRU and enable rationalisation of 
their estate. 

 
6.0 Prudential Performance Indicators 
 
6.1 If the recommendations in this report are approved the General Fund capital 

budget will increase by £25.615m, across financial years as detailed in 
Appendix 1. 

 
6.2 This will also result in an increase in the prudential indicator for Capital 

Page 181

Item 11



Expenditure in corresponding years. Monitoring of all prudential indicators is 
included within the Capital Monitoring Report. 

 
6.3 There is an increase in the requirement for prudential borrowing, however, this 

has already been assumed within the City Council’s revenue budget and 
therefore there is no impact on the City’s Council Tax. 

 
7.0 Contributing to a Zero-Carbon City  
 
7.1 All capital projects are reviewed throughout the approval process with regard 

to the contribution they can make to Manchester being a Zero-Carbon City. 
Projects will not receive approval to incur costs unless the contribution to this 
target is appropriate. 

 
8.0 Contributing to the Our Manchester Strategy  
 
 (a) A thriving and sustainable city 
 
8.1 Contributions to various areas of the economy including investment in ICT 

services, housing, and leisure facilities. 
 
 (b) A highly skilled city 
 
8.2 Investment provides opportunities for the construction industry to bid for 

schemes that could provide employment opportunities at least for the duration 
of contracts. 

 
 (c) A progressive and equitable city 
 
8.3 Improvements to services delivered to communities and enhanced ICT 

services. 
 
 (d) A liveable and low carbon city 
 
8.4 Investment in cultural and leisure services and housing. 
 
 (e) A connected city 
 
8.5 Through investment in ICT and the City’s infrastructure of road networks and 

other travel routes. 
 
9.0 Key Policies and Considerations 
 
 (a) Equal Opportunities 
 
9.1 None. 
 
 (b) Risk Management 
 
9.2 Risk management forms a key part of the governance process for all capital 

Page 182

Item 11



schemes. Risks will be managed on an ongoing and project-by-project basis, 
with wider programme risks also considered. 

 
 (c) Legal Considerations 
 
9.3 None. 
 
10.0 Conclusions 
 
10.1  The Capital budget of the City Council will increase by £25.615m, if the 

recommendations in this report are approved. 
 
11.0 Recommendations 
 
11.1 The recommendations appear at the front of this report.

Page 183

Item 11



Appendix 1  
 

Dept 
  

Scheme 
  

Funding 
  

2019/20 
£'000 

2020/21 
£'000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Future 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Council Approval Requests 

Growth and Development Piccadilly Gardens - Phase 1 Borrowing  30   1,781       1,811  

Growth and Development Sustaining Key Initiatives Borrowing     -1,811    - 1,811  

Growth and Development HOME Arches Phase 1 Borrowing    215       215  

Neighbourhoods Purchase of Electric RCV’s Borrowing   5,700      5,700  

Neighbourhoods Purchase of Electric RCV’s Invest to Save   3,700      3,700  

Public Sector Housing Northwards 2020/21 Programme HRA (RCCO)   2,214 7,969 223  10,406  

Public Sector Housing Northwards Unallocated funding HRA (RCCO)   - 2,214  - 7,969  - 223  - 10,406  

Growth and Development 
Carbon Reduction Programme 
Phase 2 

Borrowing      5,000  10,000   15,000  

Growth and Development Greening of the City Capital Fund    500   500     1,000  

Total Council Approval Requests 30 11,896 3,689 10,000 25,615 

Executive Approval Requests  

Highways Services 
Levenshulme Active 
Neighbourhood Early Works 

Borrowing    327       327  

Highways Services 
Highways Investment 
Programme 

Borrowing   - 327      - 327  

Children's Services 
North Ridge High School - 
Special Capital Fund  

Government 
Grant 

   477       477  

Children's Services Special Educational Needs grant 
Government 
Grant 

  - 477      - 477  

Total Executive Approval Requests   0 0 0 0 0 

 

P
age 184

Item
 11



Manchester City Council 
Report for Information 

 
Report to: Executive – 11 March 2020 
 
Subject: Our Town Hall Project – Notice to Proceed into Construction  
 
Report of:  Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
 

 
Summary 
 
In a report to Executive in December 2018, it was noted that Lendlease had been 
selected as the preferred Management Contractor for the Our Town Hall (OTH) 
project.  
 
This report provides Members with an update on the progress with the project to 
date, at the point at which the project is ready to issue a Notice to Proceed into the 
main construction phase of the Works.  
 
Recommendations 
 
Executive is recommended to note: 

 
1. On the basis of the Tranche 1 Works Packages procured to date (60% by 

value), and the level of design readiness to procure the balancing Tranche 2 
(40%) packages, the project is suitably advanced for the Council to Commit to 
Construct, noting the arrangements that are in place to manage the risk of 
cost and programme overrun in the Tranche 2 Works Packages. 
 

2. A date for Completion of 22 December 2023 has been agreed with the 
Management Contractor. 
 

3. The Decision to give Capital Expenditure (Construction) approval to Our Town 
Hall in the sum of £243.483m was made, and published 27 February 2020. 
This decision has been considered by the Resources and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 24 February 2020, at which it endorsed 
the proposed recommendations. The Notice to proceed with the main 
construction works will be issued to the Management Contractor (Lendlease) 
and construction will commence on site in March 2020. 

 

 
Wards Affected:  Deansgate 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 

Our Town Hall will significantly increase its energy efficiency through the refurbishment 
process. 

Page 185

Item 12



 

Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and distinctive 
economy that creates jobs and 
opportunities 

Manchester Town Hall refurbishment will provide 
the opportunity for a significant increase in 
employment within the building, and has stretching 
Social Value KPIs as a key deliverable. 

A highly skilled city: world class and 
home grown talent sustaining the city’s 
economic success 

The refurbishment will provide new opportunities 
for young people and graduates, including 
apprenticeships and work placements. 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

The refurbishment will increase the productivity 
and the efficiency of Council staff and support the 
development of an equitable city, taking 
advantage of new opportunities offered by 
devolution. 
 
There is also the opportunity through the co-
location of public and private uses and new modern 
meetings rooms to promote collaboration and 
networking to strengthen the collaboration between 
organisations, businesses and residents, including 
the community and voluntary sector. 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, work 

The refurbishment will contribute to sustainable 
economic growth by retaining employment within a 
central location. It will significantly enhance the 
Town Hall’s energy efficiency and enable the 
incorporation of sustainable design features.   

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to drive 
growth 

The refurbishment will retain and improve public 
uses within an accessible city centre location, 
connected to residents and visitors by the City’s 
expanding public transport network. The work will 
reinforce the City’s role as the centre of public and 
private sector networks and meetings in the north, 
with connections through the Airport to support 
international events. 

 
 

Carbon emissions per person will be reduced through increasing the efficiency of the 
building services and increasing the use of the building. The operational phase of the 
project is predicted to emit between 20,223 and 22,303 T CO2e between 2024 and 
2038. The carbon emissions per person are reduced between 17% and 24% when 
compared to pre-refurbishment CO2 emissions, and the energy consumption per head 
is reduced by up to 43%. 
 
The construction phase of the project is forecast to emit 402 tonnes of CO2. This 
number is significantly lower than a typical construction project of this scale, through 
the procurement of renewable electricity for the construction period and limiting the use 
of diesel powered equipment. 

Page 186

Item 12



Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Carol Culley  
Position: City Treasurer 
Telephone:    0161 234 3406 

E-mail: carol.culley@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Jared Allen 
Position: Director of Capital Programmes 
Telephone:    0161 234 5683 
E-mail: j.allen4@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Paul Candelent 
Position: Project Director  
Telephone:    0161 234 1401 
E-mail: p.candelent@manchester.gov.uk  
 

 
Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and 
have been relied upon in preparing the report.  Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting.  If you would like a copy 
please contact one of the contact officers above. 
 
● Report to Executive Committee – Town Hall Complex Strategy – 23 July 2008 
● Report to Executive Committee – Town Hall Complex Programme – 

Transforming Customer Experience – 11 February 2009 
● Report to Executive Committee – Town Hall and Albert Square Maintenance 

Programme – 1 October 2014 
● Report to Executive Committee – The Refurbishment of Manchester Town Hall 

and Albert Square: ‘Our Town Hall’ – 27 July 2016 
● Report to Executive Committee – The Refurbishment of Manchester Town Hall 

and Albert Square: ‘Our Town Hall’ – 16 November 2016 
● Report to Executive Committee – Capital Programme (Budget 2017/18 – 

2021/22) – 11 January 2017 and 8 February 2017 
● Report to Executive Committee – Manchester Town Hall and Albert Square: 

‘Our Town Hall’ – 8 March 2017 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – Our Town Hall 

Social Value and Communications – 22 June 2017 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – ‘Our Town Hall’ – 

7 September 2017 
● Report to Executive Committee – Manchester Town Hall and Albert Square: 

‘Our Town Hall’ – 13 September 2017 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – Manchester Town 

Hall and Albert Square ‘Our Town Hall’ – 9 November 2017 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee - Manchester Town 

Hall and Albert Square ‘Our Town Hall’ – 1 February 2018 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee Ethical Procurement 

Sub Group – 22 February 2018 

Page 187

Item 12



● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – Our Town Hall 
Project – Budget Position Update – 24 May 2018 

● Report to Ethical Procurement and Contract Monitoring Sub Group - 7 June 
2018 

● Report to Council – 11 July 2018 – ‘Our Town Hall update’  
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee - 06 September 

2018 - ‘Management Contractor Procurement.’ 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – 06 December 

2018 – ‘Letting of the Management Contract’ 
● Report to Executive Committee – 12 December 2018 – ‘Management 

Contractor Appointment’ 
● Report to Ethical Procurement and Contract Monitoring Sub Group – 31 July 

2019 
● Report to Ethical Procurement and Contract Monitoring Sub Group – 04 

October 2019 
● Report to Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee – Our Town Hall – 

Notice to Proceed - 24 February 2020  
 
 

Page 188

Item 12



1.0 Summary  
 
1.1  This report covers the progress to date with the Our Town Hall (OTH) project, 

and concludes that the project is sufficiently advanced for the Council to 
issue a Notice to Proceed (NTP) into the main construction works, which will 
commence on site March 2020. 

 
1.2  The report describes the status of the project at the date of NTP, and the 

governance and procedures that are in place to manage the project through 
the construction period and into project completion. 

 
1.3 The Council has engaged Lendlease as its Management Contractor to 

manage the project, procure the works, advise on risk and to contract with 
works package contractors who have the primary responsibility for 
undertaking the works. The Management Contractor is to assume the 
financial and contractual burden associated with administering the works 
packages, but would not undertake any of the construction works itself. The 
Management Contractor was to be paid a fee for its services (split between 
the pre-construction period and the construction period) and be reimbursed 
the cost of its preliminaries and overheads. 

 
1.4 The contract with the Management Contractor requires that before the 

Council issues the NTP it has to satisfy itself that a number of key documents 
and dates have been agreed with the management contractor, including the 
supplemental particulars, project cost plan, date of completion, and the 
preliminaries cost schedule. These documents are now agreed, and as such 
the project is ready to progress into the construction period.  

 
1.5 The Council’s Internal Audit team has reviewed the procurement process in 

the run-in to NTP and has stated that: 
 

‘We are satisfied that a transparent and robust process has been applied to 
secure the completion of RIBA stage 4, including the completion of designs, 
letting of work packages, development of the Project Cost Plan, defining the 
project plan, and agreement on the preliminaries.’ 

 
1.6 The following should be noted: 

 
● The budget has become more defined by Notice to Proceed and as the 

various works packages are procured. However, the Council will not have 
cost certainty until the final account is agreed under the Management 
Contract. 

 
● The appetite within the insurance market to cover construction risk, 

particularly heritage buildings, has reduced significantly in the wake of 
recent fires, most notably at Notre Dame in Paris last year. Over the last 
12 months, the team has worked hard with insurers to prove the 
approach to the management of construction risk and secure insurance 
cover. At the time of writing this report, a range of insurers have 
committed to provide 100% cover for the various insurable risks with 

Page 189

Item 12



some aspects of final terms and the formal placement of cover to be 
finalised.  It is possible that the final terms of the insurance policies will 
require amendments to the Management Contract.  Finalisation and 
formalisation of arrangements are scheduled to complete by the end of 
February but if this is delayed for any reason there is a risk that works on 
site may be unable to commence in accordance with the Accepted 
Programme. 

 
1.7 The project is now ready to commit to construction. The Decision to give 

Capital Expenditure (Construction) approval to Our Town Hall in the sum of 
£243.483m was published 27 February 2020. This decision was considered 
by the Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 24 
February 2020, at which it endorsed the proposed recommendations. The 
Notice to Proceed with the main construction works will be issued to the 
Management Contractor (Lendlease) and construction will commence on site 
in March 2020. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1  Activity to date 
 
2.1.1 It is over two years since the Town Hall closed its doors to the public to 

undergo a major project to secure the long term future of Manchester’s civic 
heart and most iconic public square. 

 
2.1.2 Since January 2018, a huge amount of behind the scenes work has been 

carried out to ensure that the construction phase can begin from March 2020. 
Starting with the decant of the Council services to alternative locations, a 
series of complex intrusive surveys have been undertaken and the assets 
within the building carefully catalogued and placed into suitable storage.  

 
a) Heritage Assets 

 
2.1.3 Once the decant of staff was completed, the building had to be cleared to 

allow more intrusive survey work to take place. 140 years of collected 
treasures and other assets had to be examined, recorded and archived. 

 

 Collectively weighing in at over 10 tonnes, 35 sculptures were moved to 
temporary homes, while the larger sculptures – Dalton and Joule in the 
entrance hall - have been boxed in for protection. All were assessed, 
cleaned and photographed before being moved. 

 Almost 90 paintings were taken down, condition-checked, individually 
boxed and sent to storage, with the exception of the largest painting: the 
3.5m wide ‘Central Executive Cotton Famine Relief Committee’, which 
has been loaned to Manchester Art Gallery for their “Get Together & Get 
Things Done” exhibition. 

 The entire collection of historic chairs and other pieces of furniture were 
removed to storage. 

Page 190

Item 12



 The immense collection of plans, drawings and designs from the Sewer 
Plans Room was taken away by the Council’s Archives+ Team as part of 
a project to document, clean and archive them all. 

 The Archives+ Team has also removed thousands of glass plate 
negatives from the Town Hall's Photographers Workroom, which have 
been digitised for ease of access.  

 The amazing collection of silverware and the huge number of Civic Gifts 
were carefully recorded, packaged and removed to store. 

 
2.1.4 Many of these artefacts will form part of a public exhibition in a new Visitor’s 

Centre which will feature on the ground floor of the building when it reopens 
in 2024. 

 
b) Intrusive Surveys 

 
2.1.5 Over the course of eight months, experts in a huge range of heritage and 

craft fields made painstaking inspections and assessments of the condition of 
the building. Their work has informed the design team’s understanding of the 
building’s original construction and the specification of the scope of the works 
packages to be tendered.  

 
2.1.6  Over 590 individual surveys were completed, using 124 different survey 

types, and requiring Listed Building Consent for over 1,300 interventions. 
These included: 

 

 Lifting suspended timber flooring; 

 Heritage paint analysis; 

 Stone and terracotta repairs; 

 Trial cleaning; 

 Core drills and compression tests to floor slabs; 

 Timber rot surveys; 

 Chimney CCTV surveys; 

 Mural condition survey; 

 Lead roof inspections; 

 Timber, metal and stained glass window repairs; 

 Mosaic analysis, removal and repairs; 

 Inspection of the Clock Tower, and 3D images of the roof; 

 Checking the condition of the huge light fittings with one of each design 
being taken down for assessment. 

 A full and detailed survey was made to assess the condition of the Grade 
1 listed Albert Memorial.  

 Asbestos surveys; 

 Dilapidation surveys to record the condition of all parts of the building 
prior to works commencing; 

 Drainage investigations; and 

 Trial pits to explore below ground conditions across the Public Realm 
and within the inner courtyard. 

 

Page 191

Item 12



2.1.7 These intrusive surveys, and subsequently a series of further due diligence 
surveys undertaken after the appointment of Lendlease as Management 
Contractor, have significantly enhanced the understanding of the building and 
enabled the project team to much more confidently scope the works and 
assess the level of risk of later discovery. 

 
2.1.8 Lendlease used the intrusive survey information as the basis to inform a 

series of due diligence surveys in advance of the planned start of Early 
Works in September 2019.  

 
c) Early Works 

 
2.1.9 A series of Early Works were agreed with Lendlease which could be 

undertaken in advance of the main construction works, such that these would 
de-risk the overall programme through a limited number of early 
interventions. The Early Works commenced on site in September 2019, and 
have included: 

 
• Hoarding and enclosure to Lloyd Street; 
• Hoarding to site boundary; 
• Scaffold design and the erection of scaffold along the Albert square 

elevation. It is understood that, when complete, the OTH scaffold will be 
the largest of its kind in the UK; 

• Site logistics; 
• Courtyard remedial works; 
• Placement of order for the temporary site accommodation;  
• Removal of paving and creation of hardstanding for the temporary 

accommodation in Albert Square; 
• Creation of mock-up rooms which will assist in the completion of the Fit 

Out design; 
• Pre-Construction Services Agreement for MEP Work Package; 
• Temporary electrical services;  
• Asbestos and hazardous waste removal; and 
• Soft strip and MEP strip out. 

 
2.1.10 Whilst not part of the OTH project, the team has also worked alongside Vital 

Energi to ensure that the below ground infrastructure for the Civic Quarter 
Heat Network (CQHN) was installed across the site. 

 
2.1.11 Procurement of these early works has enabled a planned start on site of the 

main construction works for OTH in March 2020. 
 
d) Stakeholder Engagement 

 
2.1.12 Since early in RIBA Stage 2, the project has engaged regularly with a wide 

range of stakeholders, both internal and external. The developing detail of 
the design was submitted regularly to Project Board and Strategic Board, and 
in the period between August 2017 and September 2019 (the date at which 
pre-planning design information was concluded), the team consulted with 
stakeholder groups across the following work-streams: 

Page 192

Item 12



 
o Wayfinding and interpretation; 
o Security; 
o Internal and external events; 
o Public Realm (including CQHN); 
o Catering; 
o Heritage; 
o Health, Safety and Wellbeing; 
o Fire Safety; 
o ICT and Audio Visual; 
o Sustainability; 
o FM Operations; 
o Interior Design; 
o Exhibitions and Visitor Centre; 
o Organ Group; 
o Access Panel; Design and Heritage Panel; 
o Press and media; 
o Community; 
o Statutory Applications; and 
o Landowners and Neighbours. 

 
2.1.13 Detailed and overwhelmingly successful consultations have continued with 

the heritage bodies such as Historic England, the Victorian Society, the 
Manchester Conservation Area and Listed Building Advisory Panel, and the 
Local Planning Authority. There has also been continuous engagement and 
consultation with a wide variety of focus and stakeholder groups, as well as 
the wider Mancunian public community. 

 
2.1.14 For each of these work-streams noted above, attendance has included 

relevant Members, Council Services, Statutory Undertakers, Greater 
Manchester Police, TfGM, Utilities Companies; Historic England, the 
Victorian Society and a number of Special Interest Groups (such as Access 
Groups and Footpath Societies). 

 
2.1.15 In advance of the application for Planning Consent, and to ensure that plans 

were shared with key stakeholders, a series of engagement sessions were 
held during RIBA Stages 3 and 4. These included: 

 

 a presentation and workshop to discuss access arrangements and 
design with The Disability Access Group in April 2019; 

 an open day for the official “closing” of the building in January 2019; 

 three events specifically for the Council’s business neighbours and 
invited groups such as the Footpath Society; 

 a ‘meet the buyer’ event for local businesses to find out more about the 
work packages that will be on offer. 

 two 3-day public engagement sessions in March and June at Central 
Library, where members of the Design Team with expertise in 
architecture, public realm and heritage were on hand to talk people 
through the plans. Many attendees expressed amazement at what has 

Page 193

Item 12



already been achieved and looked forward to the eventual completion of 
the project. 

 Members were invited to engagement sessions on design at the end of 
RIBA Stages 2 and 3. 

 
2.2 Design status 
 

a) Summary 
 

2.2.1 The eight overarching project objectives remain the fundamental basis for all 
design decisions on OTH.  

 
2.2.2 Completion of Stage 4 design is scheduled for March 2020. At the point of 

NTP, the stage 4 design is substantially complete. There remains a small 
number of design elements that will remain to be completed beyond March 
2020, chief amongst which are: 

 
• Detailed scope of repairs to the Albert Memorial; 
• Detailed scope of repairs to the THX link bridges; 
• Fit out of the upper floors (third party accommodation); and 
• Response to planning conditions, where appropriate (for example, detail 

of the hard finishes in Albert Square).  
 

2.2.3 These elements are well-defined and have been captured within the project’s 
design management plan and cost plan. 

 
2.2.4 Maintaining the design quality and heritage integrity of the proposals has 

been high on the agenda and an extremely good relationship based upon 
teamwork, trust and mutual respect has developed between the design team 
and the wider project team including the Management Contractor, the Client 
and the Design and Conservation Manager seconded to the project. 

 
2.2.5 Reducing risk and operational burden for the Council whilst respecting the 

heritage value has also been paramount in developing the detailed design, 
as well as achieving an appropriate balance between capital cost and life 
cycle cost/ ease of maintenance.  

 
b) Design Team Collaboration 

 
2.2.6 Cohesion, collective experience and expertise are the overriding 

characteristics of the project design team and the wider project team 
including the client, operations, curatorial and heritage/planning team. 

 
2.2.7 The additions to the team of Lendlease and NG Bailey over the past year has 

also been vitally important in the delivery of viable and pragmatic proposals 
for such a complex project. 

 
2.2.8 The RIBA work stage 4 early works including the ‘Pre-Construction Due 

Diligence Surveys’ and the Mock-up Rooms, along with the coordination of 
the design using the BIM model, have all added to the ability to fully 

Page 194

Item 12



understand the detail required and justify the proposals.  Moreover, the 
constant presence of the project team on site and the intrinsic knowledge that 
has consequently been gained has enabled the whole team to challenge the 
proposals and develop workable solutions collectively. 

 
2.2.9 In short, the team know the building and its environs extremely well (‘like the 

back of their hand’) having worked in it together for over two years now.   
This cohesion is vitally important and will be continued throughout the 
construction phase of the project. 

 
2.2.10 A federated BIM Model has been utilised throughout stage 4.  

 
c) Design Management Plan 

 
2.2.11 Mid-way through RIBA Stage 4, the project team developed the Design 

Management Plan (DMP) to ensure the full coordination of the Stage 4 
design, in support of the principle that for design to be ‘Ready for 
Construction’, it should be fully coordinated across and between disciplines.  

 
2.2.12 The DMP was implemented following the detailed design reviews of the 

‘Tender Information’ for the NTP Work Packages, provided by the 
consultants. During the reviews, the Project Team identified such matters as:  

 
• missing design information;  
• errors and/or coordination issues between information provided by each 

design discipline;  
• known risks which have the potential to impact the design; and 
• scope that will need to be included in work packages already tendered 

or, in the process of tendering. 
 

2.2.13 The purpose of the DMP is to increase cost surety on the packages procured 
in advance of NTP, and this collaborative tool has allowed the project team to 
manage design risks together ensuring that all Project Team members 
maintain a shared ownership of Work Package design risks.  

 
2.2.14 Where the DMP identifies elements of commercial risk these have been 

captured in either the Contingency Plan or cost plan. 
 
2.2.15 The DMP will continue to be used through the procurement of the Tranche 2 

packages. As the projects progresses and the remaining elements of design 
are concluded, the DMP will remain live until all packages are procured and 
all costs secured. The DMP will continue to capture all gaps, errors and 
coordination issues and track them through to resolution, aligned with the 
procurement programme.  

 
2.2.16 The intrusive surveys undertaken at RIBA Stage 2, and subsequently the 

further due diligence surveys undertaken with Lendlease have significantly 
enhanced the understanding of the building. This has enabled the project 
team to provide a more detailed scope of works and better understand the 
level of risk and potential discovery, as reflected in the Contingency Plan. 

Page 195

Item 12



 
2.2.17  That is not to say that all risk has been eliminated from the design, however, 

this is addressed through the Design Management Plan. 
 

d) Planning, Listed Building and Building Control Consents 
 

2.2.18 All primary consents were obtained in January 2020, albeit with a significant 
number of conditions that will require careful management and programme 
planning to discharge them as the works progress.   

 
2.2.19 The well-established relationships and trust that have developed between the 

design team, planning consultant, management contractor, conservation/ 
heritage manager, local planning authority, building control department and 
various statutory consultees will assist with the management of this process, 
was the case with the surveys and early works already undertaken on site. 

  
2.3 Procurement 
 
  a) Strategy 

 
2.3.1 A paper presented to Ethical Procurement and Contract Management Sub-

group on 04 October 2019 described the Works Package procurement 
strategy for the project, noting that the Our Town Hall project was moving 
towards the latter stages of the design process, with Notice to Proceed and 
the start of construction works expected to begin in early 2020 and scale up 
over the course of that year. Lendlease were managing a programme of 
construction works that includes over 120 individual work packages and a 
large and complex supply chain.  

 
2.3.2 The number of work packages has been derived based on a number of 

considerations. Some examples are: 
 

• Strength of available supply chain 
• Value/size 
• Capabilities 
• Capacity 
• Number of operatives 
• Potential to deliver KPIs 
• Local labour and spend 
• Support for SMEs 
• Complexity and ability to manage interfaces 
• Appropriate allocation of risk. 

 
2.3.3 In the intervening period since the paper was reported, the number of works 

packages has grown to 149. 
 
2.3.4 The paper noted that the project procurement strategy comprises 6 

procurement options, and each package will fall into one of these. These 
have been designed to provide sufficient flexibility to achieve best value in 

Page 196

Item 12



respect of the project objectives and are cognisant of the capacity for specific 
packages within the supply chain.  

 
2.3.5 A fundamental benefit of the management contracting procurement route, 

acknowledged from the outset, has been the flexibility that it allows for the 
Council to prioritise the procurement of individual packages at times best 
suited to achieving the optimum balance between cost and programme, as 
opposed to a single procurement of all of the works in one hit.  

 
b) Package Criticality  

 
2.3.6 One of the challenges of the Management Contracting approach is the lack 

of cost certainty achieved in the early stages of the project.  Throughout 
RIBA stages 2 and 3, the Project Team were focused on the pursuit of 
increased certainty by focusing on surety of cost.   

 
2.3.7 This has been addressed in part by focusing on the criticality of the works 

packages.  Criticality is defined as how critical the package is to the project in 
terms of programme, value, trades dependency, logistics and decision 
dependency (decisions by the Council).   

 
2.3.8  At NTP, 65% of the works packages noted as high criticality have been 

purchased.  Of the remaining packages, the key risk to the project is the 
internal repairs within the fit-out cluster.  The design for these repairs is now 
complete and initial analyses (based on Level 2) are illustrating the design is 
within the cost plan allowances. 

 
2.3.9 The next tranche of procurement will focus on the demolition and builders 

work packages to bring additional surety to the remaining highly critical 
packages. 

 

 25% of packages noted as Medium Criticality are bought at NTP.   

 56% of packages noted as Low Criticality are bought at NTP.   
 
 

c) Package Surety 
 

2.3.10 For OTH, the works packages have been split into two tranches. At NTP, the 
project has secured the high value, high risk work packages as part of 
Tranche 1, with the residual Tranche 2 packages comprising lower value, 
lower risk packages: 

 
● Tranche 1 comprises 61 packages, with a value equivalent to 

approximately 60% of the overall value of the Works.  These are the 
Works Packages that have been procured at the point of Notice to 
Proceed. 

 
● Tranche 2 comprises 88 packages, with a value equivalent to 

approximately 40% of the overall value of the Works.  These are the 
residual Works Packages that will be procured in the period beyond NTP. 

Page 197

Item 12



 
2.3.11 The 60% cost surety position comprises the Tranche 1 packages, and is built 

up as follows: 
 

 Fixed price lump sum (86%); 
 

 Re-measureable (8%) - a validation exercise on the external stone 
repairs post scaffold erection will be required. Whilst there is a degree of 
uncertainty at higher, less visible and accessible areas of the building 
façade, the risk on this package is considered low given that it has 
already been designed, measured, priced and bought);   

 

 Defined provisional sums (3%); 
 

 Prime cost sums (3% for electricity consumption charges);  
  

 97% of the NTP design has been tendered against either stage 4 
information or better, with 17% at Stage 5 (construction ready); 

 

 At NTP, 65% of ‘high criticality’ packages have been bought (see section 
2.3.8); and 

 

 Known future risk has been identified in relation to the Tranche 1 
packages, and is allowed for. 

 
2.3.12 The residual Tranche 2 packages which are yet to be bought comprise 40% 

of overall construction value. These are all well-defined, with allowances 
made within the cost plan, preliminaries schedule, Contingency Plan and 
programme.   

 
2.3.13 These packages will be procured in accordance with the strategy and subject 

to the controls described in Section 8. For Tranche 2, 32% is at RIBA Stage 4 
design or better, with 9% at Stage 5. 

 
2.3.14 Stage 4 design is scheduled to conclude with the final release of the stage 4 

information by 13 March 2020. Procurement beyond NTP will generate a 
further 21% of cost surety by December 2020. 

 
2.3.15 The Project Contingency Plan has been fully updated and aligned to the risk 

position at NTP, including allowances for both known cost pressures and 
future risks, and all work package procurement has been subject to a 
rigorous process to test best value, which has involved senior Council 
Officers, including the Head of Procurement. In this context, best value is 
defined as value for money and Social Value contribution. The project is 
tracking ahead of its Social Value commitments, and is forecast to out-
perform its KPIs at completion. 

 
d) Summary of package procurement at NTP 

 

Page 198

Item 12



2.3.16 Work package procurement has been undertaken by Lendlease in 
accordance with the Management Contractor Specification and the agreed 
contract procedure. This procedure is back to back with the Council’s Ethical 
Procurement Policy, and the Social Value KPIs for the project (which are 
described in Section 2.4.12). 

 
2.3.17 Regular oversight of the procurement process is provided by the Executive 

Procurement Group (EPG) on a fortnightly basis, chaired by the Project 
Director and attended by the Council’s Head of Procurement. EPG has been 
supported by the following additional levels of scrutiny: 

 

 The Council’s Internal Audit Team; 
 

 Reports to Ethical Procurement Sub-group, most recently in July and 
October 2019; 

 

 Oversight by the Deputy Leader of all packages placed with a value in 
excess of £250k; 

 

 Periodic reviews by the project’s Technical Assurance and Validation 
Panel; 

 

 Approval of single sourcing procurement strategies by the Executive 
Member for Finance and Human Resources. 

 
e) Tendered Packages 

 
2.3.18  As at the date of NTP, 61 packages have been tendered, with a total 

construction value of £128m. Of these tendered packages, the following 
proportions have been placed with local businesses: 

 

 63% have been placed with Manchester-based businesses; 

 84% have been placed with Greater Manchester-based businesses. 
 

f) Packages not yet tendered 
 

2.3.19 32% by value of the Tranche 2 packages has achieved RIBA stage 4 design. 
This will be completed in March 2020.  The Lendlease tender event schedule 
maps out the programme for procurement of these residual packages, for 
which the majority of tender lists have been agreed. All remaining packages 
will competitively tendered using stage 4 design. 

 
2.4 Social Value 

 
2.4.1 Achieving economic and social value for Manchester has been a core project 

objective from the very start. To date there has been significant progress 
made against the project KPIs and in the way in which social value has 
become embedded in the wider project team’s day to day work. 

 

Page 199

Item 12



2.4.2 On a number of occasions in RIBA stages 2 and 3, the project has reported 
at Resource and Governance Scrutiny Committee and its Ethical 
Procurement Sub-Group. Feedback from members has been instrumental in 
the way that targets have been set and refined as the project has evolved, to 
ensure that opportunities for the people and businesses of Manchester are at 
the forefront. 

 
a) The role of the management contractor 

 
2.4.3 When bidding for the role of management contractor, Lendlease was 

required to forecast which packages would contribute to the delivery of all 
project KPIs, including Social Value, and this forecast informed the offer that 
was inserted into the Contract. This forecast was based on the work they had 
already done to ascertain supply chain capacity for each package.  

 
2.4.4 Over the course of RIBA Stage 4, there has been close working with the 

Lendlease team to prepare for the start of construction by ensuring that 
social value is driven right through the supply chain, that they have the right 
contacts and relationships with partner organisations across the city, and that 
processes and procedures are embedded that will allow performance against 
project targets to be effectively forecast, tracked and monitored.  

 
2.4.5 The Lendlease team has formed relationships with key employment support 

and training providers in Manchester. This includes the DWP Employee 
Suite, Yes Project in North Manchester, The Works in Central and South 
Manchester and Wythenshawe Skills and Employment Group in 
Wythenshawe and will allow us to make use of existing funded services to 
support people in to opportunities on OTH. 

 
2.4.6 Minimum performance targets have been agreed for each Social Value KPI 

on a work package basis, with support and guidance provided for work 
package contractors to make it as easy as possible for them to meet and 
exceed the required standards. 

 
2.4.7 Extensive market engagement has been conducted with the supply chain to 

identify and engage with Manchester based suppliers and contractors, and 
then to support them through the procurement process.  

 
2.4.8 The Council’s Ethical Procurement Policy is embedded into the contract with 

Lendlease, and a monitoring framework is being developed between Unite 
and Lendlease to ensure that this and the Unite Charter is appropriately 
reflected throughout the project supply chain. 

 
b) Achievements to date 

 
2.4.9 Of the Tranche 1 packages procured at NTP, 63% is spent in Manchester, 

and 84% in Greater Manchester. 
 
2.4.10 Social Value is an obligation for the whole project team, and each partner 

organisation working on the project is contributing.  

Page 200

Item 12



 
2.4.11 The key achievements to date include: 

 

 New Jobs Created – 33 Manchester resident jobs have been created 
across the Project Team in a variety of roles including procurement, 
commercial management, project management, ground works, cleaning, 
facilities and traffic management. 

 Apprenticeships – 15 higher level apprenticeships have been provided 
through the M Futures programme, with 5 of the 6 apprentices in the first 
cohort completing and staying in the industry, and three of these 
remaining with employers on Our Town Hall. Mace Apprentice Abdul 
Tahir, from Whalley Range, won Apprentice of the Year at the GMCC 
Property and Construction Awards 2019. 

 Local Spend – £60m worth of orders placed in the Manchester area and 
further £2m in Greater Manchester.  Lendlease has contacted over 
50,000 suppliers in the Manchester area with over 400 attending Meet the 
Buyer events held in April 2019 and October 2019. £34m is still to be 
procured with a target of £19m in Manchester and £15m in Greater 
Manchester. Engagement workshops to be held March/April 2020 at 
which potential tenderers will be invited to learn more of the opportunities 
to work on the project. 

 Schools Engagement - 79 sessions held in Manchester schools covering 
careers, employment and STEM. Project staff have also volunteered as 
mentors through the One Million Mentors scheme. 

 Work Experience – 72 placements provided for school and college 
students, including through the shared work experience programme. 
Lendlease has recently taken on the first T-Level placement with the 
Manchester College. 

 Higher Education Engagement – The project has worked with over 1400 
students providing site visits, careers fairs, mentoring, work placements, 
industry placements and more. Taking part in the annual Manchester 
School of Architecture Events programme, the project has begun 
connecting students with local schools and colleges. 

 Volunteering – The total amount of voluntary time committed now stands 
at over 1800 hours. Projects supported include Barnabus Homeless Drop-
In Centre, Longsight Youth Club, Canal and River Trust and many more. 

 Working practices – all contractors working on the project are asked to 
commit to paying the real living wage and avoid employing people on zero 
hour contracts. The Council’s Ethical Procurement Policy is embedded 
into the contract with Lendlease, and a monitoring framework is being 
developed with Unite and Lendlease to ensure that this and the Unite 
Charter is appropriately reflected throughout the project supply chain. 

 Using the monetary values set out in the management contract, the 
project team has to date delivered an ROI social value benefit in excess 
of £1.5m.  

 The project is forecast to deliver an overall ROI forecast in excess of 
£11.5m, which equates to 3.7% of the overall capital budget. 

 

Page 201

Item 12



2.4.12 The table below sets out in the form of a dashboard for each of the Social 
Value project KPIs, the project base target, current achieved outcomes and 
forecast outcomes at project completion. 

 

KPI 
Ref 

KPI 
Summary  

Project 
Base 
Target 

OTH 
Project 
Actual 
to Date 

LL 
Procured 
to Date 

LL  
Forecast 
Remaining 
Procurement 

Combined 
Total 

Forecast 
Variance 
against 
Project 
based 
target 

SV1 Local 
Employment 

30% 21%     

SV2a MCR Spend 40% 57%     

SV2b GM Spend 
(inc MCR) 

50% 68%     

SV3 New jobs 
created 

45 32.5 18 46 96.5 51.5 

SV4 New 
qualifications 
achieved 

50 4 22 48 74 74 

SV5 New 
professional 
memberships 
achieved 

20 1 26 0 27 7 

SV6 Progression 
in 
professional 
memberships 

20 0 9 13 22 2 

SV7 School / 
college 
careers / 
employment 
sessions 

50 70 18 58 146 96 

SV8 School / 
College 
STEM 
sessions 

50 9 29 39 77 27 

SV9 Higher 
education 
students 
supported 

1500 1491 300 1722 3513 2013 

SV10 Higher 
education 
research 
projects 
supported 

35 5 5 8 18 -17 

SV11 Work 
placements 
14-16 yrs 

50 43 2 37 82 32 

Page 202

Item 12



SV12 Work 
placements 
17+ yrs 

50 19 19 42 80 30 

SV13 New 
apprentices 
up to level 3 

100 1 34 93 128 28 

SV14 New 
apprentices 
level 4+ 

50 18 17 44 79 29 

SV15 Manchester 
resident 
apprentices 

100% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

SV16 Existing 
apprentices 
employed 

100 1 31 78 110 10 

SV17 Completing 
apprentices 

100 5 34 76 115 15 

SV18 Volunteer 
hours spent 

10,000 1841 3890 11538 17269 7269 

SV19 Compliance 
with MMW 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

SV20 Compliance 
with Ethical 
Procurement 
Policy 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 
  c) Looking ahead 

 
2.4.13 With the exception of SV10 (Higher Education research projects supported), 

the project is forecast to exceed the baseline project targets for Social Value. 
Work is underway to address this potential shortfall, with two new research 
programmes commencing January 2020. 

 
2.4.14 The project team is working on initiatives to challenge stereotypes about the 

industry and provide opportunities for Manchester residents of all 
backgrounds to develop their skills, experience and understanding of the 
construction sector. There is a system in place to monitor diversity in the 
workforce, working proactively with partners to ensure that the opportunities 
created are accessible to all communities. 

 
2.4.15 In summary, the good work already undertaken previously has been built 

upon with Lendlease, and there are solid foundations in place to continue to 
deliver great Social Value outcomes across the life of the project. At the point 
of NTP, all Social Value KPIs are forecasted to be achieved and the team is 
seeking opportunities to go further still. 

 
3.0    Documents Required prior to instructing NTP 
 
3.1 The Contract with the Management Contractor requires that before the 

Council issues the Notice to Proceed it has to satisfy itself that a number of 

Page 203

Item 12



key documents and dates have been agreed with the management 
contractor, including the Project Cost Plan, the Supplemental Particulars, 
Date of Completion, and the Preliminaries Cost Schedule. These documents 
are now agreed, and as such the project is ready to progress into the 
construction period.  

 
4.0  Construction Budget 

 
4.1 The original capital budget for the Town Hall project of £306.1m was 

approved by Executive on 8 February 2017 as part of the Council’s Capital 

Programme. Since that time the project has been through various stages of 

design, with the budget re-based at RIBA Stage 3 within an overall capital 

envelope of £305.2m.  The capital movement between the original budget at 

February 2017 and latest budget of £305.2m is made up of transfers from the 

capital budget to support costs which cannot be capitalised.  These include 

design team expenses, programme managements costs, communications 

and minor changes on planned preventive maintenance. 

 
4.2 At the point of NTP, the forecast capital cost projection is remains at 

£305.2m.  This allows for budgets set aside to address residual risk and 

which will incorporate the costs of inflation movements, changes in 

scope/design and general contingencies. 

 
4.3 The overall construction budget is £243.483m. This includes the value of the 

project cost plan and contract to be entered into with the Management 
Contractor, costs incurred prior to the appointment of the Management 
Contractor, and an allocation for other specific costs and contingencies. The 
key decision was published on 27 February 2020.   

 
5.0 Supplemental Particulars 

 
5.1 The Supplemental Particulars (SPs) include a Design Responsbility Matrix, 

lists of drawings, the Notice to Proceed Report and Contract Amendments to 
the standard management contract form.  

 
5.2 In addition, the SPs record the position reached between the Council and 

Lendlease in three specific areas of the Contract:  
 

 Project Cost Plan Total: See point 4.3 above. 
 

 Start and completion dates for The Town Hall and Albert Square and 
Public Realm: 

 
o 1 May 2019 – 22 December 2023; 

 

 The Management Contractor’s staff and management preliminaries 
submission (see Section 6 below); 

  
6.0 Preliminaries Cost Schedule 

Page 204

Item 12



 
6.1 Project preliminaries are defined as the cost of staff, general facilities and 

resources required to support the delivery of the Works. These can be 
procured as part of the management contractor's price or, if better value can 
be obtained by so doing, as part of individual works packages.   

 
6.2 The management contract requires that the Preliminaries Cost Schedule is 

agreed prior to instructing NTP. 
 

6.3 The allocation of preliminaries responsibilities between Lendlease and the 
Works Packages is detailed in the Preliminaries Matrix which was developed 
during the pre-construction period by the project team.  

 
6.4 This approach ensures that all preliminaries requirements are co-ordinated in 

the most efficient way, without duplication, and that where necessary 
responsibilities are backed off against Works Package contract documents. 

 
6.5 There are a number of large preliminaries Works Packages that will provide 

support to all trades across all phases of the project. This will improve 
coordination and efficiency, reducing standing time and disruption. These 
include Logistics, Internal Scaffolding, External Scaffolding, Project 
Accommodation, Temporary Electrics, Temporary Protection and Rubbish 
Removal, all of which have been procured, with the exception of Internal 
Scaffolding (which will be tendered during 2020 along with the Fit-Out Works 
Packages). This approach also avoids the profit-on-profit scenarios that 
might otherwise apply if preliminaries are procured across the 149 work 
packages.  

 
6.6 At the point of committing to NTP, 93% of the project preliminaries 

requirements have been tendered, all of which are lump sum prices and align 
with the Accepted Programme. The Lendlease element of the preliminaries 
benchmarks well against the wider construction marketplace. 

 
6.7 Within this, the lump sum price for the management contractor has been 

agreed during the pre-construction period using the staffing rates tendered by 
Lendlease, and based on the Accepted Programme.   

 
6.8 The Management Contractor's lump sum price will cover the following: 

● Management staff to discharge the Management Contractor’s 
obligations; 

● Management Contractor’s insurances; 
● Miscellaneous site office costs e.g. stationery and ICT equipment; 
● Miscellaneous site facilities e.g. first aid and fire extinguishers. 

 
6.9 All other elements will be procured within the Works Packages. 
 
7.0 Date for Completion 
 
7.1  Programme Overview  

Page 205

Item 12



 
7.1.1 The Master Programme presented by Lendlease to the Council for 

acceptance has been developed from the RIBA stage 4 design, which is 
complete with the exception of the internal restoration and fit out.  

 
7.1.2 Working with its supply chain, Lendlease has developed an optimum 

programme which protects the heritage and high significance assets and is 
founded on the principles of quality of workmanship and a right first-time 
approach. 

 
7.1.3 The date for the completion of the works is 22 December 2023. This is the 

date at which the Contractor passes responsibility for the completed works 
back to the Council. At this point, the Council will commence the occupation 
of the building, and the run-in to operational Go-Live.  

 
7.1.4 Included with the programme is a table of key milestones and client key 

dates. Chief amongst these are to Issue Notice to Proceed in early March 
2020, with the main works commencing on site later that month and a date 
for completion of December 2023. 

 
7.2    Approach to development of the Master Programme 
 
7.2.1 The Project Manager has reviewed the assumptions underpinning the 

programme and has identified a list of opportunities for potential 
improvement.   

 
7.2.2 Lendlease has relied upon the experience of fitting out the mock-up rooms, 

which were undertaken early to test assumptions made during the design 
period, and the input of the work package contractors that are key to 
development of the programme critical path, to develop their detailed 
programmes for inclusion into the accepted programme.   

 
7.2.3 The programme for packages that will be procured beyond NTP is based 

upon a combination of market-tested feedback and the benchmarking and 
experience of Lendlease as Management Contractor. Therefore, in the same 
way that cost surety is more fully developed for the NTP packages, 
programme surety is more developed for those packages already procured at 
NTP.  

 
7.2.4 It should be noted that until all residual packages are procured, the 

programme carries a degree of risk, and that further developing design, 
onsite discoveries and subsequent marketplace engagement and tendering 
may require that the Master Programme is updated periodically. The protocol 
for monitoring and reporting programme progress is described at section 8.0 
below. 

 
7.2.5 The programme is based on detailed coordination between the external 

façade repairs and restoration and the internal alterations, interventions and 
subsequent internal restoration and fit out. It can be summarised into four key 
elements of work: 

Page 206

Item 12



 

 Enabling and External repairs,  

 Major interventions/alterations, 

 Internal restoration, 

 Commissioning 
 

7.2.6 These key elements are phased over five zones and the general flow of work 
within the Town Hall commences with MEP plant and equipment and main 
distribution routes in the Lower Ground floor (plant rooms and associated 
spaces), before adopting a top down approach from level 7 to ground floor, 
and then working out of the building and safeguarding the significant heritage 
spaces. 

  
7.3 Opportunities 
 
7.3.1 Lendlease and the wider project team are committed to continue to seek 

opportunities to improve programme performance, particularly as the final 
elements of stage 4 design are released, and detailed scope is available to 
initiate more supply-chain engagement, challenge and validation. 
Opportunities to improve programme have been identified, including 
durations for stonework, leaded windows, heating, scoping of fabric and 
finishes repairs, and the elevated link bridges to THX.   

 
7.3.2 At this stage the project has received Planning/Listed Building Consent and 

viewed the pre-development conditions; and whilst a number of proposed 
amendments to condition wording were taken on board by the Council’s 
Planning Service, there remain some conditions that were not amended and 
these will be reviewed to determine whether there is a need to make a formal 
application to amend or apply for an immediate condition discharge.  Work is 
ongoing to discharge specific pre-commencement conditions.   

 
7.4 Soft Landings  
 
7.4.1 A Soft Landings approach is being followed on the OTH project in line with 

BSRIA BG 54/2014 ‘Soft Landings Framework,’ which was developed as a 
protocol that will ensure that the building is operationally ready from day one 
of occupation, with a minimum of defects requiring rectification beyond the 
date for occupation. 

 
7.4.2 Soft landings is a collaborative process and has been developed in 

conjunction with the Council’s Building Operations Team to ensure that the 
commissioning and handover sequence reflects the lessons learnt from the 
THX and other projects.  

 
7.4.3 The programme has dedicated periods for cause and effect testing and 

operational testing of individual systems and areas of the building to ensure a 
smooth and structured hand-over. Support will be available from the supply 
chain in building familiarisation and training of the operational and FM staff of 
the building beyond the Date for Completion.  

 

Page 207

Item 12



8.0 Project Management Plan 
 
8.1 Forward Look 
 
8.1.1 The forward look comprises two elements: project controls and roles and 

responsibilities. 
 
8.2 Project Controls 

 
8.2.1 At the point at which there is a commitment to construction, a level of 

confidence in the outturn cost and programme which has been secured, 
based upon the procurement of the most critical packages, and a risk-
assessed approach to the development of the contingency plan.  

 
8.2.2 This section will describe the controls that will be implemented during the 

construction period in managing design, cost, risk, and programme. These 
controls are set out within the Management Contract Specification, and 
describe the rules of engagement for the project. 

 
8.2.3 Design: the Design Management Plan will remain live until all packages are 

procured and all costs secured. The DMP captures all gaps, errors and 
coordination issues and tracks them through to resolution, aligned with the 
procurement programme. Stage 4 design is scheduled to conclude with the 
final release of the fit out cluster packages by 13 March 2020. Progress will 
be routinely reported at Project Board and Strategic Board. 

 
8.2.4 Cost: moving into construction, the Quantity Surveyor will continue to control 

cost and reporting, working closely with the Management Contractor, who in 
turn will be responsible for the procurement and placement of works 
packages. The Executive Procurement Group (attended by the Project 
Director and the Council’s Head of Procurement) will continue to sign off on 
package procurement, reporting on progress to Project Board.  Monthly 
commercial meetings will be chaired by the Quantity Surveyor throughout the 
construction phase to review overall cost, budgetary issues and valuations, 
and will include the MCC Finance Lead. 

 
8.2.5 Project Change Control protocols have been updated to align with the 

contract administration provisions of the Contract. 
 
8.2.6 Risk: Contingency allowances are set aside for the construction work 

packages. In addition, the project risk register will continue to be used to 
manage risk through to project completion. The Management Contractor 
Specification requires routine monthly risk review meetings, in addition to risk 
reduction meetings which will be arranged in response to early warnings 
raised during the works.  

 
8.2.7 Programme: the Management Contractor will provide confirmation on at 

least a monthly basis as to whether there have been revisions to the 
Accepted Programme, and report to the Project Manager reflecting all 
revisions in accordance with the project reporting dates, or whenever a 

Page 208

Item 12



change instruction is accepted, or whenever any of the key milestones are at 
risk of not being achieved. Where key milestones are at risk, the 
Management Contractor is required to submit proposals to mitigate delay.  

 
8.2.8 During the construction period, the TAV Panel is available to provide 

technical assurance and independent challenge to the project team in the 
event that this is deemed necessary. This may be at key milestone events, or 
if necessary in the event of unforeseen events that require a significant 
change to the project plan.  

 
8.2.9 Governance: the project has a financial governance structure within the 

delegated authorities agreed for use of the project contingency funding 
during construction. The Contract Administrator has approval of a one-off 
limit of £5k and Project Director of £25k with a cumulative of £100k per 
quarter through the construction phase. These limits and use of contingency 
will be robustly monitored on an on-going basis, and additional approvals will 
be sought as required in line with the approval levels.  

 
8.2.10 Provided that packages come back within the agreed contingency level set 

out in the contingency plan, approval to order for these packages can be 
made within the delegated authorities agreed. Should the package cost post 
tender fall outside the level allowed in the Contingency Plan, then approvals 
will be sought in line with the project governance structure and delegated 
authority levels.  

 
8.2.11 The use of contingency funding will be reported through the OTH Project 

Board and Strategic Board so there is clear visibility on the use of 
contingency though out construction, along with the on-going financial 
monitoring of the project. 

 
8.3  Roles and Responsibilities – an Overview 
 
8.3.1 As the project moves from the pre-construction into the construction period, 

the focus for the project will shift to the management of construction works 
across circa 149 packages of work, with as many as 560 staff and 
contractors on site at the peak of the works. 

 
8.3.2 This will represent a significant upscaling, and a change to the dynamics of 

the team and to the role undertaken by each of the key project participants.  
 
8.3.3 Whereas to date, the drivers for the Council's project management staff have 

been primarily focused on design outcomes and consents, during the 
construction stage the key driver of performance across the project will be 
the management of the relationships between the Management Contractor 
and its supply chain. The number of interfaces between Works Packages and 
the risk of Discovery on site will require an agile and responsive team that is 
resourced and empowered to react to unforeseen circumstances in a way 
that avoids unnecessary delay and costs. 

 

Page 209

Item 12



8.3.4 Project contingencies exist for unforeseen and discovery risk during 
construction, and for fees which may be necessary to deal with the 
subsequent response. This will mitigate against the delays that would 
otherwise be incurred and instructions will be managed within the project’s 
Scheme of Delegation for approvals.  

 
8.3.5 The role of the consultant team will shift from design to supervision and 

certification of the quality of the works, and each member of the consultant 
team that has supervision duties will provide a dedicated resource to work 
with the Management Contractor to ensure high quality construction 
standards are achieved throughout. A critical area of responsibility for the 
consultant team will be the monitoring of the discharge of Planning 
Conditions and validation that the Works are being conducted appropriately 
and in accordance with all Planning and Listed Building Consents.  

 
8.3.6 The Management Contractor will have a total project staff of 78, of which 50 

are dedicated to the management of the supply chain, inducting Works 
Package Contractors into the project, managing the numerous interfaces 
between adjacent Works Package work-faces, and administering the terms of 
the individual works package contracts. As part of the run-in to NTP, 
Lendlease has progressively introduced to the project the construction 
management staff that will be integral to these activities, each of whom has 
been allocated responsibility for their own specific works packages and work-
streams.  

 
8.3.7 Operating above the construction management team are a number of project 

management staff, charged with management of the interfaces between 
these work-streams.  

 
8.3.8 The size of the challenge in managing the interfaces between so many 

packages should not be underestimated, and whilst Lendlease has satisfied 
itself that it has in place the right staffing resource, it is acknowledged that a 
project of this complexity with so many interfaces is exceptional. 

 
8.3.9 The Management Contract specification requires that the management 

contractor establishes and chairs quarterly interface meetings and workshops 
with, and between, the works contractors and, where appropriate, other 
members of the project team to review project performance and identify 
opportunities for improvement. This is the opportunity for the Council and 
consultants to monitor the performance of the team and address issues 
where necessary. 

 
9.0 Conclusion  
 
9.1 The management contracting procurement route has been adopted by the 

Council for this project and in acknowledgement of the complexity inherent in 
a project of this nature within a Grade 1 listed building and working with a 
specialist heritage supply chain. It was always intended, and indeed is one of 
the key points of the contract with Lendlease, that the Council would procure 
works packages progressively, and would commit to construction at the point 

Page 210

Item 12



at which an optimum balance between cost surety and programme duration 
had been achieved. 

 
9.2 Working with Lendlease as the Council’s construction partner, there is a 

cohesive team that is working collaboratively on all fronts, which puts the 
Council in a good place to move into the construction stage of the project.  

 
9.3 This Report concludes that on the basis of the Tranche 1 packages procured 

to date (60% by value), and the level of design readiness to procure the 
balancing Tranche 2 (remaining 40%) packages, the project is suitably 
advanced for the Council to Commit to Construct, noting the arrangements 
that are in place to manage the risk of cost and programme overrun in the 
Tranche 2 packages. 

 
9.4 A Notice to Proceed will be issued to Lendlease to enable the start on site of 

the main construction works. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 211

Item 12



Glossary of Terms 
 

Accepted programme: The master project programme prepared by the 

Management Contractor and approved by the Contract 

Administrator, to include all significant activities set out 

in the Management Contractor Specification. 

BSRIA: Building Services 

Research and Information 

Association 

Not-for-profit member based testing, instrumentation 

and research association. 

Management Contractor 

Specification: 

Appendix to the Management Contract which sets out 

the Council’s requirements regarding the role of the 

Management Contractor. 

Notice to Proceed:  A date in the Management Contract at which the Council 

instructs the Management Contractor to proceed from 

pre-construction services into the construction stage of 

the Works 

Ready for Construction: The point at which the Management Contractor certifies 

that it is satisfied that the Project Information and design 

information is properly co-ordinated across and between 

disciplines and works packages. 

TAV Panel: Technical 

Assurance and Validation 

Specialist advisors selected and retained by the Council 

independent of the project team, to provide independent 

challenge. 

Tender Event Schedule: Schedule indicating all procurement activities and 

durations for all works packages from pre-qualification 

through to start on site. 

 

Page 212

Item 12



Document is Restricted

Page 213

Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25
	Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-25
	Manchester Climate Change Framework Appendix 2 - MCCP Action Plans Summary

	5 Manchester City Council Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25
	The Council's Climate Change Action Plan 2020-25 and Appendices

	6 Planning and Climate Change
	7 Re-designation of Northenden Neighbourhood Forum
	10 The Strategy to further improve Children Social Care Services
	11 Capital Programme Update
	12 Our Town Hall Project - Decision on the Notice to Proceed
	15 Proposed Disposal of 16 - 18 Bennett Road, Crumpsall

